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Company Summary
Company name:
Figure Technologies, Inc.
Address(es) of principal executive office and of its principal place of business:

650 California Street, Suite 2700
San Francisco, CA 94108
State of incorporation:
Delaware
The title, class, and ticker symbol (if assigned) of the security:
Common Stock (“Figure stock”)
Par or stated value of the security:
$.00001
Number of shares or total amount of the securities outstanding as of the end of the most
recent fiscal year:
134,034,248 shares
Name and address of the transfer agent:
Figure Equity Solutions
650 California Street, Suite 2700
San Francisco, CA 94108
Description of the issuer's business:
Founded in 2018, Figure Technologies, Inc. (“FTI”) is a financial services and technology
company that leverages blockchain technology to reduce costs and increase efficiency
for various financial use cases. FTI’s blockchain-based products are described below.
Description of products or services offered by FTI:
FTI has developed multiple financial services products, each of which leverage the
Provenance Blockchain platform, a proof-of-stake blockchain. These products include
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digital loan origination and servicing software, banking and payments solutions, cap
table management, digital asset transactions (including digital asset securities
transactions on the Figure ATS), and digital funds services.
Subsidiaries of FTI include:
●

●

●

Figure Lending LLC, which leverages the Provenance Blockchain platform and
FTI’s loan origination and servicing software to originate, service, finance, sell
and securitize loans;
Figure Securities, Inc. an SEC-registered broker-dealer and the operator of the
Figure ATS, an SEC-registered alternative trading system, which facilitates the
trading of digital asset securities; and
Figure Payments Corporation, which develops and operates a payments network
based on the Provenance Blockchain.

Description and extent of FTI’s facilities:
Figure Technologies, Inc. operates throughout the United States and has principal offices
in San Francisco, Reno, Charlotte, Bozeman, Helena, Salt Lake City and New York. As
the developer of blockchain-based financial services products, its facilities consist
primarily of office space.
Name and title of all company insiders:
Individual Name

Title

Micky Malka

Board member

Adam Boyden

Board member

David Chao

Board member

Sachin Jaitly

Board member

Stan Mironshik

Board observer

Michael Cagney

CEO

June Ou

COO

Asiff Hirji

President

Ashley Harris

General Counsel

Sean Sievers

CFO

Matt Conroy

CTO
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Dan Wallace

General Manager

Tony Morosini

General Manager

TJ Milani

General Manager

FTI’s most recent balance sheet (as of a date less than 16 months before the publication
or submission of the quotation) and profit and loss and retained earnings statements (for
the 12 months preceding the date of the most recent balance sheet):
The document, entitled “Figure Technologies, Inc. -- Disclosure Information” attached
hereto as Appendix A, contains financial statements as part of Exhibit A to that
document, including FTI’s audited financial statements for its fiscal year ended
December 31, 2019 and for its fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 and preliminary
and unaudited financial statements for the period ended September 30, 2021.”
Similar financial information for such part of the two preceding fiscal years as the issuer
or its predecessors has been in existence:
The document, entitled “Figure Technologies, Inc. -- Disclosure Information” attached
hereto as Appendix A, contains financial statements as part of Exhibit A to that
document, including FTI’s audited financial statements for its fiscal year ended
December 31, 2019 and for its fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 and preliminary
and unaudited financial statements for the period ended September 30, 2021.”
Whether a broker or dealer that is publishing quotes in Figure stock or any associated
person of the broker or dealer is affiliated, directly or indirectly, with FTI:
Figure stock will be traded on the Figure ATS. The Figure ATS is an SEC-registered
alternative trading system that is operated by Figure Securities, Inc., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Figure Technologies, Inc. As a wholly-owned subsidiary of Figure
Technologies, Inc., associated persons of Figure Securities, Inc. are affiliated with Figure
Technologies, Inc.
Whether a quotation in Figure stock is being published or submitted on behalf of any
other broker or dealer and, if so, the name of such broker or dealer:
No. Customers shall submit quotations in Figure stock to the Figure ATS directly, not
through another broker-dealer.
Whether a quotation in Figure stock is being submitted or published, directly or
indirectly, by or on behalf of FTI or an FTI company insider and, if so, the name of such
person and the basis for any exemption under the federal securities laws for any sales of
such securities on behalf of such person.
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The insiders of Figure Technologies, Inc., as listed above, may submit quotations in
Figure stock to the Figure ATS. Since Figure stock is a restricted equity security as
defined in SEC rules, those securities are being sold in the private secondary market on
the Figure ATS pursuant to the Section 4(a)(1)(½) resale exemption under the Securities
Act of 1933.
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APPENDIX A
Figure Technologies, Inc. -- Disclosure Information
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HIGHLY CONFIDENTIAL
DO NOT DISCLOSE OR DISSEMINATE
FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
DISCLOSURE INFORMATION

The purpose of this document is to provide you with information about Figure Technologies, Inc. (“Figure”
or the “Company”) and your equity awards granted under Figure’s 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended
(the “Plan”). The disclosure in the Exhibits attached hereto are being provided to you in compliance with
U.S. federal securities laws, and we hope that such disclosure will help you make an informed decision
about whether to invest in Figure’s securities.
The following items are attached as Exhibits to this document:
1.

Exhibit A: 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

2.

Exhibit B: A summary of the material terms of the Plan, presented in a question
and answer format.

3.

Exhibit C: Information about the risks associated with investing in the Company’s
securities.

4.

Exhibit D: Financial statements.

You must decide for yourself whether to invest in Figure’s securities. Figure makes no recommendation
as to whether you should invest in the securities. Figure encourages you to consult with your legal counsel,
accountant and/or financial and tax adviser before making any investment decision.
IMPORTANT NOTICE – PLEASE READ
THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE EXHIBITS TO THIS DOCUMENT CONSTITUTES
HIGHLY CONFIDENTIAL, MATERIAL NON-PUBLIC INFORMATION AND MAY NOT BE
DISCLOSED OR DISSEMINATED BY YOU TO ANY PERSON. DISCLOSURE OR
DISSEMINATION OF ANY OF THE INFORMATION CONSTITUTES A VIOLATION OF
YOUR EMPLOYEE INVENTION ASSIGNMENT AND CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT
WITH THE COMPANY, AND OTHER CONFIDENTIALITY OBLIGATIONS TO THE
COMPANY, AND COULD RESULT IN ADVERSE EMPLOYMENT ACTION, INCLUDING BUT
NOT LIMITED TO TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT AND LEGAL ACTION.
If you have any questions about your equity awards or the information contained in the Exhibits to this
document, please contact Ashley Harris, the Company’s General Counsel, at aharris@figure.com.

Exhibit A
FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
2018 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

(Amended and Restated as of May 23, 2018)
(Amended February 21, 2019)
(Amended April 30, 2019)
1.

Purposes of the Plan. The purposes of this Plan are:
•

to attract and retain the best available personnel for positions of substantial
responsibility,

•

to provide additional incentive to Employees, Directors and Consultants, and

•

to promote the success of the Company’s business.

The Plan permits the grant of Incentive Stock Options, Nonstatutory Stock Options, Stock
Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units.
2.

Definitions. As used herein, the following definitions will apply:

(a)
“Administrator” means the Board or any of its Committees as will be administering
the Plan, in accordance with Section 4 of the Plan.
(b)
“Applicable Laws” means the legal and regulatory requirements relating to the
administration of equity-based awards, including but not limited to the related issuance of shares of Common
Stock, including but not limited to, under U.S. federal and state corporate laws, U.S. federal and state securities
laws, the Code, any stock exchange or quotation system on which the Common Stock is listed or quoted and
the applicable laws of any foreign country or jurisdiction where Awards are, or will be, granted under the Plan.
(c)
“Award” means, individually or collectively, a grant under the Plan of Options, Stock
Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, or Restricted Stock Units.
(d)
“Award Agreement” means the written or electronic agreement setting forth the terms
and provisions applicable to each Award granted under the Plan. The Award Agreement is subject to the terms
and conditions of the Plan.
(e)

“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

(f)

“Change in Control” means the occurrence of any of the following events:

(i)
Change in Ownership of the Company. A change in the ownership of the
Company which occurs on the date that any one person, or more than one person acting as a group (“Person”),
acquires ownership of the stock of the Company that, together with the stock held by such Person, constitutes
more than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power of the stock of the Company; provided, however, that
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for purposes of this subsection, the acquisition of additional stock by any one Person, who is considered to own
more than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power of the stock of the Company will not be considered a
Change in Control; provided, further, that any change in the ownership of the stock of the Company as a result
of a private financing of the Company that is approved by the Board also will not be considered a Change in
Control. Further, if the stockholders of the Company immediately before such change in ownership continue
to retain immediately after the change in ownership, in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of
shares of the Company’s voting stock immediately prior to the change in ownership, direct or indirect beneficial
ownership of fifty percent (50%) or more of the total voting power of the stock of the Company or of the
ultimate parent entity of the Company, such event shall not be considered a Change in Control under this
subsection (i). For this purpose, indirect beneficial ownership shall include, without limitation, an interest
resulting from ownership of the voting securities of one or more corporations or other business entities which
own the Company, as the case may be, either directly or through one or more subsidiary corporations or other
business entities; or
(ii)
Change in Effective Control of the Company. If the Company has a class of
securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act, a change in the effective control of the
Company which occurs on the date that a majority of members of the Board is replaced during any twelve (12)
month period by Directors whose appointment or election is not endorsed by a majority of the members of the
Board prior to the date of the appointment or election. For purposes of this subsection (ii), if any Person is
considered to be in effective control of the Company, the acquisition of additional control of the Company by
the same Person will not be considered a Change in Control; or
(iii)
Change in Ownership of a Substantial Portion of the Company’s Assets. A
change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the Company’s assets which occurs on the date that any
Person acquires (or has acquired during the twelve (12) month period ending on the date of the most recent
acquisition by such person or persons) assets from the Company that have a total gross fair market value equal
to or more than fifty percent (50%) of the total gross fair market value of all of the assets of the Company
immediately prior to such acquisition or acquisitions; provided, however, that for purposes of this subsection
(iii), the following will not constitute a change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the Company’s
assets: (A) a transfer to an entity that is controlled by the Company’s stockholders immediately after the
transfer, or (B) a transfer of assets by the Company to: (1) a stockholder of the Company (immediately before
the asset transfer) in exchange for or with respect to the Company’s stock, (2) an entity, fifty percent (50%) or
more of the total value or voting power of which is owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company, (3) a Person,
that owns, directly or indirectly, fifty percent (50%) or more of the total value or voting power of all the
outstanding stock of the Company, or (4) an entity, at least fifty percent (50%) of the total value or voting power
of which is owned, directly or indirectly, by a Person described in this subsection (iii)(B)(3). For purposes of
this subsection (iii), gross fair market value means the value of the assets of the Company, or the value of the
assets being disposed of, determined without regard to any liabilities associated with such assets.
For purposes of this Section 2(f), persons will be considered to be acting as a group if
they are owners of a corporation that enters into a merger, consolidation, purchase or acquisition of stock, or
similar business transaction with the Company.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a transaction will not be deemed a Change in Control
unless the transaction qualifies as a change in control event within the meaning of Code Section 409A, as it has
been and may be amended from time to time, and any proposed or final Treasury Regulations and Internal
Revenue Service guidance that has been promulgated or may be promulgated thereunder from time to time.
Further and for the avoidance of doubt, a transaction will not constitute a Change in
Control if: (i) its sole purpose is to change the jurisdiction of the Company’s incorporation, or (ii) its sole
purpose is to create a holding company that will be owned in substantially the same proportions by the persons
who held the Company’s securities immediately before such transaction.
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(g)
“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Reference to a specific
section of the Code or regulation thereunder shall include such section or regulation, any valid regulation
promulgated under such section, and any comparable provision of any future legislation or regulation amending,
supplementing or superseding such section or regulation.
(h)
“Committee” means a committee of Directors or of other individuals satisfying
Applicable Laws appointed by the Board, or by a duly authorized committee of the Board, in accordance with
Section 4 hereof.
(i)
(j)
successor thereto.

“Common Stock” means the Common Stock of the Company.
“Company” means Figure Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation, or any

(k)
“Consultant” means any natural person, including an advisor, engaged by the Company
or a Parent or Subsidiary to render bona fide services to such entity, provided the services (i) are not in
connection with the offer or sale of securities in a capital-raising transaction, and (ii) do not directly promote
or maintain a market for the Company’s securities, in each case, within the meaning of Form S-8 promulgated
under the Securities Act, and provided further, that a Consultant will include only those persons to whom the
issuance of Shares may be registered under Form S-8 promulgated under the Securities Act.
(l)

“Director” means a member of the Board.

(m)
“Disability” means total and permanent disability as defined in Code Section 22(e)(3),
provided that in the case of Awards other than Incentive Stock Options, the Administrator in its discretion may
determine whether a permanent and total disability exists in accordance with uniform and non-discriminatory
standards adopted by the Administrator from time to time.
(n)
“Employee” means any person, including officers and Directors, employed by the
Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company. Neither service as a Director nor payment of a director’s
fee by the Company will be sufficient to constitute “employment” by the Company.
(o)

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

(p)
“Exchange Program” means a program under which (i) outstanding Awards are
surrendered or cancelled in exchange for awards of the same type (which may have higher or lower exercise
prices and different terms), awards of a different type, and/or cash, (ii) Participants would have the opportunity
to transfer any outstanding Awards to a financial institution or other person or entity selected by the
Administrator, and/or (iii) the exercise price of an outstanding Award is reduced or increased. The
Administrator will determine the terms and conditions of any Exchange Program in its sole discretion.
(q)

“Fair Market Value” means, as of any date, the value of Common Stock determined as

follows:
(i)
If the Common Stock is listed on any established stock exchange or a national
market system, including without limitation the Nasdaq Global Select Market, the Nasdaq Global Market or the
Nasdaq Capital Market of The Nasdaq Stock Market, its Fair Market Value will be the closing sales price for
such stock (or, if no closing sales price was reported on that date, as applicable, on the last trading date such
closing sales price was reported) as quoted on such exchange or system on the day of determination, as reported
in The Wall Street Journal or such other source as the Administrator deems reliable;
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(ii)
If the Common Stock is regularly quoted by a recognized securities dealer but
selling prices are not reported, the Fair Market Value of a Share will be the mean between the high bid and low
asked prices for the Common Stock on the day of determination (or, if no bids and asks were reported on that
date, as applicable, on the last trading date such bids and asks were reported), as reported in The Wall Street
Journal or such other source as the Administrator deems reliable; or
(iii)
In the absence of an established market for the Common Stock, the Fair Market
Value will be determined in good faith by the Administrator.
(r)
“Incentive Stock Option” means an Option that by its terms qualifies and is otherwise
intended to qualify as an incentive stock option within the meaning of Code Section 422 and the regulations
promulgated thereunder.
(s)
“Nonstatutory Stock Option” means an Option that by its terms does not qualify or is
not intended to qualify as an Incentive Stock Option.
(t)

“Option” means a stock option granted pursuant to the Plan.

(u)
“Parent” means a “parent corporation,” whether now or hereafter existing, as defined
in Code Section 424(e).
(v)

“Participant” means the holder of an outstanding Award.

(w)
“Period of Restriction” means the period during which the transfer of Shares of
Restricted Stock are subject to restrictions and therefore, the Shares are subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture.
Such restrictions may be based on the passage of time, the achievement of target levels of performance, or the
occurrence of other events as determined by the Administrator.
(x)

“Plan” means this 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

(y)
“Restricted Stock” means Shares issued pursuant to an Award of Restricted Stock
under Section 8 of the Plan, or issued pursuant to the early exercise of an Option.
(z)
“Restricted Stock Unit” means a bookkeeping entry representing an amount equal to
the Fair Market Value of one Share, granted pursuant to Section 9. Each Restricted Stock Unit represents an
unfunded and unsecured obligation of the Company.
(aa)

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

(bb)

“Service Provider” means an Employee, Director or Consultant.

(cc)

“Share” means a share of the Common Stock, as adjusted in accordance with Section

13 of the Plan.
(dd)
“Stock Appreciation Right” means an Award, granted alone or in connection with an
Option, that pursuant to Section 7 is designated as a Stock Appreciation Right.
(ee)
“Subsidiary” means a “subsidiary corporation,” whether now or hereafter existing, as
defined in Code Section 424(f).
3.

Stock Subject to the Plan.
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(a)
Stock Subject to the Plan. Subject to the provisions of Section 13 of the Plan, the
maximum aggregate number of Shares that may be subject to Awards and sold under the Plan is REDACTED
Shares. The Shares may be authorized but unissued, or reacquired Common Stock.
(b)
Lapsed Awards. If an Award expires or becomes unexercisable without having been
exercised in full, is surrendered pursuant to an Exchange Program, or, with respect to Restricted Stock or
Restricted Stock Units, is forfeited to or repurchased by the Company due to the failure to vest, the unpurchased
Shares (or for Awards other than Options or Stock Appreciation Rights the forfeited or repurchased Shares)
which were subject thereto will become available for future grant or sale under the Plan (unless the Plan has
terminated). With respect to Stock Appreciation Rights, only Shares actually issued pursuant to a Stock
Appreciation Right will cease to be available under the Plan; all remaining Shares under Stock Appreciation
Rights will remain available for future grant or sale under the Plan (unless the Plan has terminated). Shares that
have actually been issued under the Plan under any Award will not be returned to the Plan and will not become
available for future distribution under the Plan; provided, however, that if Shares issued pursuant to Awards of
Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units are repurchased by the Company or are forfeited to the Company
due to the failure to vest, such Shares will become available for future grant under the Plan. Shares used to pay
the exercise price of an Award or to satisfy the tax withholdings related to an Award will become available for
future grant or sale under the Plan. To the extent an Award under the Plan is paid out in cash rather than Shares,
such cash payment will not result in reducing the number of Shares available for issuance under the Plan.
Notwithstanding the foregoing and, subject to adjustment as provided in Section 13, the maximum number of
Shares that may be issued upon the exercise of Incentive Stock Options will equal the aggregate Share number
stated in Section 3(a), plus, to the extent allowable under Code Section 422 and the Treasury Regulations
promulgated thereunder, any Shares that become available for issuance under the Plan pursuant to Section 3(b).
(c)
Share Reserve. The Company, during the term of this Plan, will at all times reserve
and keep available such number of Shares as will be sufficient to satisfy the requirements of the Plan.
4. Administration of the Plan.
(a)

Procedure.

(i)
Multiple Administrative Bodies.
different groups of Service Providers may administer the Plan.

Different Committees with respect to

(ii)
Other Administration. Other than as provided above, the Plan will be
administered by (A) the Board or (B) a Committee, which Committee will be constituted to satisfy Applicable
Laws.
(b)
Powers of the Administrator. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, and in the case of
a Committee, subject to the specific duties delegated by the Board to such Committee, the Administrator will
have the authority, in its discretion:
(i)

to determine the Fair Market Value;

(ii)

to select the Service Providers to whom Awards may be granted hereunder;

(iii)

to determine the number of Shares to be covered by each Award granted

(iv)

to approve forms of Award Agreements for use under the Plan;

hereunder;
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(v)
to determine the terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the terms of the
Plan, of any Award granted hereunder. Such terms and conditions include, but are not limited to, the exercise
price, the time or times when Awards may be exercised (which may be based on performance criteria), any
vesting acceleration or waiver of forfeiture restrictions, and any restriction or limitation regarding any Award
or the Shares relating thereto, based in each case on such factors as the Administrator will determine;
(vi)

to institute and determine the terms and conditions of an Exchange Program;

(vii)

to construe and interpret the terms of the Plan and Awards granted pursuant to

the Plan;
(viii)
to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to the Plan,
including rules and regulations relating to sub-plans established for the purpose of satisfying applicable foreign
laws or for qualifying for favorable tax treatment under applicable foreign laws;
(ix)
to modify or amend each Award (subject to Section 18(c) of the Plan),
including but not limited to the discretionary authority to extend the post-termination exercisability period of
Awards; provided, however, that in no case will an Option or Stock Appreciation Right be extended beyond its
original maximum term;
(x)

to allow Participants to satisfy withholding tax obligations in a manner

prescribed in Section 14;
(xi)
to authorize any person to execute on behalf of the Company any instrument
required to effect the grant of an Award previously granted by the Administrator;
(xii)
to temporarily suspend the exercisability of an Award if the Administrator
deems such suspension to be necessary or appropriate for administrative purposes;
(xiii)
to allow a Participant to defer the receipt of the payment of cash or the delivery
of Shares that otherwise would be due to such Participant under an Award; and
(xiv)

to make all other determinations deemed necessary or advisable for

administering the Plan.
(c)
Effect of Administrator’s Decision. The Administrator’s decisions, determinations
and interpretations will be final and binding on all Participants and any other holders of Awards and will be
given the maximum deference permitted by Applicable Laws.
5.
Eligibility. Nonstatutory Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, and
Restricted Stock Units may be granted to Service Providers. Incentive Stock Options may be granted only to
Employees.
6.

Stock Options.

(a)
Grant of Options. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, the Administrator,
at any time and from time to time, may grant Options in such amounts as the Administrator, in its sole discretion,
will determine.
(b)
Option Agreement. Each Award of an Option will be evidenced by an Award
Agreement that will specify the exercise price, the term of the Option, the number of Shares subject to the
Option, the exercise restrictions, if any, applicable to the Option, and such other terms and conditions as the
Administrator, in its sole discretion, will determine.
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(c)
Limitations. Each Option will be designated in the Award Agreement as either an
Incentive Stock Option or a Nonstatutory Stock Option. Notwithstanding such designation, however, to the
extent that the aggregate Fair Market Value of the Shares with respect to which Incentive Stock Options are
exercisable for the first time by the Participant during any calendar year (under all plans of the Company and
any Parent or Subsidiary) exceeds one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000), such Options will be treated as
Nonstatutory Stock Options. For purposes of this Section 6(c), Incentive Stock Options will be taken into
account in the order in which they were granted, the Fair Market Value of the Shares will be determined as of
the time the Option with respect to such Shares is granted, and calculation will be performed in accordance with
Code Section 422 and Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder.
(d)
Term of Option. The term of each Option will be stated in the Award Agreement;
provided, however, that the term will be no more than ten (10) years from the date of grant thereof. In the case
of an Incentive Stock Option granted to a Participant who, at the time the Incentive Stock Option is granted,
owns stock representing more than ten percent (10%) of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock
of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary, the term of the Incentive Stock Option will be five (5) years from
the date of grant or such shorter term as may be provided in the Award Agreement.
(e)

Option Exercise Price and Consideration.

(i)
Exercise Price. The per Share exercise price for the Shares to be issued
pursuant to the exercise of an Option will be determined by the Administrator, but will be no less than one
hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant. In addition, in the case of an
Incentive Stock Option granted to an Employee who owns stock representing more than ten percent (10%) of
the voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary, the per Share exercise
price will be no less than one hundred ten percent (110%) of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of
grant. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 6(e)(i), Options may be granted with a per
Share exercise price of less than one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of
grant pursuant to a transaction described in, and in a manner consistent with, Code Section 424(a).
(ii)
Waiting Period and Exercise Dates. At the time an Option is granted, the
Administrator will fix the period within which the Option may be exercised and will determine any conditions
that must be satisfied before the Option may be exercised.
(iii)
Form of Consideration. The Administrator will determine the acceptable form
of consideration for exercising an Option, including the method of payment. In the case of an Incentive Stock
Option, the Administrator will determine the acceptable form of consideration at the time of grant. Such
consideration may consist entirely of: (1) cash; (2) check; (3) promissory note, to the extent permitted by
Applicable Laws, (4) other Shares, provided that such Shares have a Fair Market Value on the date of surrender
equal to the aggregate exercise price of the Shares as to which such Option will be exercised and provided
further that accepting such Shares will not result in any adverse accounting consequences to the Company, as
the Administrator determines in its sole discretion; (5) consideration received by the Company under cashless
exercise program (whether through a broker or otherwise) implemented by the Company in connection with the
Plan; (6) by net exercise; (7) such other consideration and method of payment for the issuance of Shares to the
extent permitted by Applicable Laws, or (8) any combination of the foregoing methods of payment. In making
its determination as to the type of consideration to accept, the Administrator will consider if acceptance of such
consideration may be reasonably expected to benefit the Company.
(f)

Exercise of Option.

(i)
Procedure for Exercise; Rights as a Stockholder. Any Option granted
hereunder will be exercisable according to the terms of the Plan and at such times and under such conditions as
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determined by the Administrator and set forth in the Award Agreement. An Option may not be exercised for a
fraction of a Share.
An Option will be deemed exercised when the Company receives: (i) notice of
exercise (in such form as the Administrator may specify from time to time) from the person entitled to exercise
the Option, and (ii) full payment for the Shares with respect to which the Option is exercised (together with
applicable tax withholding). Full payment may consist of any consideration and method of payment authorized
by the Administrator and permitted by the Award Agreement and the Plan. Shares issued upon exercise of an
Option will be issued in the name of the Participant or, if requested by the Participant, in the name of the
Participant and his or her spouse. Until the Shares are issued (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the
books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company), no right to vote or receive
dividends or any other rights as a stockholder will exist with respect to the Shares subject to an Option,
notwithstanding the exercise of the Option. The Company will issue (or cause to be issued) such Shares
promptly after the Option is exercised. No adjustment will be made for a dividend or other right for which the
record date is prior to the date the Shares are issued, except as provided in Section 13 of the Plan.
Exercising an Option in any manner will decrease the number of Shares
thereafter available, both for purposes of the Plan and for sale under the Option, by the number of Shares as to
which the Option is exercised.
(ii)
Termination of Relationship as a Service Provider. If a Participant ceases to
be a Service Provider, other than upon the Participant’s termination as the result of the Participant’s death or
Disability, the Participant may exercise his or her Option within ninety (90) days of termination, or such longer
period of time as is specified in the Award Agreement (but in no event later than the expiration of the term of
such Option as set forth in the Award Agreement) to the extent that the Option is vested on the date of
termination. Unless otherwise provided by the Administrator, if on the date of termination the Participant is
not vested as to his or her entire Option, the Shares covered by the unvested portion of the Option will revert to
the Plan. If after termination the Participant does not exercise his or her Option within the time specified by
the Administrator, the Option will terminate, and the Shares covered by such Option will revert to the Plan.
(iii)
Disability of Participant. If a Participant ceases to be a Service Provider as a
result of the Participant’s Disability, the Participant may exercise his or her Option within six (6) months of
termination, or such longer period of time as is specified in the Award Agreement (but in no event later than
the expiration of the term of such Option as set forth in the Award Agreement) to the extent the Option is vested
on the date of termination. Unless otherwise provided by the Administrator, if on the date of termination the
Participant is not vested as to his or her entire Option, the Shares covered by the unvested portion of the Option
will revert to the Plan. If after termination the Participant does not exercise his or her Option within the time
specified herein, the Option will terminate, and the Shares covered by such Option will revert to the Plan.
(iv)
Death of Participant. If a Participant dies while a Service Provider, the Option
may be exercised within six (6) months following the Participant’s death, or within such longer period of time
as is specified in the Award Agreement (but in no event later than the expiration of the term of such Option as
set forth in the Award Agreement) to the extent that the Option is vested on the date of death, by the Participant’s
designated beneficiary, provided such beneficiary has been designated prior to the Participant’s death in a form
acceptable to the Administrator. If no such beneficiary has been designated by the Participant, then such Option
may be exercised by the personal representative of the Participant’s estate or by the person(s) to whom the
Option is transferred pursuant to the Participant’s will or in accordance with the laws of descent and distribution.
Unless otherwise provided by the Administrator, if at the time of death Participant is not vested as to his or her
entire Option, the Shares covered by the unvested portion of the Option will immediately revert to the Plan. If
the Option is not so exercised within the time specified herein, the Option will terminate, and the Shares covered
by such Option will revert to the Plan.
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7.

Stock Appreciation Rights.

(a)
Grant of Stock Appreciation Rights. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, a
Stock Appreciation Right may be granted to Service Providers at any time and from time to time as will be
determined by the Administrator, in its sole discretion.
(b)
Number of Shares. The Administrator will have complete discretion to determine the
number of Shares subject to any Award of Stock Appreciation Rights.
(c)
Exercise Price and Other Terms. The per Share exercise price for the Shares that will
determine the amount of the payment to be received upon exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right as set forth in
Section 7(f) will be determined by the Administrator and will be no less than one hundred percent (100%) of
the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant. Otherwise, the Administrator, subject to the provisions
of the Plan, will have complete discretion to determine the terms and conditions of Stock Appreciation Rights
granted under the Plan.
(d)
Stock Appreciation Right Agreement. Each Stock Appreciation Right grant will be
evidenced by an Award Agreement that will specify the exercise price, the term of the Stock Appreciation
Right, the conditions of exercise, and such other terms and conditions as the Administrator, in its sole discretion,
will determine.
(e)
Expiration of Stock Appreciation Rights. A Stock Appreciation Right granted under
the Plan will expire upon the date determined by the Administrator, in its sole discretion, and set forth in the
Award Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the rules of Section 6(d) relating to the maximum term and
Section 6(f) relating to exercise also will apply to Stock Appreciation Rights.
(f)
Payment of Stock Appreciation Right Amount. Upon exercise of a Stock Appreciation
Right, a Participant will be entitled to receive payment from the Company in an amount determined by
multiplying:
(i)
The difference between the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of
exercise over the exercise price; times
(ii)

The number of Shares with respect to which the Stock Appreciation Right is

exercised.
At the discretion of the Administrator, the payment upon Stock Appreciation Right exercise
may be in cash, in Shares of equivalent value, or in some combination thereof.
8.

Restricted Stock.

(a)
Grant of Restricted Stock. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, the
Administrator, at any time and from time to time, may grant Shares of Restricted Stock to Service Providers in
such amounts as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, will determine.
(b)
Restricted Stock Agreement. Each Award of Restricted Stock will be evidenced by an
Award Agreement that will specify the Period of Restriction, the number of Shares granted, and such other
terms and conditions as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, will determine. Unless the Administrator
determines otherwise, the Company as escrow agent will hold Shares of Restricted Stock until the restrictions
on such Shares have lapsed.
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(c)
Transferability. Except as provided in this Section 8 or as the Administrator
determines, Shares of Restricted Stock may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated
or hypothecated until the end of the applicable Period of Restriction.
(d)
Other Restrictions. The Administrator, in its sole discretion, may impose such other
restrictions on Shares of Restricted Stock as it may deem advisable or appropriate.
(e)
Removal of Restrictions. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 8, Shares of
Restricted Stock covered by each Restricted Stock grant made under the Plan will be released from escrow as
soon as practicable after the last day of the Period of Restriction or at such other time as the Administrator may
determine. The Administrator, in its discretion, may accelerate the time at which any restrictions will lapse or
be removed.
(f)
Voting Rights. During the Period of Restriction, Service Providers holding Shares of
Restricted Stock granted hereunder may exercise full voting rights with respect to those Shares, unless the
Administrator determines otherwise.
(g)
Dividends and Other Distributions. During the Period of Restriction, Service Providers
holding Shares of Restricted Stock will be entitled to receive all dividends and other distributions paid with
respect to such Shares, unless the Administrator provides otherwise. If any such dividends or distributions are
paid in Shares, the Shares will be subject to the same restrictions on transferability and forfeitability as the
Shares of Restricted Stock with respect to which they were paid.
(h)
Return of Restricted Stock to Company. On the date set forth in the Award Agreement,
the Restricted Stock for which restrictions have not lapsed will revert to the Company and again will become
available for grant under the Plan.
9.

Restricted Stock Units.

(a)
Grant. Restricted Stock Units may be granted at any time and from time to time as
determined by the Administrator. After the Administrator determines that it will grant Restricted Stock Units,
it will advise the Participant in an Award Agreement of the terms, conditions, and restrictions related to the
grant, including the number of Restricted Stock Units.
(b)
Vesting Criteria and Other Terms. The Administrator will set vesting criteria in its
discretion, which, depending on the extent to which the criteria are met, will determine the number of Restricted
Stock Units that will be paid out to the Participant. The Administrator may set vesting criteria based upon the
achievement of Company-wide, business unit, or individual goals (including, but not limited to, continued
employment or service), or any other basis determined by the Administrator in its discretion.
(c)
Earning Restricted Stock Units. Upon meeting the applicable vesting criteria, the
Participant will be entitled to receive a payout as determined by the Administrator. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, at any time after the grant of Restricted Stock Units, the Administrator, in its sole discretion, may
reduce or waive any vesting criteria that must be met to receive a payout.
(d)
Form and Timing of Payment. Payment of earned Restricted Stock Units will be made
as soon as practicable after the date(s) determined by the Administrator and set forth in the Award Agreement.
The Administrator, in its sole discretion, may settle earned Restricted Stock Units in cash, Shares, or a
combination of both.
(e) Cancellation. On the date set forth in the Award Agreement, all unearned Restricted Stock
Units will be forfeited to the Company.
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10.
Compliance With Code Section 409A. Awards will be designed and operated in such a manner
that they are either exempt from the application of, or comply with, the requirements of Code Section 409A
such that the grant, payment, settlement or deferral will not be subject to the additional tax or interest applicable
under Code Section 409A, except as otherwise determined in the sole discretion of the Administrator. The Plan
and each Award Agreement under the Plan is intended to meet the requirements of Code Section 409A and will
be construed and interpreted in accordance with such intent, except as otherwise determined in the sole
discretion of the Administrator. To the extent that an Award or payment, or the settlement or deferral thereof,
is subject to Code Section 409A the Award will be granted, paid, settled or deferred in a manner that will meet
the requirements of Code Section 409A, such that the grant, payment, settlement or deferral will not be subject
to the additional tax or interest applicable under Code Section 409A. In no event will the Company have any
obligation under the terms of this Plan to reimburse a Participant for any taxes or other costs that may be
imposed on Participant as a result of Section 409A.
11.
Leaves of Absence/Transfer Between Locations. Unless the Administrator provides otherwise,
vesting of Awards granted hereunder will be suspended during any unpaid leave of absence. A Participant will
not cease to be an Employee in the case of (i) any leave of absence approved by the Company or (ii) transfers
between locations of the Company or between the Company, its Parent, or any Subsidiary. For purposes of
Incentive Stock Options, no such leave may exceed three (3) months, unless reemployment upon expiration of
such leave is guaranteed by statute or contract. If reemployment upon expiration of a leave of absence approved
by the Company is not so guaranteed, then six (6) months following the first (1st) day of such leave, any
Incentive Stock Option held by the Participant will cease to be treated as an Incentive Stock Option and will be
treated for tax purposes as a Nonstatutory Stock Option.
12.

Limited Transferability of Awards.

(a)
Unless determined otherwise by the Administrator, Awards may not be sold, pledged,
assigned, hypothecated, or otherwise transferred in any manner other than by will or by the laws of descent and
distribution, and may be exercised, during the lifetime of the Participant, only by the Participant. If the
Administrator makes an Award transferable, such Award may only be transferred (i) by will, (ii) by the laws of
descent and distribution, or (iii) as permitted by Rule 701 of the Securities Act.
(b)
Further, until the Company becomes subject to the reporting requirements of Section
13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, or after the Administrator determines that it is, will, or may no longer be
relying upon the exemption from registration under the Exchange Act as set forth in Rule 12h-1(f) promulgated
under the Exchange Act (the “Rule 12h-1(f) Exemption”), an Option, or prior to exercise, the Shares subject to
the Option, may not be pledged, hypothecated or otherwise transferred or disposed of, in any manner, including
by entering into any short position, any “put equivalent position” or any “call equivalent position” (as defined
in Rule 16a-1(h) and Rule 16a-1(b) of the Exchange Act, respectively), other than to (i) persons who are “family
members” (as defined in Rule 701(c)(3) of the Securities Act) through gifts or domestic relations orders, or (ii)
to an executor or guardian of the Participant upon the death or disability of the Participant, in each case, to the
extent required for continued reliance on the Rule 12h-1(f) Exemption. Notwithstanding the foregoing
sentence, the Administrator, in its sole discretion, may determine to permit transfers to the Company or in
connection with a Change in Control or other acquisition transactions involving the Company to the extent
permitted by Rule 12h-1(f) or, if the Company is not relying on the Rule 12h-1(f) Exemption, to the extent
permitted by the Plan.
13.

Adjustments; Dissolution or Liquidation; Merger or Change in Control.

(a)
Adjustments. In the event that any dividend or other distribution (whether in the form
of cash, Shares, other securities, or other property), recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock split,
reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination, repurchase, or exchange of Shares or
other securities of the Company, or other change in the corporate structure of the Company affecting the Shares
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occurs, the Administrator, in order to prevent diminution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits
intended to be made available under the Plan, will adjust the number and class of shares of stock that may be
delivered under the Plan and/or the number, class, and price of shares of stock covered by each outstanding
Award. Further, the Administrator will make such adjustments to an Award as required by Section 25102(o) of
the California Corporations Code to the extent the Company is relying upon the exemption afforded thereby
with respect to the Award.
(b)
Dissolution or Liquidation. In the event of the proposed dissolution or liquidation of
the Company, the Administrator will notify each Participant as soon as practicable prior to the effective date of
such proposed transaction. To the extent it has not been previously exercised, an Award will terminate
immediately prior to the consummation of such proposed action.
(c)
Merger or Change in Control. In the event of a merger of the Company with or into
another corporation or other entity or a Change in Control, each outstanding Award will be treated as the
Administrator determines (subject to the provisions of the following paragraph) without a Participant’s consent,
including, without limitation, that (i) Awards will be assumed, or substantially equivalent awards will be
substituted, by the acquiring or succeeding corporation (or an affiliate thereof) with appropriate adjustments as
to the number and kind of shares and prices; (ii) upon written notice to a Participant, that the Participant’s
Awards will terminate upon or immediately prior to the consummation of such merger or Change in Control;
(iii) outstanding Awards will vest and become exercisable, realizable, or payable, or restrictions applicable to
an Award will lapse, in whole or in part prior to or upon consummation of such merger or Change in Control,
and, to the extent the Administrator determines, terminate upon or immediately prior to the effectiveness of
such merger or Change in Control; (iv) (A) the termination of an Award in exchange for an amount of cash
and/or property, if any, equal to the amount that would have been attained upon the exercise of such Award or
realization of the Participant’s rights as of the date of the occurrence of the transaction (and, for the avoidance
of doubt, if as of the date of the occurrence of the transaction the Administrator determines in good faith that
no amount would have been attained upon the exercise of such Award or realization of the Participant’s rights,
then such Award may be terminated by the Company without payment), or (B) the replacement of such Award
with other rights or property selected by the Administrator in its sole discretion; or (v) any combination of the
foregoing. In taking any of the actions permitted under this subsection 13(c), the Administrator will not be
obligated to treat all Awards, all Awards held by a Participant, or all Awards of the same type, similarly.
In the event that the successor corporation does not assume or substitute for the Award (or
portion thereof), the Participant will fully vest in and have the right to exercise all of his or her outstanding
Options and Stock Appreciation Rights, including Shares as to which such Awards would not otherwise be
vested or exercisable, all restrictions on Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units will lapse, and, with respect
to Awards with performance-based vesting, all performance goals or other vesting criteria will be deemed
achieved at one hundred percent (100%) of target levels and all other terms and conditions met, in all cases,
unless specifically provided otherwise under the applicable Award Agreement or other written agreement
between the Participant and the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or Parents, as applicable. In addition, if an
Option or Stock Appreciation Right is not assumed or substituted in the event of a merger or Change in Control,
the Administrator will notify the Participant in writing or electronically that the Option or Stock Appreciation
Right will be exercisable for a period of time determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion, and the
Option or Stock Appreciation Right will terminate upon the expiration of such period.
For the purposes of this subsection 13(c), an Award will be considered assumed if, following
the merger or Change in Control, the Award confers the right to purchase or receive, for each Share subject to
the Award immediately prior to the merger or Change in Control, the consideration (whether stock, cash, or
other securities or property) received in the merger or Change in Control by holders of Common Stock for each
Share held on the effective date of the transaction (and if holders were offered a choice of consideration, the
type of consideration chosen by the holders of a majority of the outstanding Shares); provided, however, that if
such consideration received in the merger or Change in Control is not solely common stock of the successor
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corporation or its Parent, the Administrator may, with the consent of the successor corporation, provide for the
consideration to be received upon the exercise of an Option or Stock Appreciation Right or upon the payout of
a Restricted Stock Unit, for each Share subject to such Award, to be solely common stock of the successor
corporation or its Parent equal in fair market value to the per share consideration received by holders of
Common Stock in the merger or Change in Control.
Notwithstanding anything in this Section 13(c) to the contrary, an Award that vests, is earned
or paid-out upon the satisfaction of one or more performance goals will not be considered assumed if the
Company or its successor modifies any of such performance goals without the Participant’s consent, in all cases,
unless specifically provided otherwise under the applicable Award Agreement or other written agreement
between the Participant and the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or Parents, as applicable; provided, however,
a modification to such performance goals only to reflect the successor corporation’s post-Change in Control
corporate structure will not be deemed to invalidate an otherwise valid Award assumption.
Notwithstanding anything in this Section 13(c) to the contrary, and unless otherwise provided
in an Award Agreement, if an Award that vests, is earned or paid-out under an Award Agreement is subject to
Code Section 409A and if the change in control definition contained in the Award Agreement does not comply
with the definition of “change of control” for purposes of a distribution under Code Section 409A, then any
payment of an amount that is otherwise accelerated under this Section will be delayed until the earliest time
that such payment would be permissible under Code Section 409A without triggering any penalties applicable
under Code Section 409A.
14.

Tax Withholding.

(a)
Withholding Requirements. Prior to the delivery of any Shares or cash pursuant to an
Award (or exercise thereof), the Company will have the power and the right to deduct or withhold, or require a
Participant to remit to the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy federal, state, local, foreign or other taxes
(including the Participant’s FICA obligation) required to be withheld with respect to such Award (or exercise
thereof).
(b)
Withholding Arrangements. The Administrator, in its sole discretion and pursuant to
such procedures as it may specify from time to time, may permit a Participant to satisfy such tax withholding
obligation, in whole or in part by such methods as the Administrator shall determine, including, without
limitation, (i) paying cash, (ii) electing to have the Company withhold otherwise deliverable Shares having a
fair market value equal to the minimum statutory amount required to be withheld or such greater amount as the
Administrator may determine if such amount would not have adverse accounting consequences, as the
Administrator determines in its sole discretion, (iii) delivering to the Company already-owned Shares having a
fair market value equal to the statutory amount required to be withheld or such greater amount as the
Administrator may determine, in each case, provided the delivery of such Shares will not result in any adverse
accounting consequences, as the Administrator determines in its sole discretion, (iv) selling a sufficient number
of Shares otherwise deliverable to the Participant through such means as the Administrator may determine in
its sole discretion (whether through a broker or otherwise) equal to the amount required to be withheld, or (v)
any combination of the foregoing methods of payment. The amount of the withholding requirement will be
deemed to include any amount which the Administrator agrees may be withheld at the time the election is made,
not to exceed the amount determined by using the maximum federal, state or local marginal income tax rates
applicable to the Participant with respect to the Award on the date that the amount of tax to be withheld is to be
determined or such greater amount as the Administrator may determine if such amount would not have adverse
accounting consequences, as the Administrator determines in its sole discretion. The fair market value of the
Shares to be withheld or delivered will be determined as of the date that the taxes are required to be withheld.
15.
No Effect on Employment or Service. Neither the Plan nor any Award will confer upon a
Participant any right with respect to continuing the Participant’s relationship as a Service Provider with the
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Company or its Subsidiaries or Parents, as applicable, nor will they interfere in any way with the Participant’s
right or the right of the Company and its Subsidiaries or Parents, as applicable to terminate such relationship at
any time, with or without cause, to the extent permitted by Applicable Laws.
16.
Date of Grant. The date of grant of an Award will be, for all purposes, the date on which the
Administrator makes the determination granting such Award, or such other later date as is determined by the
Administrator. Notice of the determination will be provided to each Participant within a reasonable time after
the date of such grant.
17.
Term of Plan. Subject to Section 21 of the Plan, the Plan will become effective upon its
adoption by the Board. Unless sooner terminated under Section 18, it will continue in effect for a term of ten
(10) years from the later of (a) the effective date of the Plan, or (b) the earlier of the most recent Board or
stockholder approval of an increase in the number of Shares reserved for issuance under the Plan.
18.

Amendment and Termination of the Plan.

(a)
terminate the Plan.

Amendment and Termination. The Board may at any time amend, alter, suspend or

(b)
Stockholder Approval. The Company will obtain stockholder approval of any Plan
amendment to the extent necessary and desirable to comply with Applicable Laws.
(c)
Effect of Amendment or Termination. No amendment, alteration, suspension or
termination of the Plan will impair the rights of any Participant, unless mutually agreed otherwise between the
Participant and the Administrator, which agreement must be in writing and signed by the Participant and the
Company. Termination of the Plan will not affect the Administrator’s ability to exercise the powers granted to
it hereunder with respect to Awards granted under the Plan prior to the date of such termination.
19.

Conditions Upon Issuance of Shares.

(a)
Legal Compliance. Shares will not be issued pursuant to the exercise of an Award
unless the exercise of such Award and the issuance and delivery of such Shares will comply with Applicable
Laws and will be further subject to the approval of counsel for the Company with respect to such compliance.
(b)
Investment Representations. As a condition to the exercise of an Award, the Company
may require the person exercising such Award to represent and warrant at the time of any such exercise that the
Shares are being purchased only for investment and without any present intention to sell or distribute such
Shares if, in the opinion of counsel for the Company, such a representation is required.
20.
Inability to Obtain Authority. The inability of the Company to obtain authority from any
regulatory body having jurisdiction or to complete or comply with the requirements of any registration or other
qualification of the Shares under any state, federal or foreign law or under the rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission, the stock exchange on which Shares of the same class are then listed, or
any other governmental or regulatory body, which authority, registration, qualification or rule compliance is
deemed by the Company’s counsel to be necessary or advisable for the issuance and sale of any Shares
hereunder, will relieve the Company of any liability in respect of the failure to issue or sell such Shares as to
which such requisite authority, registration, qualification or rule compliance will not have been obtained.
21.
Stockholder Approval. The Plan will be subject to approval by the stockholders of the
Company within twelve (12) months after the date the Plan is adopted by the Board. Such stockholder approval
will be obtained in the manner and to the degree required under Applicable Laws.
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22.
Information to Participants. If and as required (i) pursuant to Rule 701 of the Securities Act, if
the Company is relying on the exemption from registration provided pursuant to Rule 701 of the Securities Act
with respect to the applicable Award, and/or (ii) pursuant to Rule 12h-1(f) of the Exchange Act, to the extent
the Company is relying on the Rule 12h-1(f) Exemption, then during the period of reliance on the applicable
exemption and in each case of (i) and (ii) until such time as the Company becomes subject to the reporting
requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the Company shall provide to each Participant the
information described in paragraphs (e)(3), (4), and (5) of Rule 701 under the Securities Act not less frequently
than every six (6) months with the financial statements being not more than 180 days old and with such
information provided either by physical or electronic delivery to the Participants or by written notice to the
Participants of the availability of the information on an Internet site that may be password-protected and of any
password needed to access the information. The Company may request that Participants agree to keep the
information to be provided pursuant to this section confidential. If a Participant does not agree to keep the
information to be provided pursuant to this section confidential, then the Company will not be required to
provide the information unless otherwise required pursuant to Rule 12h-1(f)(1) under the Exchange Act (if the
Company is relying on the Rule 12h-1(f) Exemption) or Rule 701 of the Securities Act (if the Company is
relying on the exemption pursuant to Rule 701 of the Securities Act).
23.

Forfeiture Events.

(a)
All Awards under the Plan will be subject to recoupment under any clawback policy
that the Company is required to adopt pursuant to the listing standards of any national securities exchange or
association on which the Company’s securities are listed or as is otherwise required by the Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act or other Applicable Laws. In addition, the Administrator may
impose such other clawback, recovery or recoupment provisions in an Award Agreement as the Administrator
determines necessary or appropriate, including but not limited to a reacquisition right regarding previously
acquired Shares or other cash or property. Unless this Section 23 is specifically mentioned and waived in an
Award Agreement or other document, no recovery of compensation under a clawback policy or otherwise will
be an event that triggers or contributes to any right of a Participant to resign for “good reason” or “constructive
termination” (or similar term) under any agreement with the Company or a Subsidiary or Parent of the
Company.
(b)
The Administrator may specify in an Award Agreement that the Participant’s rights,
payments, and benefits with respect to an Award will be subject to reduction, cancellation, forfeiture, or
recoupment upon the occurrence of specified events, in addition to any otherwise applicable vesting or
performance conditions of an Award. Such events may include, but will not be limited to, termination of such
Participant’s status as a Service Provider for cause or any specified action or inaction by a Participant, whether
before or after such termination of service, that would constitute cause for termination of such Participant’s
status as a Service Provider.
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Exhibit B
FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE
2018 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
This Q&A relates to shares of common stock of Figure Technologies, Inc. (“Shares”) offered to
our employees, directors and consultants pursuant to our 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, referred
to in this Q&A as the “Plan.” Awards (as defined below) are governed by the provisions of the Plan and
the agreements issued under the Plan (“Award Agreements”). Figure Technologies, Inc. is referred to in
this Q&A as the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our.”
What is the Plan?
The Plan was adopted by our board of directors (the “Board”) and approved by our stockholders in 2018,
and was most recently amended in April 2019. The Plan allows us to provide incentive stock options,
nonstatutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, and restricted stock units (each such
equity award granted under the Plan, an “Award”) to our service providers.
What should I know about this Q&A?
This Q&A describes the main features of the Plan. However, this Q&A does not contain all of the
terms and conditions of the official Plan document or the terms and conditions of your Award Agreement.
Accordingly, if there is any difference between (i) the terms and conditions of the Plan as described in this
Q&A and (ii) the provisions of the Plan document and/or your Award Agreement, the Plan document and/or
your Award Agreement will govern.
What are the purposes of the Plan?
The purposes of the Plan are to attract and retain the best available personnel for positions of
substantial responsibility; to provide additional incentive to employees, directors, and consultants; and to
promote the success of our business.
How many Shares may be issued under the Plan?
Subject to the provisions of the Plan, currently the maximum aggregate number of Shares that may
be issued under the Plan is REDACTED Shares, but such amount is subject to increase (or decrease) without
notice at the discretion of the Board.
Does the Plan cover all shares of capital stock of Figure?
No, the shares of stock subject to the Plan are a portion of all of the “fully-diluted” shares of capital
stock of Figure. The shares and options subject to the Plan are primarily used for employee and consultant
incentives. In addition to shares and options issued and reserved under the Plan, there are additional shares
of common stock and preferred stock outstanding.
Who administers the Plan?
The Plan is administered by the Board or one or more committees appointed by the Board (in either
case, the “Administrator”). Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Administrator has the power to take
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any actions it deems necessary or advisable for the administration of the Plan. The Administrator’s
decisions are final and binding on all Award holders and all persons deriving their rights from an Award
holder.
Who is eligible to participate in the Plan?
Our employees, directors and consultants are eligible for Awards under the Plan.
Does participation in the Plan affect my service with the Company or any parent or subsidiary of the
Company?
No, neither the Plan nor the grant of an Award under the Plan confers on you any right with respect
to continuing your service with the Company or any parent or subsidiary of the Company. The Company
and any parent or subsidiary of the Company reserves the right to terminate your service at any time, with
or without cause, and with or without notice.
What types of grants are permitted under the Plan?
The Plan permits us to grant incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock options, stock appreciation
rights, restricted stock, and restricted stock units. Incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock options and
restricted stock are described in further detail below. In addition, the “Tax Information” section below
summarizes the tax treatment of each of these types of Awards.
What is a stock option?
A stock option is a right to buy Shares in the future at a predetermined price. Incentive stock
options are options that qualify for preferred tax treatment under Section 422 of the Code. Nonstatutory
stock options are options that do not qualify as incentive stock options.
What are the terms and conditions of stock options granted under the Plan?
Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Administrator determines the term of your option, the
number of Shares subject to your option, and the time period in which your option may be exercised.
The term of an option will be stated in your Award Agreement, but the term of an option may not
exceed 10 years from the date of grant. The Administrator also determines the exercise price per Share of
your option, which may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of a Share on the date of grant.
In addition, to the extent that the aggregate fair market value of the Shares with respect to which
incentive stock options are exercisable for the first time by an employee during any calendar year (under
all plans of the Company and any parent or subsidiary) exceeds $100,000, such options will be treated as
nonstatutory stock options.
What happens to my stock options if my service is terminated?
Generally, our standard form Award Agreement provides that you may exercise the vested portion
of your option within 3 months (or 12 months, in the case of termination on account of death or disability),
but in no event later than the expiration of the term of such option as set forth in the Award Agreement.
Please check your specific Award Agreement. If, on the date of termination, you are not vested as to your
entire option, the Shares covered by the unvested portion of the option will revert to the Plan.
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How do I pay the exercise price for my options?
The Administrator determines how you may pay the exercise price of your option, and the
permissible methods are generally set forth in your Award Agreement.
An option will be deemed exercised when you file a notice of exercise (in accordance with the
terms of your Award Agreement) and submit full payment for the Shares being exercised together with any
tax withholding obligations.
Will I have rights as a stockholder with respect to my option?
You will have no rights as a stockholder with respect to Shares underlying your option until such
Shares are issued to you (which will be evidenced by the appropriate entry on the Company’s books or the
books of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company) following your exercise of the option.
Can I transfer stock I purchase pursuant to my option?
Transfers of Shares purchased pursuant to an option are generally impermissible unless approved
in advance by the Administrator, and provided that such transfer is otherwise in compliance with the terms
of your option agreement, which terms generally include that the transfer must be compliant with applicable
securities laws. Additionally, the Company has a right of first refusal with respect to any proposed transfer.
However, you may be permitted to transfer your Shares to certain family members and by will or intestacy.
These transfer restrictions will terminate in accordance with your option agreement.
What is restricted stock?
Shares of restricted stock are issued for no consideration or sold at a specified price to you but vest
in accordance with terms and conditions that the Administrator establishes in its discretion. Upon vesting,
you benefit by assuming full ownership of the Shares. If you early-exercised a stock option, then you
received restricted stock on such exercise.
What are the terms of the restricted stock?
The Administrator may grant Shares of restricted stock in such amounts as the Administrator
determines. Restricted stock includes unvested shares that are issued pursuant to stock options that are
early exercisable. Restricted stock generally cannot be transferred until the Shares vest (the “period of
restriction”). Each Award of restricted stock will be documented by an Award Agreement that will specify
the period of restriction, the number of Shares granted, and such other terms and conditions as the
Administrator may determine. Shares of restricted stock that have not vested, or with respect to which the
Company’s repurchase rights have not lapsed, by the date set forth in the Award Agreement will revert to
the Company and again will become available under the Plan.
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Can I transfer my Award?
Unless determined otherwise by the Administrator, Awards may not be sold, pledged, assigned,
hypothecated, or otherwise transferred in any manner other than by will or by the laws of descent and
distribution. In addition, during your lifetime, only you may exercise your stock option Award.
How do I satisfy any tax withholding that may apply to my Award?
Prior to the delivery of any Shares pursuant to an Award (or exercise thereof), we will have the
power to deduct or withhold, or require you to pay us an amount that satisfies federal, state, local, foreign,
or other tax withholding obligations.
What happens to Awards in the event of a change in our capitalization structure?
If there is a dividend or other distribution (whether in the form of cash, Shares, other securities, or
other property), recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock split, reorganization, merger, consolidation, splitup, spin-off, combination, repurchase, or exchange of Shares or our other securities, or other change in our
corporate structure affecting the Shares, the Administrator will make proportionate adjustments to the
number and type of Shares that may be delivered under the Plan and/or the number, type, and price of
Shares covered by each outstanding Award. The Administrator’s determination regarding such adjustments
will be final, binding and conclusive.
What happens in the event of a merger or change in control?
In the event of our merger with or into another corporation or entity or a change in control (as
defined in the Plan), each outstanding Award will be treated as the Administrator determines, including,
without limitation, that (i) Awards will be assumed, or substantially equivalent Awards will be substituted,
by the acquiring or succeeding corporation (or an affiliate thereof) with appropriate adjustments as to the
number and kind of Shares and prices; (ii) upon written notice to you, your Awards will terminate upon or
immediately prior to the consummation of such merger or change in control; (iii) outstanding Awards will
vest and become exercisable, realizable, or payable, or restrictions applicable to an Award will lapse, in
whole or in part prior to or upon consummation of such merger or change in control, and, to the extent the
Administrator determines, terminate upon or immediately prior to the effectiveness of such merger or
change in control; (iv) (A) the termination of an Award in exchange for an amount of cash and/or property,
if any, equal to the amount that would have been attained upon the exercise of such Award or realization
of your rights as of the date of the occurrence of the transaction, or (B) the replacement of such Award with
other rights or property selected by the Administrator in its sole discretion; or (v) any combination of the
foregoing. The Administrator will not be obligated to treat all Awards, all Awards you hold, or all Awards
of the same type, similarly.
In the event that the successor corporation does not assume or substitute for your Award (or portion
thereof), you will fully vest in and have the right to exercise all of your outstanding options and stock
appreciation rights, including Shares as to which such Awards would not otherwise be vested or exercisable,
all restrictions on restricted stock and restricted stock units will lapse, and, with respect to Awards with
performance-based vesting, all performance goals or other vesting criteria will be deemed achieved at 100%
of target levels and all other terms and conditions met, in all cases, unless specifically provided otherwise
under the applicable Award Agreement or other written agreement between you and the Company or any
of its subsidiaries or parents, as applicable. In addition, if an option or stock appreciation right is not
assumed or substituted in the event of a merger or change in control, the Administrator will notify you in
writing or electronically that the option or stock appreciation right will be exercisable for a period of time
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determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion, and the option or stock appreciation right will
terminate upon the expiration of such period.
Can the Plan be amended or terminated?
The Board may amend, alter, suspend, or terminate the Plan at any time, but such amendment,
alteration, suspension, or termination may not adversely affect your outstanding Awards without your
consent. In addition, we may need to obtain stockholder approval for certain amendments to the Plan. The
Plan will expire in 2028 unless terminated sooner by the Board.
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TAX INFORMATION
The following is a brief summary of general United States federal income tax laws currently in
effect, that apply to Awards granted under the Plan and the sale of Shares acquired through such Awards.
However, the specific federal, state and local tax consequences to any particular taxpayer will depend on
his or her individual circumstances.
This summary is not intended to be exhaustive and does not discuss the tax consequences of
your death or the provisions of any income tax laws of any municipality, state or foreign country in
which you may reside. If you are not a United States taxpayer, the taxing jurisdiction or jurisdictions
that apply to you will determine the tax effect of your participation in the Plan. For information
regarding the tax treatment of options granted to you under the Plan, please consult your tax advisor.
The following discussion assumes that the per share exercise price of each option is at least equal
to the fair market value of a Share on the date of grant.
What are the tax effects of nonstatutory stock options?
If you are granted a nonstatutory stock option, you generally are not required to recognize income
at the time of grant. However, when you exercise the nonstatutory stock option (“NSO”), you will
recognize ordinary income to the extent the fair market value of the Shares on the date of exercise (and any
cash) you receive is greater than the exercise price you pay. We strongly encourage you to consult your
tax, financial, or other adviser regarding the tax treatment of such stock options.
Any gain or loss you recognize upon the sale or exchange of Shares that you acquire generally will
be treated as capital gain or loss and will be long-term or short-term depending on whether you held the
Shares for more than 1 year. The holding period for the Shares will begin just after the time you exercise.
The amount of such gain or loss will be the difference between:
•

the amount you realize upon the sale or exchange of the Shares and

•

the value of the Shares at the time you recognize ordinary income.

Example on NSOs: The following example shows the impact of exercising a vested NSO covering 100
Shares. This assumes an exercise price of $5 per Share, a fair market value of $9 per Share at the time of
exercise, and a subsequent sale 2-years after exercise for $12 per Share.
Upon exercise of the NSO, the employee recognizes ordinary income of $400 (100 Shares * ($9 fair market
value, less $5 exercise price)).
Upon sale of the Shares, the employee has a long-term capital gain of $300 (100 Shares * $3 subsequent
appreciation in the Shares after exercise).
What are the tax effects of incentive stock options?
Incentive stock options are options that are intended to qualify for the special tax treatment
available under Section 422 of the Code. You will generally not recognize income as a result of the grant
or exercise of incentive stock options. However, you will recognize gain at the time of sale or other
disposition of the Shares acquired upon exercise of your incentive stock option. Any gain generally will
be taxed at long term capital gain rates if you sell Shares that you purchased through the exercise of an
incentive stock option:
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•

more than 2 years after the date of grant of the incentive stock option and

•

more than 1 year after the date of exercise of the incentive stock option.

However, if you sell Shares purchased through the exercise of an incentive stock option within either the
2-year or 1-year holding periods described above, generally any gain up to the excess of the fair market
value of the Shares on the date of exercise over the exercise price will be treated as ordinary income. Any
additional gain generally will be taxable at long-term or short-term capital gain rates, depending on whether
you have held the Shares for more than 1 year.
Any loss that you recognize upon disposition of Shares purchased through the exercise of an
incentive stock option, whether before or after expiration of the 2-year and 1-year holding periods above,
will be treated as a capital loss. That loss will be long-term or short-term depending on whether you have
held the Shares for more than 1 year.
What about incentive stock options and the alternative minimum tax?
Your incentive stock options may affect the determination of your alternative minimum tax. When
you exercise the Shares subject to an incentive stock option, you will be required to include the amount
equal to the fair market value of the Shares on the date of exercise over the exercise price as an adjustment
item in the determination of your alternative minimum tax. However, if you dispose of the Shares that you
purchased through the exercise of an incentive stock option in the same calendar year as the date of exercise
of the incentive stock option, then no adjustment with respect to those Shares is included in the
determination of your alternative minimum tax. Determination of the alternative minimum tax is complex
and highly dependent on the taxpayer’s individual situation. As a result, if you hold incentive stock options,
you should be sure to consult your tax adviser before exercising any incentive stock options to fully
understand and appreciate how the exercise of the option and sale or other disposition of the shares may
impact your tax situation.
Example on ISOs: Same general facts as the NSO example above. The following example shows the impact
of exercising a vested ISO covering 100 Shares. This assumes an exercise price of $5 per Share, a fair
market value of $9 per Share at the time of exercise, and a subsequent sale 2-years after exercise for $12
per Share.
Upon exercise of the ISO, the employee recognizes no ordinary income. Although the employee recognizes
no ordinary income, the employee has an AMT adjustment item of $400 for the year of exercise.
Upon sale of the Shares, the employee has a long-term capital gain of $700 (100 Shares * ($12 Sales price,
less $5 exercise price)).
What are the tax effects of restricted stock?
Unless you make an election under Section 83(b) of the Code, you will not recognize taxable
income at the time you receive an Award of restricted stock under the Plan. Instead, you will have ordinary
income when (and if) the Shares vest and no longer can be forfeited. If you make a Section 83(b) election,
you will recognize ordinary income at the time you receive the restricted stock, without regard to the vesting
provisions. However, if you later forfeit any unvested Shares, you will not be allowed a tax deduction with
respect to the forfeiture.
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Any gain or loss you recognize upon the sale or exchange of Shares that you acquire through a
grant of restricted stock generally will be treated as capital gain or loss and will be long-term or short-term
depending upon whether you held the Shares for more than 1 year.
Example on NSOs/ISOs that were early-exercised (i.e., restricted stock): Similar general facts as the
NSO/ISO examples above. The following example shows the impact of early-exercising an unvested
NSO/ISO at the time of grant covering 100 Shares. This assumes an exercise price of $5 per Share (which
was fair market value at the time of grant), the employee timely filed an 83(b) election and a subsequent
sale 4-years after exercise for $12 per Share.
Upon early-exercise of the NSO/ISO (i.e., the purchase of the restricted stock), the employee recognizes no
ordinary income because there is no spread between the exercise price and the fair market value of the
shares.
Upon vesting of the restricted stock, the employee recognizes no ordinary income as a result of the 83(b)
election.
Upon sale of the Shares, the employee has a long-term capital gain of $700 (100 Shares * ($12 Sales price,
less $5 exercise price)).
What is Section 409A of the Code (“Section 409A”)?
Under the provisions of Section 409A, there are potentially significant unfavorable tax
consequences of holding a nonstatutory stock option with an exercise price that is less than the fair market
value of the common stock underlying any such Award as of such Award’s original grant date. Section
409A provides that nonstatutory stock options issued with an exercise price less than the fair market value
of the underlying stock on the date of grant must have fixed exercise dates or meet another exception
permitted by Section 409A to avoid early income recognition and an additional 20% tax, plus penalty and
interest charges. In addition, certain states, such as California, have laws similar to Section 409A and as a
result, discount options may result in additional state income, penalty and interest taxes.
Will I have the opportunity to elect Section 83(i) tax deferral treatment?
At this time, no election under Section 83(i) of the Code will be available.
What are the tax effects of Awards for the Company?
We generally will receive a deduction for United States federal income tax purposes in the amount
and at the time you recognize ordinary income with respect to an Award.
What is the “Medicare Surtax”?
Your annual “net investment income,” as defined in Section 1411 of the Code, may be subject to a
three and eight-tenths percent (3.8%) federal surtax (generally referred to as the “Medicare Surtax”). Net
investment income may include capital gain and/or loss arising from the disposition of Shares acquired
through your Award. Whether your net investment income will be subject to the Medicare Surtax will
depend on your level of annual income and other factors.
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Exhibit C
Risk Factors
The operations and financial results of Figure Technologies, Inc. (“Figure” or the “Company”) are
subject to various risks and uncertainties, including those described below. As such, investing in Figure’s
common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties
described below, together with all of the other information included in this disclosure packet and otherwise
previously provided to you, including Figure’s financial statements, before deciding whether to purchase
shares of Figure’s common stock. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones Figure
faces. If any of the following risks occur, Figure’s business, financial condition, operating results and
prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In that event, the fair market value of Figure’s
common stock could decline and you could lose part or all of your investment.

Risks Related to the Business and Industry of Figure Technologies, Inc.
If Figure does not maintain or continue to increase the number of loans facilitated through its
platform, or expand its services to new markets, Figure may not succeed in maintaining and/or
growing its business, and as a result its business and results of operations could be adversely affected.
To maintain and continue to grow Figure’s current business operations, it must continue to increase
the number of revolving home equity lines of credit, traditional mortgage loans, unsecured loans and
installment loans (“Loans”) made through its platform by attracting a large number of new borrowers who
meet the lending standards of Figure’s platform, integrate with various third-party data providers to
originate Loans and work with financing partners to secure additional financing facilities.
Figure’s ability to attract qualified borrowers for its lending business depends in large part on the
success of its marketing efforts, its visibility, placement and customer reviews on third-party platforms, and
the competitive advantage of its products, particularly as Figure continues to grow its platform and
introduce new products. Figure may not be able to promote awareness of its brand and achieve widespread
acceptance of its business model to increase access to its platform. Figure has incurred significant expenses
on and devoted considerable resources to branding and marketing activities and user traffic acquisition, and
Figure may continue to do so in the future. If any of Figure’s marketing channels become less effective, or
if the cost of these channels were to significantly increase, Figure may not be able to attract new customers
and in a cost-effective manner or convert potential customers into active borrowers. Additionally, changes
in the way third-party platforms operate, including changes in Figure’s participation on such platforms,
could make the maintenance and promotion of Figure’s products and services more expensive or more
difficult.
If the number of customers approved for Loans through Figure’s platform decreases or if Figure is
unable to obtain necessary data from third parties or maintain existing, and develop new, partnerships with
financial institutions, for any reason, Figure’s business and financial results may be adversely affected. If
Figure restructures its products, Figure’s financial results may be adversely affected even if Figure is able
to maintain or increase loan originations through its platform.
The growth of Figure’s business is dependent on varied components, and if any of these
components required for growth is absent, Figure may not grow in accordance with its plans and projections.
An economic downturn or a decline in economic conditions (including higher delinquency and default
rates related to home price depreciation) could adversely affect Figure’s business, results of
operations and financial condition.
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In recent years, the housing market continued to improve, and there were increases in new sales
contracts signed and homes delivered compared with prior years. However, demand for Figure’s products
and services is sensitive to changes in economic conditions such as the level of employment, consumer
confidence, consumer income, availability of financing and interest rate levels. The economic downturn in
2007-2010 severely affected both the number and price of homes sold. It is likely that if there were another
economic downturn, the resulting decline in demand would negatively impact Figure’s business, results of
operations and financial condition. Rising unemployment and slow wage growth in certain regions of the
United States or generally could exacerbate these risks. Any of these factors, or a combination of these
factors could cause Loan defaults to increase substantially.
Current and future changes in market conditions may impair borrowers’ ability to refinance or sell
their residential properties, which may contribute to higher delinquency and default rates. Borrowers
seeking to avoid increased monthly payments by refinancing may no longer be able to find available
replacement loans if prevailing underwriting standards are more stringent. Despite recent home price
appreciation in certain markets, home price depreciation experienced to date, and any further price
depreciation, may also leave borrowers with insufficient equity in their homes to permit them to refinance.
These events could cause borrowers to default on their mortgage loans.
An increase in Loan defaults caused by any of these events would have a negative effect on Figure’s
business, finances and results of operations.
Figure is dependent on the continued services and performance of its senior management and other
key employees, the loss of any of whom could adversely affect Figure’s business, financial condition
and operating results.
Figure’s future performance depends on the continued services and contributions of its senior
management and other key employees to execute on its business plan, and to identify and pursue new
opportunities and product innovations. Michael Cagney, one of Figure’s founders and chief executive
officer, has been critical in the growth, strategy and execution of Figure’s business. Figure’s management
cannot be certain that Mr. Cagney will continue to work at Figure and were he, or any of the others in the
current management team to leave, it could negatively impact Figure’s business. Further, the loss of the
services of Figure’s senior management or other key employees for any reason could significantly delay or
prevent the achievement of Figure’s strategic objectives and adversely affect Figure’s business, financial
condition and operating results.
Mr. Cagney controls a majority of the board of director votes and thus may control the outcome of
matters submitted to the board of directors for approval.
Mr. Cagney, Figure’s co-founder and Chief Executive Officer, has the right to vote a majority of the
votes of Figure’s board of directors. As a result, Mr. Cagney has the ability to control the outcome of matters
submitted to the board of directors for approval, subject to certain consent rights set out in Figure’s
financing documents and fiduciary obligations. If Mr. Cagney’s employment with Figure is terminated, he
will continue to have the ability to exercise the same significant voting control. This concentrated control
could delay, defer, or prevent a change of control, merger, consolidation, or sale of all or substantially all
of Figure’s assets that its other board members or stockholders support. Conversely, this concentrated
control could allow Figure’s co-founders to take actions or enter into transactions that our other board
members do not support.
Fluctuations in interest rates could negatively affect transaction volume.
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Some Loans facilitated through Figure’s platform are issued with fixed interest rates. If interest
rates rise, potential borrowers could seek to defer taking new loans as they wait for interest rates to decrease
and/or settle. To the extent that Figure holds Loans for sale on its balance sheet, it will be at risk to rising
interest rates between origination and sale. In order to sell such Loans, Figure may need to reduce the sale
price in order to satisfy the yield expectations of its investors.
Market interest rates may increase in the future, and the increase may materially and negatively
affect Figure, as rising interest rates could have a dampening effect on overall economic activity and/or the
financial condition of customers, either or both of which could negatively affect demand for Figure’s
products and services.
For many reasons, including those stated above, fluctuations in the interest rate environment may
discourage borrowers from using Figure’s products and services, which may adversely affect Figure’s
business.
The regulatory regime governing blockchain technologies, cryptocurrencies, digital assets and token
offerings is uncertain, and new regulations or policies may materially and adversely affect Figure.
Figure builds several product offerings on the Provenance Blockchain (“Provenance
Blockchain”). Regulation of digital assets, digital asset offerings, cryptocurrencies, blockchain
technologies and digital asset exchanges currently is underdeveloped and likely to rapidly evolve, varies
significantly among international, federal, state and local jurisdictions and is subject to significant
uncertainty. Various legislative and executive bodies in the United States and in other countries may in the
future, adopt laws, regulations, guidance, or other actions, which may severely impact the development and
growth of Provenance Blockchain and Figure.
To the extent that a domestic government or quasi-governmental agency exerts regulatory authority
over blockchain networks or digital assets, digital asset offerings and the like, the effect of any such related
future regulatory change is impossible to predict, but such change could be substantial and materially
adverse to the development and growth of Provenance Blockchain and thus could materially adversely
affect Figure.
The recent launch of the new Provenance Blockchain entails regulatory risk that could materially
and adversely affect Figure.
In May 2021, Figure created a new open source, public, permissionless, decentralized, proof-ofstake blockchain, Provenance Blockchain 2.0, and issued digital utility tokens to users of the blockchain.
Whether a digital token would be deemed a “security” is subject to legal interpretation. While
Figure designed the digital tokens as utility tokens and does not believe they are securities, it is possible
that the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) could determine that the digital tokens are
securities. Because Figure created Provenance Blockchain, such a determination by the SEC could result
in material adverse effect on Figure, including fines and significant legal costs.
Figure is subject to a wide range of laws and regulations. Failure to comply with those laws and
regulations could harm its business.
Figure is subject to a number of U.S. federal and state and foreign laws and regulations that involve matters
central to its business, including state laws and regulations that impose requirements related to loan
disclosures and terms, credit discrimination, credit reporting, money transmission, debt servicing and
collection and unfair or deceptive business practices. The interpretation of those requirements by judges,
regulatory bodies and enforcement agencies is changing, often quickly and with little notice. Changes in
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laws and regulations could impose stringent requirements on Figure to detect and prevent illegal and
improper activity by users, which can materially negatively affect its business. Actions relating to
requirements may be brought by state attorneys general or other state enforcement authorities and other
governmental agencies and could subject Figure to civil money penalties, customer remediation and
increased compliance costs, as well as damage Figure’s reputation and brand and could limit or prohibit its
ability to offer certain products and services or engage in certain business practices.
While Figure has developed policies and procedures designed to assist in compliance with these
laws and regulations, no assurance is given that Figure’s compliance policies and procedures will be
effective.
Figure may be the target of malicious cyberattacks or may contain exploitable flaws in its underlying
code, which may result in security breaches, which could adversely affect its business and operating
results.
The structural foundations of Figure’s products and technology and other interfaces or applications
built or to be built upon them, are unproven. Provenance Blockchain, the origination and transfer of certain
Loans and other assets on Provenance Blockchain and other transactions on Provenance Blockchain may
not be secure and may not operate without interruption.
Moreover, Figure, Provenance Blockchain and the financial instruments using Provenance
Blockchain or Figure’s software (and any technology, including blockchain technology, on which they rely)
may also be the target of malicious attacks seeking to identify and exploit weaknesses in Provenance
Blockchain or Figure, which may result in the loss of access to data related to certain Loans and other assets
using Provenance Blockchain. Cyberattacks can include malware, computer viruses, or other significant
disruption of Figure’s information technology networks and related systems. Government agencies and
security experts have warned about growing risks of hackers, cyber-criminals and other potential attacks
targeting every type of information technology system.
Figure’s ongoing investments in technology infrastructure to increase security may not be
successful. As a result, there may be a number of attacks against Figure. Such attacks may adversely affect
Figure in the specific ways described above and thus may have a materially adverse impact on Figure’s
business and operating results.
Figure also uses software it develops to manage and maintain its products and services. These
systems are subject to damage or interruption from:
•

Power loss, computer systems failures and Internet, telecommunications or data network
failures;

•

Operator negligence or improper operation by, or supervision of, employees;

•

Physical and electronic loss of data or security breaches, misappropriation and similar
events;

•

Computer viruses;

•

Intentional acts of vandalism and similar events; and

•

Hurricanes, fires, floods and other natural disasters.
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The software developed by Figure is highly complex and may contain undetected errors or
vulnerabilities (some of which may only be discovered after the code has been used in a production
environment to deliver products and services). Any real or perceived errors, failures, bugs or other
vulnerabilities discovered in the code could have a material adverse effect on Figure. In such an event,
Figure may be required or may choose to expend additional resources in order to help correct any problem
arising from such errors, failures or bugs in such software.
Figure is vulnerable to risks, both foreseen and unforeseen, arising from the new and untested nature
of digital assets and blockchain technology.
Blockchain technology, which is sometimes referred to as “distributed ledger technology,” is a
relatively new, untested and evolving technology that represents a novel combination of several concepts.
The concept of originating, transferring, holding and managing assets on a blockchain platform is untested
and may not achieve market acceptance or widespread adoption.
As a result of the new and untested nature of blockchain technology, the use of blockchain in
connection with the origination, transfer, holding and managing of assets is vulnerable to risks and
challenges, both known and unknown, and thus could have a material adverse effect on Figure.
For instance, the operation of Provenance Blockchain will involve the processing, storage and
transmission of transactions and data. Cyberattacks on the network could result in the misappropriation of
this information, leading to material adverse impact with respect to the assets. These threats may come
from external factors such as governments, organized crime, hackers, and other third parties such as
outsource or infrastructure-support providers and application developers, or may originate internally from
an employee or service provider. Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage
computer systems change frequently and generally are not recognized until launched against a target, Figure
may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventive measures.
Provenance Blockchain, its services, and the transfer and storage of Loans and other assets on the
network may be interrupted or not fully secure, which may result in a loss of access of data related to the
assets on Provenance Blockchain. Hackers or other malicious groups or organizations may attempt to
interfere with Figure or Provenance Blockchain in a variety of ways, including, but not limited to, malware
attacks, denial of service attacks, consensus-based attacks, Sybil attacks, double-spend attacks, smurfing,
phishing and spoofing. Attacks of this nature, or other malicious acts that cannot currently be anticipated,
may materially and adversely affect Figure, and investors may lose all of their investment.
The effectiveness of countermeasures to threats has not generally been proven. Other challenges
may arise in the future.
Moreover, advances in cryptography and/or technical advances, such as the development of
quantum computing, could present risks to Provenance Blockchain by undermining or vitiating the
cryptographic consensus mechanism that underpins the blockchain protocols. Similarly, legislatures and
regulatory agencies could prohibit the use of current and future cryptographic protocols which could
materially adversely affect Figure.
Provenance Blockchain has been developed by Figure; its operation and further development of
Provenance Blockchain depends on the availability of key third-party technology personnel.
Provenance Blockchain and any related protocol, including technology and intellectual property
involved in the creation and operation of such protocol, was developed by Figure, and Figure is currently
the primary developer of Provenance Blockchain. It is anticipated that third-party development of
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Provenance Blockchain will begin to occur in the near future, and that Figure will cease to be the dominant
developer of Provenance Blockchain and its applications. There is no assurance that such third-party
development and other services will be provided with the same level of diligence or quality that has been
provided by Figure to date.
The reduced role of Figure as the primary developer of Provenance Blockchain, and the increased
role of third-party developers of Provenance Blockchain as set forth above could have a material adverse
effect on Figure.
Figure’s limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate its current business and future
prospects and may increase the risk of your investment.
Figure was formed January 10, 2018, and thus has a limited operating history, which makes it
difficult to evaluate its business and future prospects, including its ability to plan for and model future
growth. Figure has encountered and will continue to encounter risks and difficulties frequently experienced
by rapidly growing companies in constantly evolving industries, including the risks described in this
document. If Figure does not address these risks successfully, its business and operating results will be
adversely affected, and the fair market value of Figure’s common stock could decline. Further, because
Figure has limited historic financial data and Figure operates in rapidly evolving markets, any predictions
about Figure’s future revenue and expenses may not be as accurate as they would be if Figure had a longer
operating history or operated in a more predictable market.
Figure may need to raise additional capital, which may not be available on terms acceptable to Figure
or at all.
If Figure’s current funding is insufficient to support future operating requirements, Figure will need
to obtain additional debt or equity financing from the private or public capital markets. There can be no
assurance that such additional funding will be available on terms attractive to Figure, or at all. Figure’s
inability to obtain additional funding when needed could have a material adverse effect on Figure’s
business, financial condition and operating results. If additional funds are raised through the issuance of
equity securities, the ownership percentage of Figure’s then-current stockholders, including holders of
common stock, would be reduced. Furthermore, the equity securities may have rights, preferences or
privileges senior to those of Figure’s common stock. If Figure issues debt, the debt holders would have
rights senior to preferred and common stockholders to make claims on Figure’s assets and the terms of any
debt could restrict Figure’s operations. All of these events may materially and adversely affect the fair
market value of Figure’s common stock.
Figure’s financial statements are preliminary and unaudited and remain subject to further
adjustments and may not be a reliable indicator of future performance.
Figure’s audited financial statements for its fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 and for its fiscal
year ended December 31, 2020 and preliminary and unaudited financial statements for the period ended
September 30, 2021 have been made available to you. Figure’s financial statements provided may not be a
reliable indicator of future performance.
Future operations of Figure are based on uncertainties and other factors beyond the control of Figure
and are difficult to predict.
The financial condition and results of future operations of Figure are subject to known or unknown
risks and uncertainties, including, among other things:
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•

The risks and uncertainties relating to market demand and acceptance of products and
services and the related technology of Figure;

•

A dependence on strategic partners for development, commercialization and distribution
of the products and services of Figure;

•

The impact of the ongoing uncertainty in the U.S. and global finance markets;

•

The ability of Figure to obtain and enforce intellectual property protections on their
products and technologies;

•

The disruption to operations of Provenance Blockchain or Figure;

•

The responses of Figure to competition;

•

The ability of Figure to successfully complete platform development and expand the
platform of certain of their products and technologies;

•

The timing implementation, including any modification, of strategic operating plans by
Figure;

•

The uncertainty regarding the outcome or expense of any litigation brought against or
initiated by Figure; and

•

The risks and uncertainties associated with implementing the operating strategy of Figure.

Figure’s revenue growth rate in recent periods may not be indicative of future performance.
You should not consider Figure’s revenue growth rate in recent periods as indicative of its future
performance. You should not rely on Figure’s revenue for any prior quarterly or annual period as any
indication of its future revenue or revenue growth. If Figure is unable to maintain consistent revenue or
revenue growth it may be difficult to achieve and maintain profitability.
Figure has incurred operating losses in each year since its inception, and it may not achieve or
maintain profitability in the future.
Figure has a short operating history, and Figure has incurred significant expenses and generated
losses to date in connection with its organization, initial market launch efforts, research and development
of intellectual properties, expanded marketing efforts, financial asset supply chain development and
management, procurement and other related-business expenses. Due to its short operating history, Figure’s
financial resources are limited and could prove to be insufficient, and Figure may not successfully execute
its strategy, integrate its operation, market its products and otherwise execute its commercial strategies.
Any failure to increase Figure’s revenues as Figure grows its business could prevent Figure from achieving
or maintaining profitability or positive cash flow on a consistent basis. If Figure is unable to meet these
risks and challenges as it encounters them, Figure’s business, financial condition and operating results may
suffer.
Figure may not be able to sustain its revenue growth rate in the future.
Figure has experienced significant revenue growth in prior periods. The revenue growth of any
prior quarterly or annual period may not be a reliable indicator of Figure’s future performance. Figure’s
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growth rate depends on continuing to maintain returns in its asset and wealth management business and
developing and gaining traction in additional businesses on Provenance Blockchain, including digital loan
origination and servicing software, banking and payments solutions, cap table management, digital asset
transactions (including digital asset securities transactions on the Figure ATS), and digital funds services.
Many factors may contribute to declines in Figure’s growth rate, including higher market penetration,
increased competition, slowing demand for Figure’s products and services, a failure by Figure to continue
capitalizing on growth opportunities, and the maturation of certain of its businesses, among others. If Figure
does not gain traction in its additional businesses leveraging Provenance Blockchain, Figure’s business and
financial results may be adversely affected.
Figure faces intense competition and could lose market share to its competitors, which could
adversely affect Figure’s business, financial condition and operating results.
The online consumer finance industry and the other industries in which Figure competes are
increasingly competitive. Many competitors have significantly greater financial resources and may have
less expensive access to capital, and may offer a broader range of products, services or features, assume a
greater level of risk, have lower operating or financing costs, or have different profitability expectations
than Figure. For example, certain competitors may be able to offer lower rates to borrowers than Figure is
able to offer and/or structure their loan products in a manner that is more attractive to potential customers.
Additionally, some competitors may also be subject to less burdensome licensing and other regulatory
requirements.
If Figure does not offer, price and develop attractive products and services, it may not be able to
compete effectively against competitors and Figure’s business and results of operations may be materially
harmed.
If Figure is unable to develop and commercialize new products and services and enhancements to
existing products and services, its business may suffer.
The industries in which Figure competes are evolving rapidly and changing with disruptive
technologies and the introduction of new products and services. Figure has released new offerings and
enhancements of its existing products and services, including Provenance Blockchain 2.0. A key part of
Figure’s success depends on the ability to develop and commercialize these and other new products and
services and enhancements to existing products and services.
Figure incurs expenses and expends resources to develop and commercialize new products and
services, such as its digital loan origination and servicing software, banking and payments solutions, cap
table management, capital markets transactions, and digital funds services, and enhancements to existing
products and services, like Provenance Blockchain. However, Figure may not assign the appropriate level
of resources, priority or expertise to the development and commercialization of these new products, services
or enhancements. When Figure develops new technologies, products or enhancements, whether open source
or proprietary, Figure typically incurs expenses and expends resources upfront to develop, market, and
promote the new component. As a result, these new technologies, products, or enhancements, must achieve
high levels of market acceptance in order to justify the amount of Figure’s investment in developing and
bringing them to market. Figure could utilize and invest in technologies, products and services, including
those mentioned above, that ultimately do not achieve widespread adoption and, therefore, are not as
attractive or useful to customers as anticipated. Moreover, Figure may not realize the benefit of new
technologies, products, services or enhancements for many years. Further, new products and services may
not be profitable, and even if they are profitable, operating margins for some new products and businesses
may not be as high as the margins Figure has experienced historically.
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Figure’s new products, components or enhancements could fail to attain sufficient market
acceptance for many reasons in addition to those above, including:
•

Failure to predict market demand accurately;

•

Delays in releasing new products, services, or enhancements to the market;

•

Defects, errors, or failures;

•

Increased infrastructure costs to deliver new or enhanced products and services resulting
in greater costs than anticipated;

•

Ineffective distribution and marketing;

•

Complexity in the implementation or utilization of the new products, services, or
enhancements;

•

Negative publicity about performance or effectiveness;

•

Development or adoption of technologies or introduction of innovations by competitors
that make Figure’s platform less attractive to customers;

•

Poor business conditions for customers causing them to delay purchases; and

•

Reluctance of customers to purchase products or enhancements incorporating blockchain
technologies, cryptocurrencies, or digital assets.

If Figure is unable to develop and commercialize timely and attractive products and services, its
business may be adversely affected.
From time to time Figure realigns or introduces new business and sales initiatives; if it fails to
successfully execute and manage these initiatives, its business, results of operations, and financial
condition could be harmed.
As part of Figure’s efforts to accommodate its customers’ needs and demands and the rapid
evolution of technology, from time to time Figure evolves its business and sales initiatives, such as
realigning its development and marketing organizations, offering software as a service, and realigning its
internal resources in an effort to improve efficiency. Figure may take such actions without clear indications
that they will prove successful and, at times, Figure has been met with short-term challenges in the
execution of such initiatives. Market acceptance of any new business or sales initiative is dependent on
Figure’s ability to match its customers’ needs at the right time and price. Often, Figure has limited prior
experience and operating history in these new areas of emphasis. If any of Figure’s assumptions about
expenses or revenue from these initiatives proves incorrect, or Figure’s attempts to improve efficiency are
not successful, Figure’s actual results may vary materially from those anticipated, and its business, results
of operations, and financial condition could be harmed.
One or more of Figure’s competitors, or other third parties, may obtain patents or other protections
covering technology critical to the operation of Figure’s products, services and technology.
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A number of organizations are or may be working to develop systems using blockchain-related
technologies or other technologies that may be competitive with Figure’s technology. Some or all of these
organizations, including organizations that may have technology similar to Figure, have greater
technological expertise, experience with blockchain technologies and financial resources than Figure has,
and many of them may be attempting to patent technologies that may be competitive with or similar to
Figure’s technology, or attempting to reverse engineer Figure’s technology. For example, various
applications of blockchain technologies may individually or in combination be the subject of a U.S. or
foreign patent application.
Figure may ultimately compete with these alternative networks, which could negatively impact
Figure’s products and technology, including its loan servicing and information management software, and
may prevent the further development of Figure’s products and technology entirely. For example, if one or
more other persons, companies or organizations obtains a valid patent covering technology critical to
Figure’s products or technology, Figure may be unwilling or unable to license the technology on
commercially reasonable terms. As a result, it could become impossible for Figure’s products or technology
to operate, which could have a material adverse effect on Figure.
If Figure fails to effectively manage its growth, Figure’s business, financial condition and operating
results could be harmed.
Figure has grown rapidly since its inception and expects to continue to experience rapid growth in
the future. This growth has placed, and may continue to place, significant demands on Figure’s
management and its operational and financial infrastructure. Figure’s ability to manage its growth
effectively and to integrate new technologies, personnel and strategic priorities into its existing business
will require Figure to continue to expand its operational and financial infrastructure and to continue to
retain, attract, train, motivate and manage key employees. Continued growth could strain Figure’s ability
to develop and improve Figure’s operational, financial and management controls, enhance Figure’s
reporting systems and procedures, recruit, train and retain highly skilled personnel and maintain customer
and brand satisfaction. Additionally, if Figure does not effectively manage the growth of its business and
operations, the quality of its product and services could suffer, which could negatively affect its brand,
operating results and overall business. If Figure fails to achieve the necessary level of efficiency in Figure’s
organization as it grows, Figure’s business, financial condition and operating results could be harmed.
Figure’s future growth depends on the further acceptance of the internet and technology companies
as an effective platform for disseminating financial products and content.
Technology companies have gained in popularity as a platform for financial products and content
in recent years. However, many borrowers have limited experience in handling financial products and
content online, and some borrowers may have reservations about using online platforms. For example, users
may not find online content to be reliable sources of financial product information. The acceptance of
technology companies like Figure as an effective and efficient platform for financial products and content
is also affected by factors beyond Figure’s control, including negative publicity around online and mobile
consumer finance, the technology industry generally, and restrictive regulatory measures taken by
governments. If technology companies do not achieve adequate acceptance in the financial products market,
Figure’s growth prospects, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed.
Figure is not licensed to conduct a virtual currency business in New York and does not intend to
become licensed in any other state that may require licensing in the future.
Figure is not licensed to conduct a virtual currency business in New York or any other state. Figure
takes the position that the State of New York’s BitLicense Regulatory Framework does not apply to the
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origination, transfer, holding, securitization or enforcement of Loans on Provenance Blockchain or the
conduct of any other business on Provenance Blockchain. It is possible that the New York State Department
of Financial Services could disagree with this position. If Figure is deemed to be conducting an unlicensed
virtual currency business in New York, it could be subject to significant additional regulation and regulatory
consequences. This could lead to significant changes with respect to the operation or planned operation of
Figure’s activities on Provenance Blockchain and other issues and would greatly increase costs in creating
and facilitating transactions with respect to the Loans.
Currently, New York is the only state that requires a license to operate a virtual currency business,
but it is possible that other states may require licenses in the future. If additional states begin to regulate
virtual currency businesses as New York has, or impose other regulatory restrictions, and take the position
that Figure is operating a regulated virtual currency business, it could have a material adverse effect on
Figure’s ability to operate in those states, or for holders of Loans to engage in any activities related to Loans
in those states.
Any of these outcomes could materially adversely affect Figure.
Negative publicity and unfavorable media coverage could negatively affect Figure’s business.
Negative publicity about Figure’s industry or Figure, including with respect to the quality Figure’s
platform, effectiveness of the credit decisioning or scoring models, effectiveness of Figure’s collection
efforts, changes to Figure’s platform, loss of access to data related to and the ability to control assets on
Provenance Blockchain due to custodial error, fraudulent or accidental transactions, technology failures or
cyber-security breaches, Figure’s ability to grow its customer base at a rate expected by the market, Figure’s
ability to effectively manage and resolve customer complaints, Figure’s ability to manage customer
accounts in compliance with regulatory requirements which may not be clear, privacy and security
practices, use of loan proceeds by certain of Figure’s borrowers or other companies in its industry for illegal
purposes, litigation, regulatory activity and the experience of borrowers with Figure’s products or services,
even if inaccurate, could adversely affect its reputation and the confidence in, and the use of, its platform,
which could harm Figure’s business and operating results. Harm to Figure’s reputation can arise from many
sources, including employee misconduct, misconduct by partners or partners of partners, other online
mortgage loan providers, outsourced service providers or other counterparties, failure by Figure or its
partners to meet minimum standards of service and quality, inadequate protection of borrower information
and compliance failures and claims.
Figure relies on software that is highly complex, and it may contain undetected errors and may not
function properly.
The software underlying the services offered by Figure are highly complex and may contain
undetected errors or vulnerabilities, some of which may only be discovered after the code has been used in
a production environment to deliver products and services. This technology may malfunction because of
internal problems or as a result of cyberattacks or external security breaches or Figure might not be able to
successfully develop the technology. Any real or perceived errors, failures, bugs or other vulnerabilities
discovered in the relevant computer code could have a material adverse effect on Figure.
Figure’s software contains third-party open source software components, and failure to comply with
the terms of the underlying open source software licenses could restrict Figure’s ability to sell its
products.
Figure’s software contains software modules licensed to it by third-party authors under “open
source” licenses. Use and distribution of open source software may entail greater risks than use of third-
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party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or other
contractual protections regarding infringement claims or the quality of the code. Some open source licenses
contain requirements that a licensor make available source code for modifications or derivative works it
creates based upon the type of open source software it uses. If Figure combines its proprietary software
with such open source software in a certain manner, it could, under certain open source licenses, be required
to release the source code of its proprietary software to the public. This would allow Figure’s competitors
to create similar products with lower development effort and time and ultimately could result in a loss of
product sales for Figure.
Although Figure monitors its use of open source software to avoid subjecting its products to
conditions its does not intend, the terms of many open source licenses have not been interpreted by United
States courts, and there is a risk that these licenses could be construed in a way that could impose
unanticipated conditions or restrictions on Figure’s ability to commercialize its products. Moreover, Figure
cannot assure you that its processes for controlling its use of open source software in its products will be
effective. If Figure is found to have breached the terms of an open source software license, it could be
required to seek licenses from third parties to continue offering its products on terms that are not
economically feasible, to re-engineer its products, to discontinue the sale of its products if re-engineering
could not be accomplished on a timely basis, or to make generally available, in source code form, its
proprietary code, any of which could adversely affect its business, financial condition and operating results.
Figure’s loss of or failure to maintain relationships with strategic partners may materially and
adversely affect its business and results of operations.
Figure currently relies on a number of strategic partners in various aspects of Figure’s business.
For example, in terms of user acquisition, Figure acquires a significant portion of its borrowers through a
limited number of online channels from a limited number of strategic partners. Figure relies on certain data
partners in collecting credit information of borrowers for credit scoring, fraud detections, and handling
funds transfer and settlement. Figure anticipates it will continue to leverage strategic relationships with
existing strategic partners to grow its business while pursuing new relationships with additional strategic
partners.
Additionally, Figure’s ability to increase the number of Loans Figure can offer is dependent on key
financing partner relationships, and an elimination of credit facilities with such strategic partners or an
inability to secure additional financing facilities from other strategic partners may hinder Figure’s ability
to sell the inventory Figure originates and to maintain or grow its current business operations.
Pursuing, establishing and maintaining relationships with strategic partners requires significant time
and resources as does integrating third-party data and services with Figure’s system. Figure’s current
agreements with partners generally do not prohibit them from working with Figure’s competitors or from
offering competing services. Competitors may be more effective in providing incentives to Figure’s
partners to favor their products or services, which may in turn reduce the volume of Loans facilitated
through Figure’s platform. Certain types of partners may devote more resources to support their own
competing businesses. In addition, these partners may not perform as expected under Figure’s agreements
with them, and Figure may have disagreements or disputes with them, which could adversely affect Figure’s
brand and reputation. If Figure cannot successfully enter into and maintain effective strategic relationships
with strategic partners, Figure’s business will be harmed.
In addition, if any of Figure’s partners fails to perform properly, Figure cannot assure you that it will
be able to find an alternative in a timely and cost-efficient manner or at all. Any of these occurrences could
diminish the ability of Figure to operate its business, potential liability to borrowers and investors, inability
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to attract borrowers and investors, reputational damage, regulatory intervention and financial harm, which
could negatively impact Figure’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
Any significant system interruption or delays could result in a potential loss of users and adversely
impact any of Figure and its ability to provide services.
Figure relies on affiliate and third-party computer systems, broadband and other communications
systems and service providers in connection with the provision of services generally. Any interruptions,
outages or delays in Figure’s or its affiliates’ systems and infrastructures and third-party systems that they
use, or deterioration in the performance of these systems and infrastructures, could impair Figure’s ability
to provide services and process transactions. Figure may in the future experience system interruptions
caused by outages that make some or all systems or data unavailable or prevent Figure from efficiently
providing services.
Figure outsources its cloud infrastructure to Google Cloud Platform (“GCP”), which hosts Figure’s
loan servicing and information management software, and therefore is vulnerable to service interruptions
at GCP, which could impact the ability of users to access its services at any time, without interruption or
degradation of performance. Figure does not have control over the operations of the facilities of GCP that
it uses. GCP may terminate the agreement for its convenience at any time. In the event that the GCP service
agreements are terminated, or there is a lapse of service, interruption of Internet service provider
connectivity or damage to such facilities, Figure could experience interruptions as well as delays and
additional expense in arranging new facilities and services. Figure may also incur significant costs for using
an alternative cloud infrastructure provider or taking other actions in preparation for, or in reaction to,
events that damage the GCP services it uses. Figure primarily relies on GCP for cloud infrastructure, and
any disruption of or interference with its use of GCP could adversely affect its business and operating
results. Any negative publicity arising from these disruptions could harm Figure’s reputation and brand and
adversely affect Figure’s business.
Misconduct and errors by employees of Figure and third-party service providers, or by users and
developers on Provenance Blockchain, could materially harm Figure.
Figure and its affiliates are subject to many types of operational risk, including the risk of
misconduct and errors by employees, former employees, users and other third-party service providers. It
is not always possible to identify and deter misconduct or errors by employees, former employees, users or
third-party service providers, and Figure; the precautions taken to detect and prevent this activity, such as
encryption of user data, may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses. Any of
these occurrences could result in diminished ability on the part of Figure to operate its business, as well as
potential liability for Figure and regulatory intervention and financial harm, all of which could have a
material adverse effect on Figure.
The processing, storage, use and disclosure of personal data could give rise to liabilities as a result of
governmental regulation, conflicting legal requirements or differing applications of privacy
regulations.
Numerous federal, state and international laws address privacy, data protection and the collection,
storing, sharing, use, disclosure and protection of personally identifiable information and other user data.
Numerous states already have, and are looking to expand, data protection and privacy legislation, which
have required companies like Figure to consider solutions to meet legal and regulatory requirements as well
as the differing needs and expectations of members. For example, in June 2018, California enacted the
California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”), which became effective on January 1, 2020, and represents
a significant change to the privacy rights companies are required to grant to California residents. For
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example, the CCPA broadly defines personal information, gives California residents expanded privacy
rights and control over their personal information, and provides for civil penalties for companies that violate
the CCPA. Under certain circumstances, the CCPA also provides California residents a private right of
action if a company experiences a data breach that impacts the consumer’s personal information. Further
amendments to the CCPA may be made and guidance on how to comply with the CCPA may be issued that
could create new compliance obligations. The CCPA and other laws or regulations associated with the
enhanced protection of certain types of personal data could greatly increase Figure’s costs of providing
products and services or even prevent Figure from offering certain services in jurisdictions in which Figure
operates, which could in turn result in a material adverse effect on Figure.
The interpretation and application of many privacy and data protection laws are, and will likely
remain, uncertain (particularly with respect to blockchain applications), and it is possible that these laws
may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent with Figure’s existing data management
practices or product features. If so, in addition to the possibility of fines, lawsuits and other claims and
penalties, Figure could be required to fundamentally change its business activities and practices or modify
it is products and services, which could harm Figure’s business. In addition to government regulation,
privacy advocacy and industry groups may propose new and different self-regulatory standards that either
legally or contractually apply to Figure.
Figure’s failure, and the failure by the various third-party service providers and partners with which
Figure does business, to comply with applicable privacy policies or federal, state or similar international
laws and regulations or any other obligations relating to privacy, data protection or information security, or
any compromise of security that results in the unauthorized processing or release of personally identifiable
information or other user data, or the perception that any such failure or compromise has occurred, could
result in Figure being liable for damages suffered by individuals or other third parties (including Figure
being liable for acts or omissions of other controllers or processors of personal data), result in a loss of
members and/or result in fines and/or proceedings by regulatory or governmental agencies and members’
users, any of which could have a material adverse effect on Figure’s business, results of operations and
financial condition.
Any inability to adequately address privacy, data protection and data security concerns or comply
with applicable privacy, data protection or data security laws, regulations, policies and other obligations
could have a material adverse effect on Figure.
Figure may be significantly disrupted upon the occurrence of a catastrophic event.
Our business is highly automated and relies extensively on the availability of our network, our
internal technology systems and our websites. We also rely on hosted computer services from third parties
for services that we provide to our customers and computer operations for our internal use. The failure of
our systems or hosted computer services due to a catastrophic event, such as an earthquake, fire, flood,
tsunami, weather event, telecommunications failure, power failure, cyber attack, terrorism, war, or public
health crisis, like the recent COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic, could adversely impact our business,
financial results and financial condition. We have developed disaster recovery plans and maintain backup
systems in order to reduce the potential impact of a catastrophic event, however there can be no assurance
that these plans and systems would enable us to return to normal business operations. In addition, any such
event could negatively impact a country or region in which we sell our products. This could in turn decrease
that country’s or region’s demand for our products, thereby negatively impacting our financial results.
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Regulatory agencies and consumer advocacy groups are becoming more aggressive in asserting
“disparate impact” claims.
Antidiscrimination statutes, such as the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (the “ECOA”), prohibit
creditors from discriminating against loan applicants and borrowers based on certain characteristics, such
as race, religion and national origin. Various federal regulatory agencies and departments, including the
U.S. Department of Justice and CFPB, take the position that these laws prohibit not only intentional
discrimination, but also neutral practices that have a “disparate impact” on a group and that are not justified
by a business necessity.
These regulatory agencies, as well as consumer advocacy groups and plaintiffs’ attorneys, are
focusing greater attention on “disparate impact” claims. To the extent that the “disparate impact” theory
continues to apply, Figure may face significant administrative burdens in attempting to identify and
eliminate neutral practices that do have “disparate impact.” Figure faces the risk that one or more of the
variables included in Figure’s loan decisioning model may be invalidated under the disparate impact test,
which would require Figure to revise the loan decisioning model in a manner that might generate lower
approval rates or higher credit losses.
In addition to reputational harm, violations of the ECOA can result in actual damages, punitive
damages, injunctive or equitable relief, attorneys’ fees and civil money penalties, any of which could
adversely affect Figure’s business, financial condition and operating results.
Failure to protect Figure’s proprietary technology and intellectual property rights could
substantially harm its business and operating results.
The success of Figure’s business depends on its ability to protect and enforce its trade secrets,
trademarks, copyrights, patents and other intellectual property rights. Figure attempts to protect its
intellectual property under trademark, copyright and trade secret laws, and through a combination of
confidentiality procedures, contractual provisions and other methods, all of which offer only limited
protection.
Figure relies on its unpatented proprietary technology and trade secrets. Despite Figure’s efforts to
protect its proprietary technology and trade secrets, unauthorized parties may attempt to misappropriate,
reverse engineer or otherwise obtain and use them. The contractual provisions that Figure enters into with
employees, consultants, partners, vendors and customers may not prevent unauthorized use or disclosure
of its proprietary technology or intellectual property rights and may not provide an adequate remedy in the
event of unauthorized use or disclosure of its proprietary technology or intellectual property rights.
Moreover, policing unauthorized use of Figure’s technologies, products and intellectual property is
difficult, expensive and time-consuming, particularly in foreign countries where the laws may not be as
protective of intellectual property rights as those in the United States and where mechanisms for
enforcement of intellectual property rights may be weak. Figure may be unable to determine the extent of
any unauthorized use or infringement of its products, technologies or intellectual property rights.
From time to time and as new competitors enter the market, legal action by Figure may be necessary
to enforce its patents and other intellectual property rights, to protect its trade secrets, to determine the
validity and scope of the intellectual property rights of others or to defend against claims of infringement
or invalidity. Such litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could negatively
affect Figure’s business, operating results, financial condition and cash flows. If Figure is unable to protect
its intellectual property rights, Figure may find itself at a competitive disadvantage to others who need not
incur the additional expense, time and effort required to create the innovative products that have enabled
Figure to be successful to date.
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Assertions by third parties of infringement or other violations by Figure of their intellectual property
rights, or other lawsuits asserted against Figure, could result in significant costs and substantially
harm Figure’s business and operating results.
Technology and early stage companies frequently enter into litigation based on allegations of
trademark infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights. As Figure faces increasing
competition and gains an increasingly high profile, the possibility of intellectual property rights claims
against Figure grows. From time to time third parties may assert, and in the past have asserted, claims of
infringement of intellectual property rights against Figure. As the number of competitors in Figure’s market
increases, infringement claims may increase. Any claim of infringement, misappropriation or other
violation of intellectual property rights by a third party, even those without merit, could cause Figure to
incur substantial costs defending against the claim and could distract management from its business.
Additionally, Figure cannot be assured that it is not infringing or otherwise violating any third-party
intellectual property rights.
An adverse outcome of a dispute may require Figure to pay substantial damages including treble
damages if Figure is found to have willfully infringed a third party’s patents or copyrights; cease making,
licensing or using solutions that are alleged to infringe or misappropriate the intellectual property of others;
expend additional development resources to attempt to redesign its products or services or otherwise to
develop non-infringing technology, which may not be successful; enter into potentially unfavorable royalty
or license agreements in order to obtain the right to use necessary technologies or intellectual property
rights; and indemnify its partners and other third parties. Any damages or royalty obligations Figure may
become subject to, and any third-party indemnity Figure may need to provide, as a result of an adverse
outcome could harm its operating results. Royalty or licensing agreements, if required or desirable, may be
unavailable on terms acceptable to Figure, or at all, and may require significant royalty payments and other
expenditures. In addition, some licenses may be non-exclusive, and therefore Figure’s competitors may
have access to the same licensed technology. Any of these events could seriously harm Figure’s business,
financial condition and operating results.
Litigation in general, and intellectual property and securities litigation in particular, can be
expensive, lengthy and disruptive to normal business operations. Moreover, the results of complex legal
proceedings are difficult to predict. Responding to lawsuits is likely to be expensive and time consuming
and could divert management’s attention from Figure’s business. An unfavorable resolution of any lawsuit
could adversely affect Figure’s business, financial condition and operating results.
If Figure’s indirect subsidiary, Figure Lending LLC, breaches representations or warranties that it
made in its loan sales, warehouse facilities or securitizations, Figure’s financial condition could be
harmed.
Figure Lending LLC has sold certain Loans to a number of third-party purchasers, has financed
certain Loans with warehouse facilities and has sponsored and contributed certain Loans in asset-backed
securitizations. In connection with such sales, financings and securitizations, Figure Lending LLC makes
certain customary representations, warranties and covenants. If there is a breach of those representations
and warranties that materially and adversely affects the value of the subject Loans, Figure Lending LLC
may be required to either cure the breach, repurchase the affected Loans from the purchasing entity, replace
the affected Loans with other loans or make a loss of value payment, as the case may be. Any losses that
result could be material and have an adverse effect on Figure’s financial condition.
Figure Lending LLC may enter into similar transactions in the future and those transactions are
likely to entail similar and other substantial risks.
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In addition, federal and state securities laws impose significant liabilities on issuers of securities if
the related offering documents contain material misstatements of fact, or if the documents omit facts
necessary, in light of the circumstances as a whole, to prevent the documents from being misleading. These
liabilities can include rescission liability to the purchasers of the securities, as well as potential enforcement
liability that could give rise to civil money penalties. Securities litigation can be extraordinarily expensive
and protracted, and Figure Lending LLC is accused of misstatements or omissions in its offering documents,
Figure may face economic harms and management distractions regardless of the ultimate outcome of any
such litigation. Further, if Figure Lending LLC ultimately is adjudged to have actually made a material
misstatement or omission, Figure Lending LLC may be liable for the repayment of the purchase price of
the related securities, plus interest from the date of purchase. Any one or more of these events or
circumstances would have a material adverse impact upon Figure’s business, financial condition or results
of operations, and may make it more difficult or more expensive to undertake capital-raising efforts in the
future.
Figure may acquire other businesses which could require significant management attention, disrupt
Figure’s business, dilute stockholder value, and adversely affect Figure’s operating results.
As part of Figure’s business strategy, Figure may make investments in or acquire complementary
companies, services or technologies, including its announced merger agreement with Homebridge Financial
Services, Inc. in August 2021. Figure’s ability as an organization to acquire and integrate other companies,
services or technologies in a successful manner in the future is not guaranteed. Figure may not be able to
find suitable acquisition candidates, and Figure may not be able to complete such acquisitions on favorable
terms, if at all. When Figure does complete acquisitions, Figure may not ultimately strengthen its
competitive position or achieve its goals, and any acquisitions Figure completes could be viewed negatively
by Figure’s customers, partners and investors. In addition, if Figure is unsuccessful at integrating such
acquisitions, or the technologies associated with such acquisitions, into Figure, the revenue and operating
results of the combined company could be adversely affected. Any integration process may require
significant time and resources, and Figure may not be able to manage the process successfully. Figure may
not successfully evaluate or utilize the acquired technology or personnel, or accurately forecast the financial
impact of an acquisition transaction, including accounting charges. Figure may not successfully identify
the problems, liabilities or other shortcomings or challenges of an acquired company or technology,
including issues related to intellectual property, regulatory compliance practices, litigation, revenue
recognition or other accounting practices, or employee or user issues. Further, Figure may face transactionrelated lawsuits or claims, diversion of financial and management resources from existing operations or
alternative acquisition opportunities or difficulty retaining key employees or business partners of an
acquired company. Regulatory bodies may enact new laws or promulgate new regulations that are adverse
to an acquired company or business. Figure may also face risks and challenges retaining and integrating
employees of an acquired company, including aligning incentives and managing cultural differences
between employees of acquired companies and Figure’s existing employees, as well as managing costs
associated with eliminating redundancies or transferring employees on acceptable terms with minimal
business disruption. Figure may have to pay cash, incur debt or issue equity securities to pay for any such
acquisition, each of which could adversely affect Figure’s financial condition or the value of Figure’s
common stock. The sale of equity or issuance of debt to finance any such acquisitions could result in
dilution to Figure’s stockholders. The incurrence of indebtedness would result in increased fixed obligations
and could also include covenants or other restrictions that would impede Figure’s ability to manage its
operations.
If Figure fails to address the foregoing risks or other problems encountered in connection with past
or future acquisitions of companies, services or technologies and other assets, strategic investments or other
transactions, or if Figure fails to successfully integrate such acquisitions or investments, or if it is unable to
successfully complete such transactions for any reason, including due to inability to obtain regulatory
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approval of such transactions, or if such transactions do not meet Figure’s strategic objectives, Figure’s
business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.
Changes in accounting principles generally accepted in the United States may cause financial
reporting fluctuations and harm Figure’s operating results.
Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States are subject to interpretation by the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”), the SEC, and various bodies formed to promulgate
and interpret appropriate accounting principles. A change in these principles or interpretations could have
a significant impact on Figure’s reported operating results. For example, in May 2014, the FASB issued
Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, as amended, which
will supersede nearly all existing revenue recognition guidance. The adoption of the new revenue standard
may impact the timing of Figure’s revenue recognition, which could have a significant impact on Figure’s
financial results. Additionally, the adoption of new or revised accounting principles may require that Figure
make significant changes to Figure’s systems, processes and controls, which could negatively affect
Figure’s operating results.
If Figure’s estimates or judgments relating to its critical accounting policies are based on assumptions
that change or prove to be incorrect, Figure’s financial and operating results may be materially and
adversely affected.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in Figure’s consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Figure bases its estimates
on historical experience and on various other assumptions that it believes to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets,
liabilities, equity, revenue, and expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. Figure’s results
of operations could be adversely affected if Figure’s assumptions change or if actual circumstances differ
from those in its assumptions. Significant assumptions and estimates used in preparing Figure’s
consolidated financial statements include those related to revenue recognition, stock-based compensation,
and income taxes.
Risks Related to the Investment in Common Stock of Figure Technologies, Inc.
Figure’s common stock is subject to transfer restrictions that may prevent you from liquidating your
investment.
The shares of Figure’s common stock acquired by you upon the exercise of your stock options will
be subject to the transfer restrictions in the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (the “Plan”), the
applicable Stock Option Agreement and all attachments thereto, including but not limited to the applicable
exercise notice, and you will not be permitted to transfer or resell any of those shares except in compliance
therewith. Figure has a right of first refusal with respect to shares you acquire upon exercise of your stock
options which may be assigned to one or more assignees. To exercise its right of first refusal, Figure (or
its assignee) must purchase all (or, with your consent, less than all) of the shares that you proposed to
transfer on the same terms as you proposed to the transferee. In the event of (i) a registered public offering
of Figure’s common stock (a “Public Offering”) or (ii) a Change in Control (as defined in the Plan) in
which the successor corporation has equity securities that are publicly traded, Figure’s right of first refusal
under the Plan will terminate, but your exercised shares will be subject to a market stand-off provision (also
known as a “lock-up”) that will preclude you from selling your shares for up to 180 days after the effective
date of any registration statement of Figure filed under the Securities Act (or such other period as may be
requested by Figure or the underwriters to accommodate regulatory restrictions on (i) the publication or
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other distribution of research reports and (ii) analyst recommendations and opinions, including, but not
limited to, the restrictions contained in NYSE Rule 472(f)(4), or any successor provisions or amendments
thereto). In addition to the foregoing, in the future Figure intends to establish and adopt insider trading
policies which may prohibit sales that would be in violation of applicable securities laws, and Figure may
from time to time impose other restrictions on the sale of shares. As a result, various transfer restrictions
limit your ability to liquidate your investment.
There is no public market for Figure’s common stock.
Figure has not registered, and may never register, Figure’s common stock with the SEC in
connection with a Public Offering. No public trading market currently exists for Figure’s common stock,
and one may never develop. Even if the transfer restrictions described above lapse in the future, you may
not freely resell shares of Figure’s common stock unless Figure registers the sale of the shares with the SEC
or an exemption from the registration requirement under federal and state securities laws is available to
you. The lack of any public market for Figure’s common stock limits your ability to liquidate your
investment.
You might not be able to sell your shares of Figure’s common stock at or above your exercise price.
The market prices of the securities of technology companies have been, and may continue to be,
highly volatile. Further, while private sales of Figure’s common stock have occurred at varying prices,
Figure’s common stock has no public trading history. Factors affecting the value of Figure’s common stock
could include, but are not limited to:
●

Variations in Figure’s operating results;

●

Announcements of new products, services, strategic relationships or significant agreements
by Figure or by Figure’s competitors;

●

Figure’s ability to execute in accordance with expectations of others, including, without
limitation, with respect to Figure’s financial results, the introduction and sale of new
products, and the development of new products and new markets for existing products;

●

The level of demand for Figure’s product and services, including Figure’s ability to attract
and retain customers;

●

Price competition;

●

Recruitment or departure of key personnel;

●

Market conditions in the financial industries in which Figure competes and the economy
as a whole;

●

Adoption or modification of regulations, policies, procedures or programs applicable to
Figure’s business, including the loan industry;

●

Litigation involving Figure, Figure’s industries, or both;

●

Regulatory developments in the United States, foreign countries or both; and

●

Sales of large blocks of Figure’s stock.
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In addition, if the market for technology stocks or the stock market in general experiences a loss of
investor confidence, the value of Figure’s common stock could decline for reasons unrelated to Figure’s
business, operating results or financial condition. The value of Figure’s common stock might also decline
in reaction to events that affect other companies in the markets in which Figure competes even if those
events do not directly affect Figure.
Liquidation preferences held by Figure’s preferred stockholders could prevent Figure’s common
stockholders from receiving payment in an acquisition or other liquidation event.
Under Figure’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation, in the event of certain liquidation
transactions including an acquisition of Figure, Figure’s preferred stockholders are entitled to receive a
liquidation preference before any amount can be paid to Figure’s common stockholders. In the event Figure
is acquired or consummates some other liquidation event, under certain scenarios Figure’s common
stockholders may not receive any of the proceeds payable in that acquisition or other liquidation event if
the proceeds do not exceed the aggregate value of the liquidation preferences held by Figure’s preferred
stockholders.
The fair market value of Figure’s common stock as determined by Figure’s board of directors (or a
committee thereof) should not be regarded as an indication of any future market price.
The fair market value of Figure’s common stock is determined from time to time by Figure’s board
of directors (or a committee thereof) based on a third-party valuation report that takes into account a number
of factors, such as the prospects for Figure’s business and the industry in which Figure competes, an
assessment of Figure’s management, Figure’s present operations and Figure’s earnings prospects, the
present state of Figure’s development, the general condition of the securities markets, the prices and
earnings of similar securities of comparable companies, the preferential liquidation rights of holders of
Figure’s preferred stock and third-party sales of Figure’s common stock in private transactions. The fair
market value of Figure’s common stock as determined by Figure’s board of directors (or a committee
thereof) should not be regarded as an indication of any future market price for the common stock, nor is it
any guarantee of the price you might be able to realize for shares of common stock in the future.
Insiders have control over Figure, which could limit your ability to influence the outcome of key
transactions, including a change of control.
Figure’s directors, officers and each of its stockholders who own greater than 5% of Figure’s
outstanding capital stock and their affiliates, in the aggregate, beneficially own a majority of the outstanding
shares of Figure’s capital stock. As a result, these stockholders, if acting together, will be able to influence
or control matters requiring approval by Figure’s stockholders, including the election of directors and the
approval of mergers, acquisitions or other extraordinary transactions. They may also have interests that
differ from yours and may vote in a way with which you disagree and which may be adverse to your
interests. This concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a change
of control of Figure, could deprive Figure’s stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their
common stock as part of a sale of Figure and might ultimately affect the fair market value of Figure’s
common stock.
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Exhibit D
Financial Statements
(see attached)

D-1

Figure Technologies Inc.
Unaudited Financial Statements
Period Ending September 30, 2021

Figure - Income Statement (excl. PBI)
($ in thousands)

Quarterly
3/31/2021
Actual

Quarterly
6/30/2021
Actual

Quarterly
9/30/2021
Actual

Income Statement Summary
Revenue
Loan Origination and Sale Activities
Servicing Fees
Fair Value Adjustments and Interest Income
Other Revenue
Total Revenue

14,265
1,095
(2,276)
26
13,109

16,068
1,403
665
50
18,187

26,133
1,710
1,536
106
29,486

Expenses
General and Administrative
Sales and Marketing
Technology and Product Development
Operations and Loan Processing
Interest Expense
Total Expenses

8,708
10,522
2,308
4,028
1,759
27,326

10,511
13,566
3,074
4,578
1,443
33,173

13,475
16,023
4,704
5,572
1,991
41,765

Net Loss from Other Initiatives
Net Income (Loss)

(200)

(181)

(164)

(14,416)

(15,167)

(12,443)

Figure - Balance Sheet (excl. PBI)
($ in thousands)
Assets
Cash
Loans held for sale, at fair value
Loans held for investment, at fair value
Loan servicing asset, at fair value
Property, equipment and intangibles, net
Other Assets
Total Assets
Liabilities and Equity
Liabilities
A/P & accrued expenses
Remittances due to loan buyers
Secured borrowings
Deferred Rent
Total Liabilities

Quarterly
3/31/2021
Actual

Quarterly
6/30/2021
Actual

Quarterly
9/30/2021
Actual

93,536
59,792

246,296
78,615

276,430
112,350

6,120
20,231
25,217
204,896

9,159
23,423
21,601
379,093

10,377
29,165
22,246
450,569

12,546
50,653
30,809
544
94,552

17,317
57,031
34,629
527
109,504

23,744
71,029
44,747
509
140,029

Equity
Series seed preferred stock
Series A preferred stock
Series B preferred stock
Series C preferred stock
Series D preferred stock
Common stock
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total Equity

16,898
41,618
73,416
102,907
20,786

16,898
41,618
73,416
102,907
169,493
25,695

16,898
41,618
73,416
102,907
219,856
28,726

(145,280)
110,344

(160,438)
269,589

(172,881)
310,540

Total Liabilities and Equity

204,896

379,093

450,569

FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
AND
DECEMBER 31, 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Figure Technologies, Inc.

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Figure Technologies, Inc. and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated
balance sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to
the financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Marcum

LLP

n

One Montgomery Street

n

Suite 1700

n

San Francisco, California 94104

n

Phone 415.432.6200

n

Fax 415.432.6201

n

marcumllp.com

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of Figure Technologies, Inc. as of December 31, 2020 and
2019, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Report on Supplementary Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements
taken as a whole. The consolidating balance sheets and consolidating statements of operations on
pages 41–44 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the
financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from
and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial
statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of
the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the
financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our
opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial
statements taken as a whole.

San Francisco, California
May 7, 2021

FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, unless otherwise denoted)
December 31,

2020

2019

Assets
Cash

$

Restricted cash

93,899

$

147,269

5,768

689

Accounts receivable

800

2,348

Interest receivable

317

293

116,983

98,144

Loans held for sale, at fair value
Loans held for investment, at fair value

-

767

Loan servicing assets, at fair value

4,152

3,506

Prepaid expenses

2,660

3,629

Property & equipment, net

1,236

1,034

22,242

12,562

Investments

50

320

Other assets

209

Intangible assets, net

Total Assets

534

$

248,316

$

271,095

$

5,758

$

6,478

Liabilities and Equity
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Related party payable

6,440

-

Accrued expenses

4,893

3,251

Remittances due to loan buyers

37,164

15,496

Secured borrowings, net of issuance costs

24,248

46,236

Deferred rent
Notes payable, net of issuance costs
Total Liabilities
Equity
Series A convertible preferred stock, $0.00001 par value; 32,886,739 and 32,886,739
shares authorized, issued and outstanding (aggregate liquidation preference of
$41,791,000)
Series B convertible preferred stock, $0.00001 par value; 29,476,826 and 29,476,826
shares authorized, issued and outstanding, respectively (aggregate liquidation
preference of $73,589,000)
Series C-1 convertible preferred stock, $0.00001 par value; 504,081 and 504,081
shares authorized, issued and outstanding, respectively (aggregate liquidation
preference of $3,050,000)
Series C-2 convertible preferred stock, $0.00001 par value; 1,983,287 and 1,983,287
shares authorized, issued and outstanding, respectively (aggregate liquidation
preference of $15,000,000)
Series C convertible preferred stock, $0.00001 par value; 13,221,916 and 13,221,916
shares authorized, respectively, 11,238,629 and 11,238,629 shares issued and
outstanding, respectively (aggregate liquidation preference of $85,000,000)
Series Seed convertible preferred stock, $0.00001 par value; 16,103,128 shares
authorized, issued and outstanding (aggregate liquidation preference of $16,950,000)
Common stock, $0.00001 par value; 260,775,977 and 260,775,977 shares authorized,
respectively; 41,841,558 and 40,226,991 shares issued and outstanding, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total Figure Technologies Shareholders’ Equity
Noncontrolling interests
Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Member's Equity

558

264

49,376

21,839

128,437

93,564

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

263,618

254,092

(145,472)

(79,811)

118,146

174,281

1,733

3,250

119,879
$

248,316

177,531
$

271,095

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands)
For the year ended December 31,

2020

2019

Revenue
Origination fees

$

14,823

$

21,007

Servicing fees

2,830

719

Gain on sale of loans

9,009

12,676

10,366

8,570

165

3,798

21

46

Interest income
Fair value adjustment
Asset management fee revenue
Other revenue

106

30

37,320

46,846

General and administrative

39,303

22,117

Sales and marketing

39,518

61,570

8,524

5,175

10,774

7,316

Total Revenue
Expenses

Technology and product development
Operations and processing

7,288

7,158

Total Expenses

Interest expense

105,407

103,336

Operating Loss

(68,087)

(56,490)

-

270

(68,087)

(56,220)

(2,426)

(886)

Income from equity method investment
Consolidated Net Loss
Less: loss attributable to noncontrolling interests
Figure Technologies Net Loss

$

(65,661)

$

(55,334)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands, except share data)
Common Stock

41,198,041
-

-

48,989,867
29,476,826

-

59,181
73,415

(24,477)
-

Total Figure
Technologies
Shareholders’
Equity
34,704
73,415

-

-

504,081

-

3,050

-

-

-

1,983,287
11,238,629

-

15,000
84,866

(1,704,582)
733,532
-

-

-

-

298
1,088
(325)
16,262
1,391
(141)
7
-

-

92,192,690

-

-

-

92,192,690

Shares, Par
Value of
$0.00001
Balance - 12/31/2018
Issuance of Series B convertible preferred stock
Issuance of Series C-1 convertible preferred
stock
Issuance of Series C-2 convertible preferred
stock
Issuance of Series C convertible preferred stock
Issuance of restricted common stock, net of
shares forfeited
Exercises of stock options
Stock compensation expense
Hash grants
Hash private placement
Sale of interest in subsidiary
Hash auction purchase
Hash distributions
Net loss
Balance - 12/31/2019
Issuance of restricted common stock, net of
shares forfeited
Exercises of stock options
Stock compensation expense
Hash grants
Hash repurchase
Hash auction purchase
Hash distributions
Net loss
Balance - 12/31/2020

Preferred Stock
Shares, Par
Value of
$0.00001

Amount

40,226,991

$

(315,480)
1,930,047
41,841,558

$

Additional
Paid-in Capital

Amount

$

-

$

$

-

254,092

Accumulated
Deficit

$

1,028
6,290
2,692
(172)
(325)
13
$

263,618

Total Equity

-

34,704
73,415

3,050

-

3,050

-

15,000
84,866

-

15,000
84,866

(55,334)

298
1,088
(325)
16,262
1,391
(141)
7
(55,334)

12
422
3,556
183
(39)
2
(886)

298
1,100
97
19,818
1,574
(180)
9
(56,220)

(79,811)

$

-

(145,472)

174,281

$

1,028
6,290
2,692
(172)
(325)
13
(65,661)

(65,661)
$

Noncontrolling
Interest

$

118,146

3,250

$

17
1,047
(58)
(106)
9
(2,426)
$

1,733

177,531
1,028
6,307
3,739
(230)
(431)
22
(68,087)

$

119,879

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
For the year ended December 31,

2020

2019

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Consolidated net loss

$

(68,087)

$

(56,220)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortized deferred financing costs
Change in fair value of loan servicing asset
Net fair value adjustment
Loans held for sale
Principal payments on loans held for sale

7,112

2,518

687

209

(646)

(3,219)

(165)

(3,798)

(615,793)

(728,991)

30,046

10,236

567,073

639,945

Share-based compensation expense

5,423

1,097

Hash cost expense

3,739

-

270

(22)

1,548

(2,045)

Proceeds from loan sales

Income from equity method investment
Net change in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Interest receivable

(24)

(280)

Prepaid expenses

969

(2,943)

Other assets

325

(400)

Accounts payable

(720)

3,034

Related party payable

6,440

-

Accrued expenses

1,642

2,045

294

23

21,668

15,405

(38,199)

(123,406)

Deferred rent
Remittances due to loan buyers
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of property and equipment

(710)

(645)

Development and purchase of intangible assets

(15,400)

(10,138)

Proceeds from sale of loans held for investment

767

246

(15,343)

(10,537)

1,028
22
(230)
(431)

176,332
19,819
280
1,525
-

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from Preferred Stock, net of issuance costs of $0 and $263, respectively
Proceeds from Hash issuance, net of issuance costs of $0 and $181, respectively
Proceeds from employee option exercises
Sale of investment in subsidiary
Hash repurchase
Hash auction repurchase
Payment of deferred financing costs

(1,759)

(715)

Proceeds from secured borrowings

314,316

551,908

Repayments of secured borrowings

(335,977)

(506,685)

Proceeds from notes payable
Principal payments on notes payable

321,989

337,727

(293,707)

(315,382)
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
For the year ended December 31,

2020

2019

Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities

5,251

264,809

(48,291)

130,858

5,079

8

147,958

17,092

Net (decrease) increase in cash
Net (decrease) increase in restricted cash
Cash and restricted cash, beginning of year
Cash and restricted cash, end of year

$

99,667

$

147,958

Supplemental cash flow information
For the year ended December 31,
Cash paid for interest

2020
$

Cash paid for income taxes
Stock-based compensation capitalized to internal use software

2019
7,044

$

7,007

26

-

884

184

7
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019

NOTE 1 - NATURE OF OPERATIONS
Figure Technologies Inc. (the “Company”) is a privately held financial technology company,
founded in January 2018. Headquartered in San Francisco, California, the Company offers
consumer lending products that are originated, financed, serviced, sold and securitized
exclusively on blockchain in addition to providing investment management services and
solutions.
The Company is comprised of five wholly owned subsidiaries. Figure Lending, Corp offers
a suite of lending products to consumers, including a Home Equity Line of Credit
(“HELOC”), Student Loan Refinance (“SLR”) and Mortgage solutions. Figure Property
Corp. is a provider of customized home sale and lease-back solutions for homeowners.
Figure Asset Management LLC is a wealth management company that provides investment
management services. Figure Securities Inc. is an investment company, offering consumers
growth-oriented investment solutions. Figure Payments Corporation, previously known as
Figure Fiduciary, plans to develop a blockchain-based digital wallet with payment
capabilities and a closed-end credit offering, and had no active operations as of December
31, 2020.
PROVENANCE AND HASH
The Company also held a 75% and 76% controlling interest in Provenance Blockchain Inc
(“PBI”) as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. PBI acts as the
administrator of Provenance, a decentralized distributed stakeholder blockchain that acts as
a ledger, registry and exchange across financial assets and markets. Provenance uses Hash,
its native token, as a medium of exchange for participants to transact on the blockchain
protocol. Hash is also digital equity, representing membership interests in Provenance. Any
individual or entity that holds Hash is a member of PBI (“Members”). Provenance has a fixed
token stock of 100 billion Hash. Hash comes with voting rights for the governance of the
administrator and is non-dilutable. PBI owned 7% and 8% of the Hash token units at
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.
FIGURE REIT, INC
Figure REIT is a newly-formed Maryland corporation which was formed on October 5, 2020
that intends to qualify as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”), beginning with the taxable
year ending December 31, 2021. The purpose of Figure REIT is to acquire, manage and
finance, directly or through its subsidiaries, Mortgages originated by Figure Lending, Corp.
Figure REIT is advised by Figure Asset Management LLC who has contributed $1,000 in
exchange for all of Figure REIT’s voting common stock representing a 100% controlling
interest.
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019

NOTE 1 - NATURE OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)
FINTECH ACQUISITION LLC
Fintech Acquisition LLC (“Fintech Acquisition”) is a newly-formed Delaware Limited
Liability Company which was formed on December 14, 2020 with the intent to sponsor a
special purpose acquisition corporation (“SPAC”). On December 15, 2020, Fintech
Acquisition Corp. I (“FACA”), a newly-formed blank check company incorporated as a
Delaware Corporation, was established for the purpose of effecting a merger, capital stock
exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, reorganization or similar business combination
with one or more businesses. Fintech Acquisition is the sponsor of FACA.
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
The consolidated financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”).
Certain amounts in the prior year consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s presentation. These reclassifications have no effect on the
previously reported net loss or change in shareholders’ equity.
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly
owned subsidiaries and PBI. Noncontrolling interests in PBI are reported as a separate
component of consolidated equity from the equity attributable to the Company’s
stockholders. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated
in consolidation.
USE OF ESTIMATES
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates may change as new
information is obtained. Refer to the Loans Held for Sale and Loan Servicing Assets sections
below for discussion of material estimates relevant to the periods presented.
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
RECENTLY ISSUED AND ADOPTED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
In November 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting
Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-18 regarding the presentation of restricted cash in the
statement of cash flows. This amendment requires that a statement of cash flows explain the
change during the reporting period in the total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash or
restricted cash equivalents. The Company adopted ASU 2016-18 using the retrospective
transition method, as required. The adoption did not have an impact on the Company’s
financial position or results of operation.
REVENUE RECOGNITION
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09 related to revenue recognition. This guidance
introduces Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts
with Customers, and supersedes the revenue recognition requirements in ASC Topic 605,
Revenue Recognition. In 2016, the FASB issued final amendments clarifying implementation
guidance for principal versus agent considerations, identifying performance obligations,
assessing collectability, presenting sales taxes, measuring noncash consideration and certain
other transition matters. The clarification ASUs must be adopted concurrently with the
adoption of ASU 2014-09 (collectively, "ASC Topic 606"). The Company early adopted ASC
606 as of January 10, 2018 (Inception).
The Company’s primary sources of revenue are loan origination fees, gain on sale of loans
to third parties, servicing fees and interest related to the Company’s lending operations.
Origination fees are calculated as a percentage of the customer’s initial loan balance and are
recognized as revenue at a specified point in time, once a customer’s loan application has
been approved, a credit decision has been reached, and the loan has been funded and
processed. Gain on sales of loans are calculated as a percentage of the stated unpaid principal
balance for the loans being sold. Servicing fees and interest are generally recognized over the
life of a customer’s loan when services are performed, or amounts become due per terms
outlined in a customer’s loan agreement. Revenue recognition from these sources was not
impacted by the adoption of ASC Topic 606 and remains within the scope ASC Topic 825
and ASC Topic 860.
The Company’s asset management operations generate revenue within the scope of ASC
Topic 606. Revenue from asset management operations are in the form of investment
management fees and performance fees. Investment management fees are calculated
quarterly as a percentage of the total assets under management and are recognized after
services have been performed. Performance fees are calculated annually as a percentage of
the total net return for a portfolio in excess of a specified benchmark. Revenue is recognized
when performance obligations under the terms of a contract are satisfied and promised
services have been performed. In identifying performance obligations, judgement is not
required as the performance fee is paid annually based on actual performance of the fund
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
REVENUE RECOGNITION (CONTINUED)
against the benchmark. No provisions in the contract require repayment of any previously
collected management or performance fees. Costs associated to the revenues include salaries
and amortization of capitalized software and are recognized as during the period services are
performed.
PBI began earning revenue in the form of transaction fees paid by asset originators beginning
in 2019. As the administrator of the Provenance blockchain, PBI began charging entities a
fixed fee per loan to onboard financial assets onto the blockchain. Transaction fee revenue is
recognized after assets are onboarded onto the blockchain, when all performance obligations
under the terms of a contract are satisfied and promised services have been performed. The
blockchain acts as a ledger and registry for financial assets. There are no provisions in
contracts with customers that require refund of transaction fees for any loans removed from
the blockchain. Transaction fee revenue is included within other revenue in the consolidated
statement of operations. Refer to Note 13 for additional information related to amounts of
transaction fee revenue included within the consolidated statement of operations.
CASH
Cash includes deposits with federally insured financial institutions. The Company’s cash
balances routinely exceed insurable amounts.
RESTRICTED CASH
Restricted cash represents amounts held in collateral accounts with federally insured financial
institutions related to pledge requirements for several warehouse credit facilities and
operating leases for the Company’s corporate offices in San Francisco, California and New
York, New York. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had $5.8 million classified as
restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheet of which approximately $2.5 million is
pledged to JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, $2.0 million is pledged to Silvergate
Bank, $667 thousand is pledged to Columbia REIT – 650 California LLC and $504 thousand
is pledged to 5 Bryant Park Property Investors IV LLC. As of December 31, 2019, the
Company has $0.7 million classified as restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheet of
which approximately $0.7 million was pledged to Columbia REIT – 650 California LLC. The
following table presents cash and restricted cash as presented on the consolidated balance
sheet with a reconciliation to changes presented in the statement of cash flows for the year
ended:
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
RESTRICTED CASH (CONTINUED)
December 31, 2020 (in thousands)
Cash
As of December 31, 2019
Net increase (decrease)
As of December 31, 2020

$
$

147,269
(53,370)
93,899

Restricted
Cash
$
689
5,079
$
5,768

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Accounts receivable are stated as amounts due from third parties, net of an allowance for
doubtful accounts. The Company determines the allowance for doubtful accounts by
considering several factors, including the length of time accounts receivable are past due,
previous loss history, and the specific party’s current ability to pay its obligations. The
Company did not record an allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2020 or
December 31, 2019 as it expects to collect on all accounts receivable.
LOANS HELD FOR SALE
Loans held for sale consist of HELOC, SLR and Mortgage loans originated by the Company
that it intends to sell. The HELOC and Mortgage loans are secured by first or junior position
liens on underlying customer properties. The Company carries the loans held for sale and
interest rate lock commitments (“IRLCs”) related to Mortgage loans held for sale at fair value
as the fair value option has been elected. Any changes in fair value are included in results of
operations as net fair value adjustment. Loan origination fees are included in net revenues
and related costs such as title and recording fees are recognized in operations and loan
processing expenses when incurred. Refer to the Loans Held for Sale section under the Fair
Value of Financial Instruments section below for discussion of how fair value is determined.
The following tables present loans held for sale by product type and a reconciliation of the
principal balance outstanding to fair value for the year ended:
December 31, 2020 (in thousands)
Product
HELOC
SLR
Mortgage
IRLCs
Total

Principal
balance
$
82,668
108
30,094
$
112,870

Net fair value
adjustment
$
2,507
853
753
$
4,113

Fair value
$

$

85,175
108
30,947
753
116,983
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
LOANS HELD FOR SALE (CONTINUED)
December 31, 2019 (in thousands)
Product
HELOC
SLR
Mortgage
IRLCs
Total

Principal
balance
$
93,124
1,265
$
94,389

Net fair value
adjustment
$
3,742
13
$
3,755

Fair value
$

$

96,866
1,278
98,144

LOAN SERVICING RIGHTS
The Company routinely sells loans that it originates with servicing rights retained. Loan
servicing includes various activities including account maintenance, collections, processing
payments from borrowers, and distributions to investors. In accordance with ASC 860,
Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets, a servicing asset is recognized when the benefits
of servicing are determined to be greater than adequate compensation for the servicing
activities performed by the Company. The fair value of the servicing assets is recognized at
the time of sale in determining the gain on sale of loans. The Company carries the servicing
rights at fair value. Any changes in fair value are included in results of operations as a net
fair value adjustment. No servicing asset or liability is recorded if the amounts earned
represent adequate market compensation. Loans held for sale with underlying servicing
rights retained had total outstanding principal of $101.2 million and $94.2 million at
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
SERVICING REVENUE
Servicing revenue consists of income from the Company’s third-party servicing portfolio,
which includes loans associated with arrangements in which the Company owns the servicing
rights. Contractual servicing fees related to arrangements in which the Company owns the
servicing rights are generally based upon a percentage of the unpaid principal balance of the
related collateral and are recorded when earned, which is generally upon collection of
payments from borrowers.
REMITTANCES DUE TO LOAN BUYERS
The Company is a servicer of loans sold to third parties and is responsible to remit the
collection of payments from borrowers to the third parties. The company recognizes a liability
for the amount to be remitted which includes principal and interest, less the Company’s
servicing fee at the time payments from borrowers are collected.

13

FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
The Company accounts for transfers of financial assets as sales when it has surrendered
control over the transferred assets. Control is generally considered to have been surrendered
when the transferred assets have been legally isolated from the Company, the transferee has
the right to pledge or exchange the assets without any significant constraints, and the
Company has not entered into a repurchase agreement, does not hold significant call options
and has not written significant put options on the transferred assets.
The Company recognizes a gain or loss on the sale of financial assets by comparing the net
sales proceeds (including the fair value of any servicing asset or liability, the fair value of
any IRLCs, and recourse obligation recognized) to the carrying amount of the assets sold.
Transfers of financial assets that do not qualify for sale accounting are reported as secured
borrowings. Accordingly, the related assets remain on the Company’s consolidated balance
sheet and continue to be reported and accounted for as if the transfer had not occurred. Cash
proceeds from such transfers are included within secured borrowings, net of issuance costs
on the consolidated balance sheet, with related interest expense recognized over the life of
the related assets.
INVESTMENTS
The Company holds a 22.5% member’s interest in Reflow Services LLC (“Reflow”). The
investment is accounted for in accordance with the equity method of accounting and is
included in investments in the consolidated balance sheet. The change in the Company’s
share in Reflow’s equity is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations as nonoperating income (loss).
FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction with market participants. The carrying amounts of certain
of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash, accounts receivable and accounts
payable, are carried at cost, which approximate their fair value due to their short maturities.
The Company uses ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, which includes a three-tier fair value
hierarchy used to prioritize the inputs used in measuring fair value. The hierarchy gives the
highest priority to unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. A financial instrument’s level within
the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair
value measurement. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:
Level 1 — Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Level 2 — Significant other observable inputs (e.g., quoted prices for similar items in active
markets, quoted prices for identical or similar items in markets that are not active, inputs
other than quoted prices that are observable such as interest rate and yield curves, and
market-corroborated inputs).
Level 3 — Inputs that are unobservable in the market but reflective of the Company’s
assumptions about what market participants would use to price the asset or liability. The
inputs are developed based on the best information available in the circumstances, which
might include the Company’s own data. Valuation techniques include discounted cash flow
models and similar techniques.
The accounting guidance concerning fair value allows the Company to elect to measure
financial instruments at fair value and report changes in fair value through results of
operations. This election can only be made at certain specified dates and is irrevocable once
made. When developing fair value measurements, the Company maximizes the use of
observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs.
The following table presents additional information about the Company’s Level 3 loans held
for investment, loans held for sale, and loan servicing assets measured at fair value on a
recurring basis for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2018
Transfers into Level 3
Purchases
Issuances
Sales
Principal payments and retirements
Transfers out of Level 3
Change in fair value recorded in earnings
Balance at December 31, 2019
Purchases
Issuances
Sales
Principal payments and retirements
Transfers out of Level 3
Change in fair value recorded in earnings
Balance at December 31, 2020

Loans held for
investment
$
1,013
(246)
$
767
(767)
$
-

$

$

$

Loans held for
sale
15,536
728,991
(639,945)
(10,236)
3,798
98,144
615,793
(567,073)
(30,046)
165
116,983

Loan servicing
assets
$
287
4,967
(1,503)
(245)
$
3,506
4,716
(3,500)
(570)
$
4,152

LOANS HELD FOR SALE

HELOC loans held for sale as of December 31, 2020 are measured at estimated fair value
using a discounted cash flow valuation methodology, more specifically a residential
15
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
LOANS HELD FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

mortgage cash flow model which incorporates inputs and assumptions such as discount rates,
default rates, scheduled principal and interest collections for future cash flows, and voluntary
prepayments. Default rates are calculated for the assumption when a loan becomes and
remains delinquent through to when a loan is disposed. Characteristics of each loan is
considered for default rates which include the borrowers credit score, borrower’s previous
bankruptcy history, current delinquency status, and lien status. Voluntary prepay rates
consider similar characteristics but also includes the interest rate charged to the borrower.
Voluntary prepay rates pertain to assessing payment in full and not curtailments.
The following table presents quantitative information about the significant unobservable
inputs used for the Company’s Level 3 fair value instruments for HELOC loans held for sale
at December 31, 2020:
Discount rate
Voluntary prepayment rate
Delinquency rate

Minimum
4.89%
23.83%
2.15%

Maximum
5.40%
26.23%
2.51%

Weighted average
5.15%
25.03%
2.33%

Mortgage loans held for sale are measured at estimated fair value using a matrix pricing
valuation methodology, which incorporates inputs and assumptions such as rate sheets, loanlevel price adjustments (LLPAs), and servicing rights retention. Rate sheets are obtained from
active purchaser publications, which list the prices at which they are willing to purchase loans
which meet the base criteria such as interest rate and time to close the sale to the purchaser.
LLPAs represent adjustments to the price to be paid for any particular loan. Characteristics
of each loan is considered for LLPAs which include the borrower’s credit score, loan-tovalue ratio, loan term, property type, and interest rate features. All conforming mortgage
loans assumed that mortgages would be sold servicing retained while all jumbo mortgage
loans assumed that mortgages would be sold servicing released.
The following table presents quantitative information about the significant unobservable
inputs used for the Company’s Level 3 fair value instruments for mortgage loans held for
sale at December 31, 2020:
Rate sheet price
LLPAs
Servicing value

Minimum
103.22%
(0.82)%
0.42%

Maximum
103.32%
(0.82)%
0.45%

Weighted average
103.27%
(0.82)%
0.43%

IRLCs held for sale are measured at estimated fair value using a matrix pricing valuation
methodology, which incorporates inputs and assumptions such as gain on sale, origination
fees, underwriting fees, and probability to close. Since loan sale prices are generally set ahead
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
LOANS HELD FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

of time and these timelines are generally short, no time value of money is necessary. The
probability to close represents the Company’s historical closing experience as well as market
research.
The following table presents quantitative information about the significant unobservable
inputs used for the Company’s Level 3 fair value instruments for IRLCs held for sale at
December 31, 2020:
Gain on sale
Origination fees
Underwriting fees
Probability to close

Minimum
2.46%
0.25%
(0.38)%
52.4%

Maximum
2.59%
0.25%
(0.38)%
61.3%

Weighted average
2.52 %
0.25%
(0.38)%
56.85%

LOAN SERVICING ASSETS

Loan servicing assets are measured at estimated fair value using a discounted cash flow
valuation methodology, more specifically a residential mortgage cash flow model which
incorporates inputs and assumptions such as discount rates, default rates, scheduled principal
and interest collections, and voluntary prepayments. Default rates are calculated for the
assumption when a loan becomes and remains delinquent through to when a loan is disposed.
Characteristics of each loan are considered for default rates which include the borrower’s
credit score, borrower’s previous bankruptcy history, current delinquency status, and lien
status. Voluntary prepay rates consider similar characteristics but also includes the interest
rate charged to the borrower. Voluntary prepay rates pertain to assessing payment in full and
not curtailments. Cash flows related to loan servicing assets in the valuation model represent
the
difference between the contractual servicing fees charged to investors and an estimated
market servicing fee required by a third-party. Since contractual servicing fees are generally
based on the monthly unpaid principal balance of the underlying loans, the expected cash
flows in the model incorporate industry estimates of net losses and prepayments.
The following table presents quantitative information about the significant unobservable
inputs used for the Company’s Level 3 fair value instruments for servicing assets at December
31, 2020:
Discount rate
Voluntary prepayment rate
Delinquency rate

Minimum
10.00%
26.17%
2.03%

Maximum
12.00%
29.20%
2.38%

Weighted average
10.86%
27.63%
2.20%
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
ITEMS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE ON A RECURRING BASIS
The following table summarizes the assets and liabilities in each level of the fair value
hierarchy (in thousands). This table excludes cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable,
as these financial instruments are highly liquid or short-term in nature and as a result, their
carrying amounts approximate fair value.
December 31, 2020
Assets
Loans held for sale
Loan servicing assets

Level 1
$
-

Level 2
$

-

$

-

$

Level 3
116,983
4,152

December 31, 2019
Assets
Loans held for sale
Loans held for investment
Loan servicing assets

Level 1
$
-

Level 2
$

Level 3
98,144
767
3,506

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization are computed
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:
Asset Category
Computer Equipment
Fixtures and Furniture
Leasehold Improvements

Estimated Useful Life
3 years
5 years
Lesser of asset life or term of lease

Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense when incurred and significant renewals and
betterments are capitalized. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and
related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or
loss is reflected in operations. Please refer to the Long-Lived Assets and Intangible Assets
with Definite Lives section below for impairment considerations of property and equipment.
INTERNAL USE SOFTWARE
The Company capitalizes costs incurred in connection with developing internal-use software.
Costs are capitalized during the application development stage relating to the development
of, or substantial enhancements to, websites, applications, and databases when the
development efforts are successfully completed, and it is probable that the project will be
completed, and the software will be used as intended. Amortization is computed using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the asset, as follows:
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
INTERNAL USE SOFTWARE (CONTINUED)
Asset Category
Internal use software

Estimated Useful Life
3 years

Costs incurred prior to meeting these criteria, together with costs incurred for training and
maintenance, are charged to expense as incurred. Costs related to preliminary project
activities and post implementation activities are also charged to expense as incurred.
INDEFINITE-LIVED INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Indefinite-lived intangible assets are comprised of the value of the Company’s trademarks
and other intellectual property, for which applications are pending at December 31, 2020.
The Company will begin to amortize intangible assets related to trademarks and intellectual
property over an expected useful life when pending applications are approved.
LONG-LIVED ASSETS AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH DEFINITE LIVES
Long-lived assets include property and equipment and intangible assets with definite lives.
Intangible assets with definite lives include the Company’s internal-use software, trademarks
and other intellectual property for which applications have been approved, and domain
names. Amortization of definite-lived intangible assets is recorded on the straight-line basis
over their estimated lives.
Long-lived assets are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If the carrying value of a
reporting unit is greater than its fair value, an impairment charge is recorded for the
difference.
In the fourth quarter of 2020 and 2019, the Company performed reviews of impairment
triggering events for long-lived assets and determined that triggering events had not
occurred. The Company did not record any impairment of long-lived assets in 2020 or 2019.
SALES AND MARKETING COSTS
Sales and marketing costs are expensed as incurred. Sales and marketing expense for the
years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were $39.5 million and $61.6 million, respectively.
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
The Company accounts for qualifying business combinations under the acquisition method
of accounting in accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations, where the total purchase
price is allocated to the tangible and identified intangible assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based on their estimated fair values. The purchase price is allocated using the
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
information currently available, and may be adjusted, up to one-year from the acquisition
date, after obtaining more information regarding, among other things, asset valuations,
liabilities assumed and revisions to preliminary estimates.
LEASES
The Company analyzes leases at the inception of each agreement for classification as either
an operating or capital lease. Leases with stated future rent increases are recognized as rent
expense on a straight-line basis, with deferred rent established on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet. Refer to the Operating Lease section of Note 16 for future
minimum payments under operating lease agreements.
INCOME TAXES
The Company uses the asset and liability method for accounting for income taxes. Under this
method deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between
the financial statement carrying amount and the tax bases of the assets and liabilities using
enacted tax rates that will be in effect in the years the differences are expected to reverse.
The Company must assess the likelihood that the resulting deferred tax assets will be realized.
A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than not that some or all deferred
tax assets will not be realized. Due to the lack of earnings history, the net deferred tax assets
have been fully offset by a valuation allowance.
The Company recognizes benefits of uncertain tax positions if it is more likely than not that
such positions will be sustained upon examination based solely on their technical merits, as
the largest amount of benefit that is more likely than not to be realized upon the ultimate
settlement. The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to the
underpayment of income taxes as a component of income tax or benefit.
STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
Stock-based awards granted to the Company’s employees are principally incentive stock
options (“ISOs”). ISOs are granted to employees for a fixed number of shares with an exercise
price equal to the fair value of the underlying shares at the date of grant. Each stock-based
award is subject to service-based vesting, where a specific period of continued employment
must pass before an award vests.
Stock-based awards granted to non-employees are principally non-qualified stock options
(“NSOs”). NSOs are granted to non-employees for a fixed number of shares with an exercise
price equal to the fair value of the underlying shares at the date of the grant. Each stock-based
award is subject to service-based vesting, where a specific period of service must pass before
an award vests.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED)
PBI granted Hash to nodes (“Nodes”) who host, through a third-party cloud service provider,
smart contracts for the Provenance blockchain. PBI has also granted Hash to certain strategic
investors and an employee to help support specific objectives with the Provenance
blockchain. Hash grants to Nodes, strategic investors and the employee are considered stockbased award transactions. Grants are measured at fair value on the grant date and the value is
expensed ratably over the vesting term. The fair value of each grant is estimated using a
weighted valuation approach which considered replacement cost and historical trading
history.
The Company recognizes as an expense, the non-cash compensation for all stock-based
awards. Forfeitures are recognized when they occur. The Company early adopted ASU 201807, which aligns the accounting treatment for share-based awards for employees and nonemployees, as of January 10, 2018 (Inception). Awards are measured at fair value on the
grant date and the value is expensed ratably over the vesting term. The fair value of each
stock option award is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
NOTES PAYABLE
The Company has entered into several secured warehouse credit facilities with commercial
banks and a trust which allows the Company to temporarily pledge loans that it originates to
the facility in exchange for cash. Refer to Note 8 for additional information on each of the
warehouse credit facilities.
SECURED BORROWINGS
The Company has entered into several arrangements that do not qualify as a loan sale which
allows the Company to borrow against loans that it originates. These borrowings are secured
by loans held for sale and are subject to contractual maturity dates specified within the
agreements. Refer to Note 9 for additional information on secured borrowing.
DEBT ISSUANCE COSTS
The Company records debt issuance costs related to line-of-credit agreements as a direct
deduction from the carrying amount of the related liability and amortizes the cost ratably over
the term of the agreement.
RELATED PARTY PAYABLE
The Company has a related party payable related to cash received for advanced subscriptions
to one of the funds advised by Figure Asset Management. LLC. Refer to Note 3 below for
additional information regarding the related party payable.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
CONSOLIDATION OF VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES
A variable interest entity (VIE) is a legal entity that has either a total equity investment that
is insufficient to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support or
whose equity investors lack the characteristics of a controlling financial interest.
The Company’s variable interests arises from contractual, ownership or other monetary
interest in the entity, which change with fluctuations in the fair value of the entity’s net assets.
A VIE is consolidated by its primary beneficiary, the party that has both the power to direct
the activities that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance, and the
obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits of the VIE that could potentially
be significant to the VIE. The Company consolidates a VIE when it is deemed to be the
primary beneficiary. The Company assesses whether or not it is the primary beneficiary of a
VIE on an ongoing basis.
NOTE 3 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Company performs certain back office and support services, including accounts payable
and payroll administration services, for Reflow. The services are performed pursuant to terms
outlined in a shared services agreement between the entities. As of December 31, 2020, and
December 31, 2019, the Company has accounts receivable totaling $0.2 million and $0.2
million from Reflow, respectively. Income derived from the Company’s investment in
Reflow for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $0 and $270 thousand,
respectively. Income from the equity method investment in Reflow is included in the
consolidated statements of operations.
On December 8, 2020, the Company entered into a revolving credit agreement with Reflow
Fund, LLC (“Reflow Fund”), a fund managed by Reflow. The Company provided Reflow
Fund the ability to draw up to $10 million in loans available through December 31, 2020.
The loan was made available so that Reflow Fund could better meet mutual fund demand for
capital redemptions. Interest is accrued on any draw amount at a rate equal to the one-month
LIBOR plus 3% at the time a draw is made. On December 10, 2020, Reflow Fund drew down
the full $10 million available through the revolving credit agreement and subsequently repaid
the loan in full including $12 thousand of accrued interest on December 24, 2020 which the
Company recognized as interest income in the consolidated statement of operations.
The Company receives cash for advanced subscriptions to Figure World Equity Fund LP, a
fund that the Company is the advisor to through wholly owned subsidiary Figure Asset
Management. As of the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, amounts received for
advanced subscriptions to the Figure World Equity Fund LP were $6.4 million and $0,
respectively.
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NOTE 4 – DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN
The Company has established a discretionary retirement plan under the provisions of Section
401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Employees are eligible to enroll in the plan upon the
date of hire. Under the defined contribution plan, participants may elect to defer a portion of
their salaries, subject to the statutory limitations. The Company’s contributions to the plan
are at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The Company did not make any contributions
to the plan during the years ended December 31, 2020 or 2019.
NOTE 5 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):
Computer and Office Equipment
Furniture and Fixtures
Leasehold Improvements
Property and Equipment, Gross
Less: accumulated depreciation
Property and Equipment, Net

December 31, 2020
$
935
690
560
2,185
(949)
$
1,236

Computer and Office Equipment
Furniture and Fixtures
Leasehold Improvements
Property and Equipment, Gross
Less: accumulated depreciation
Property and Equipment, Net

December 31, 2019
$
715
537
223
1,475
(441)
$
1,034

Depreciation expense amounted to $0.5 million and $0.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
NOTE 6 –INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The balance of intangible assets, net is as follows (in thousands):
2020
Intangible assets with indefinite lives
Intangible assets with definite lives, net of accumulated
amortization
Total Intangible Assets, Net

2019

$

126

$

165

$

22,116
22,242

$

12,397
12,562
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NOTE 6 –INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
The balance of intangible assets with definite lives is as follows (in thousands):

Domain
Trademark
Internal use software
Balance at December 31, 2020

Domain
Trademark
Internal use software
Balance at December 31, 2019

Estimated Useful
Life
15 Years
10 Years
3 Years

Estimated Useful
Life
15 Years
10 Years
3 Years

Cost
$

220
258
30,779
$ 31,257
Cost
$

220
234
14,480
$ 14,934

Accumulated
Amortization
$
40
46
9,055
$
9,141

Carrying
Amount
$
180
212
21,724
$
22,116

Accumulated
Amortization
$
25
19
2,493
$
2,537

Carrying
Amount
$
195
215
11,987
$
12,397

Amortization of intangible assets with definite lives is computed on the straight-line basis
and, future amortization is estimated to be as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31, 2021
Year Ending December 31, 2022
Year Ending December 31, 2023
Year Ending December 31, 2024
Year Ending December 31, 2025
Thereafter
Carrying Amount of Intangible Assets with Definite Lives at December 31, 2020

Amortization
Expense
$
9,545
8,165
3,779
396
40
191
$
22,116

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company capitalized $16.3 million
and $9.8 million of costs associated with the development of internal-use software related to
the Company’s lending platform, respectively. The Company amortizes internal-use
software using the straight-line method over an estimated useful life of 3 years. Amortization
expense amounted to $6.6 million and $2.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019, respectively. Internal use software is included in intangible assets, net in the
consolidated balance sheet.
NOTE 7 – BUSINESS COMBINATION
On February 15, 2018, the Company purchased Cabezon Investment Group LLC, a related
party (“Cabezon”), for aggregate cash consideration of $0.1 million. The acquisition was
accounted for as a business combination in accordance with ASC 805 and the consideration
paid by the Company was allocated to Cabezon’s sole asset, custom portfolio tracking
software, which was developed internally and is included in intangible assets, net in the
consolidated balance sheet. The custom portfolio tracking software is being amortized over
an expected useful life of three years.
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NOTE 8 – NOTES PAYABLE
In May 2019, the Company entered into a secured warehouse credit facility (the “facility”)
with a commercial bank as administrative agent and a national banking associate as collateral
trustee. The warehouse credit facility allows the Company to temporarily pledge loans that it
originates to the facility in exchange for cash. The trustee will advance an amount equal to
70 to 90% of the pledged loans unpaid principal balance through issuing a variable funding
note. The facility contains certain covenants. As of December 31, 2020 the Company was in
compliance with all applicable covenants under the agreement.
The revolving period to issue advances under the note is through May 1, 2021 (the “revolving
period”). The maximum note balance available to be issued through the facility is $1 billion
and has a maturity date of May 1, 2023. Variable funding notes bear interest at an annual
benchmark rate of LIBOR plus a spread of 5.75% which was 6.09% as of December 31, 2020.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had no advances under the note payable outstanding
under the warehouse facility. As of December 31, 2019 the Company had $21.8 million of
advances under the note payable, net of issuance costs, outstanding under the warehouse
facility with collateral consisting of loans held for sale at fair value of $31.9 million.
Issuance costs associated with the facility were $876 thousand which is amortized as interest
expense over the revolving period. Interest expense associated with the issuance costs of the
facility for the year ended December 31, 2020 and year ended December 31, 2019 were $451
thousand and $209 thousand, respectively. Current year interest expense associated with the
issuance costs of the facility is included in “Interest expense” in the Consolidated Statement
of Operations. Unamortized issuance costs of $216 thousand are included in “Note payable,
net” in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2020.
In June 2020, the Company entered into a secured warehouse credit facility (the “facility”)
with a commercial bank as administrative agent and a federal savings bank as collateral
trustee. The warehouse credit facility allows the Company to temporarily pledge loans that it
originates to the facility in exchange for cash. The trustee will advance an amount equal to
75% of the pledged loans unpaid principal balance through issuing a variable funding note.
The facility contains certain covenants. As of December 31, 2020 the Company was in
compliance with all applicable covenants under the agreement.
The availability period to issue advances under the note is through June 16, 2023 (the
“availability period”). The maximum note balance available to be issued through the facility
is $100 million and has a maturity date of June 16, 2024. Variable funding notes bear interest
at an annual benchmark rate of LIBOR plus applicable margin of 4% which was 4.34% as of
December 31, 2020.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had $6.7 million of advances under the note payable,
net of issuance costs, outstanding under the warehouse facility with collateral consisting of
loans held for sale at fair value of $10.4 million.
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Issuance costs associated with the facility were $655 thousand which is amortized as interest
expense over the revolving period. Interest expense associated with the issuance costs of the
facility for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $109 thousand which is included in
“Interest expense” in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Unamortized issuance costs
of $546 thousand are included in “Note payable, net” in the Company’s Consolidated Balance
Sheet as of December 31, 2020.
In August 2020, Figure entered into a secured warehouse credit facility (the “facility”) with
a trust as administrative agent and a national banking associate as collateral trustee. The
warehouse credit facility allows the Company to temporarily pledge loans that it originates
to the facility in exchange for cash. The trustee will advance an amount equal to 75% of the
pledged loans unpaid principal balance through issuing a variable funding note. The facility
contains certain covenants. As of December 31, 2020 the Company was in compliance with
all applicable covenants under the agreement.
The revolving period to issue advances under the note is through August 24, 2021 (the
“availability period”). The maximum note balance available to be issued through the facility
is $100 million and has a maturity date of August 25, 2023. Variable funding notes bear
interest at an annual benchmark rate of LIBOR plus a spread of 4% which was 4.34% as of
December 31, 2020.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had $42.7 million of advances under the note
payable, net of issuance costs, outstanding under the warehouse facility with collateral
consisting of loans held for sale at fair value of $56.9 million.
Issuance costs associated with the facility were $550 thousand which is amortized as interest
expense over the revolving period. Interest expense associated with the issuance costs of the
facility for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $61 thousand which is included in
“Interest expense” in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Unamortized issuance costs
of $489 thousand are included in “Note payable, net” in the Company’s Consolidated Balance
Sheet as of December 31, 2020.
NOTE 9 – SECURED BORROWINGS
As of December 31, 2020, secured borrowings associated with several arrangements that do
not qualify as a loan sale totaled $24.2 million, net of unamortized issuance costs of $327
thousand, and are secured by loans held for sale, at fair value of $26.1 million. Of the $24.2
million of secured borrowings on the Company’s Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2020,
$21.0 million is subject to a contractual maturity date of the repurchase agreement on
December 8, 2021 with the remaining $3.3 million being subject to a contractual maturity
date of the repurchase agreement on October 31, 2021. Additionally, $4.5 million of restricted
cash on the Company’s Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2020 is held as collateral against
any possible default of the Company. These arrangements do not qualify as a loan sale due
to the continued involvement of Figure which constrains the lender from freely pledging or
exchanging the loans acquired from Figure. The Company makes repayments on secured
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borrowings by remitting amounts due from proceeds received from the sale of the underlying
collateral loans.
As of December 31, 2019, secured borrowings associated with several arrangements that do
not qualify as a loan sale totaled $46.2 million and were secured by loans held for sale, at fair
value of $47.3 million and loans held for investment, at fair value of $767 thousand. These
arrangements did not qualify as a loan sale due to the continued involvement of Figure which
constrained the lender from freely pledging or exchanging the loans acquired from Figure.
Issuance costs associated with secured borrowings were $392 thousand for the year ended
December, 31 2020 which is amortized as interest expense over the revolving period. There
were no issuance costs associated with secured borrowings for the year ended December 31,
2019. Interest expense associated with the issuance costs of secured borrowings for the year
ended December 31, 2020 was $65 thousand which is included in “Interest expense” in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations. Unamortized issuance costs of $327 thousand are
included in “Secured borrowings, net” in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet as of
December 31, 2020.
NOTE 10 – CAPITAL STOCK
The total number of shares of stock that the Company is authorized to issue is 260,775,977.

COMMON STOCK
With respect to common stock, the Company is authorized to issue 166,600,000 shares of
Common Stock with a par value of $0.00001 per share. At December 31, 2020 and December
31, 2019, the Company had 41,841,558 and 40,226,991 shares of Common Stock issued and
outstanding, respectively.

CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK
There are six series of convertible preferred stock, each with a par value of $0.00001 per
share (collectively, the “Preferred Stock”):
1. The first Series of Preferred Stock is “Series Seed Preferred Stock” and consists of
16,103,128 shares authorized, issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019.
2. The second Series of Preferred Stock is “Series A Preferred Stock” and consists of
32,886,739 shares authorized, issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019.
3.

The third Series of Preferred Stock is “Series B Preferred Stock” and consists of
29,476,826 shares authorized, issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019.
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CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK (CONTINUED)
4. The fourth Series of Preferred Stock is “Series C-1 Preferred Stock” and consists of
504,081 shares authorized, issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019.
5. The fifth Series of Preferred Stock is “Series C-2 Preferred Stock” and consists of
1,983,287 shares authorized, issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019.
6. The sixth Series of Preferred Stock is “Series C Preferred Stock” and consists of
13,221,916 shares authorized. Shares issued and outstanding was 11,238,629 as of
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
In 2018 the Company raised $16.9 million, net of issuance costs of $52 thousand, through
the issuance of Simple Agreement for Future Equity Notes (“SAFE Notes”) which were
converted into the Series Seed Preferred Stock concurrently with the issuance of the Series
A Preferred Stock. The issuance of the Series A Preferred Stock raised $41.6 million, net of
issuance costs of $173 thousand, in 2018. In May 2019, the Company raised $73.4 million,
net of issuance costs of $129 thousand through the issuance of the Series B Preferred Stock.
The Company raised $3.1 million through the issuance of additional SAFE Notes which were
converted into the Series C-1 Preferred Stock concurrently with the issuance of the Series C2 Preferred Stock and the Series C Preferred Stock which raised $15 million and $85 million
respectively, in November 2019. Issuance costs associated to the issuance of Series C
Preferred Stock were $134 thousand. The rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions for
the holders of the Preferred Stock are as follows:

DIVIDENDS
The holders of preferred stock are entitled to receive dividends, when and if declared by the
Company’s Board of Directors, out of any funds or assets of the Company legally available.
The holders of preferred stock are entitled to receive dividends, prior and in preference to
dividends declared on common stock, at the rate of: (1) $0.08421 per share per annum for
Series Seed Preferred Stock; (2) $0.10166 per share per annum for the Series A Preferred
Stock; (3) $0.19972 per share per annum for the Series B Preferred Stock; (4) $0.48404 per
share per annum for the Series C-1 Preferred Stock; (5) $0.60506 per share per annum for the
Series C-2 Preferred Stock; (6) $0.60506 per share per annum for the Series C Preferred
Stock. Dividends are non-cumulative and will be paid pro rata, on an equal priority, pari
passu basis. After payment of preferred stock dividends, any additional dividends will be
paid ratably among holders of common stock and preferred stock on an as converted to
Common Stock basis. As of December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019, no dividends have
been declared.
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CONVERSION
Each share of preferred stock is convertible to Common Stock, at the option of the holder, at
any time after the date of issuance at a rate of: (1) $1.05259 per share per annum for Series
Seed Preferred Stock; (2) $1.27076 per share per annum for the Series A Preferred Stock;
(3) $2.4965 per share per annum for the Series B Preferred Stock; (4) $6.05056 per share per
annum for the Series C-1 Preferred Stock; (5) $7.5632 per share per annum for the Series C2 Preferred Stock; (6) $7.5632 per share per annum for the Series C Preferred Stock.
Each share of preferred stock will automatically convert into shares of Common Stock, at
the then effective conversion rate, upon the earlier of: (i) a qualifying initial public offering
with aggregate gross proceeds exceeding $50 million or, (ii) upon the receipt by the Company
of written consent of the holders of a majority of the then outstanding shares of preferred
stock, voting as a single class, on an as-converted basis.

VOTING
The holder of each share of Preferred Stock is entitled to voting rights equal to the number
of shares of common stock into which each share of preferred stock could be converted. The
holders of each share of common stock is entitled to voting rights equal to 1 vote for each
share of common stock.
So long as any shares of Series Seed Preferred Stock remain outstanding, the holders of the
Series Seed Preferred Stock, voting as a separate class, are entitled to elect one member to
the Board of Directors (the “Series Seed Director”). So long as any shares of Series A
Preferred Stock remain outstanding, the holders of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to
elect one member to the Board of Directors (the “Series A Director”). So long as any shares
of Series B Preferred Stock remain outstanding, the holders of Series B Preferred Stock are
entitled to elect one member to the Board of Directors (the “Series B Director”). So long as
any shares of Series C-1 Preferred Stock or Series C Preferred Stock remain outstanding, the
holders of Series C-1 Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock are entitled to elect one
member to the Board of Directors (the “Series C Director”). The holders of Common Stock,
voting as a separate class, are entitled to elect five members to the Board of Directors (the
“Common Directors”). The holders of Preferred Stock and Common Stock, on an asconverted to basis, are entitled to elect any remaining members to the Board of Directors.

LIQUIDATION
In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, either voluntary
or involuntary, the holders of preferred stock are entitled to receive, prior to and in preference
over holders of common stock, an amount equal to the original issuance price—(1) $1.05259
per share for Series Seed Preferred Stock; (2) $1.27076 per share for the Series A Preferred
Stock; (3) $2.4965 per share for the Series B Preferred Stock; (4) $6.05056 per share for the
29

FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 10 – CAPITAL STOCK (CONTINUED)

LIQUIDATION (CONTINUED)
Series C-1 Preferred Stock; (5) $7.5632 per share for the Series C-2 Preferred Stock; (6)
$7.5632 per share for the Series C Preferred Stock —as adjusted for dividends, stock splits,
combinations, recapitalizations, or the like. If the Company’s legally available assets are
insufficient to satisfy the preferred stock liquidation preference, the funds will be distributed
ratably among the Preferred Stock stockholders in proportion to their full liquidation
preference. Following the above payments, all remaining legally available assets of the
Company, if any, are distributable to the holders of common stock, on an as-converted basis.

PROTECTION PROVISIONS
As long as 12 million shares of Preferred Stock remains outstanding, the vote of the holders
of at least the majority of the outstanding shares of Preferred Stock (voting together on an asconverted to Common Stock basis) are necessary for consummation of certain transactions,
including but not limited to: creating any senior or pari passu security to the Preferred Stock;
amending any provision of the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws that would alter the
privileges, preferences or voting rights granted to preferred stock; declaring or paying any
distribution with respect to preferred stock or common stock; changing the authorized
number of members on the Board of Directors, or entering into any transaction deemed to be
a liquidation or dissolution of the Company; authorizing a new class or series of equity
security have rights with respect to payment upon liquidation senior to any series of the
Preferred Stock; or conduct any initial coin offering or token offering in which the Company
does not retain a majority of the proceeds or tokens following such offering.
NOTE 11 – RESTRICTED COMMON STOCK
In January 2018, the Company sold 41,272,556 shares of restricted common stock to
members of its founding team, with a par value of $.00001 per share, for total consideration
of $4 hundred. Restricted stock purchase agreements in place with the employees specify a
fixed number of shares, are subject to service-based vesting, and provide the Company with
a first right of refusal and repurchase option for unvested shares in the event an employee
ceases to be a service provider for the Company.
Non-cash stock compensation expense related to restricted common stock for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $376 thousand and $332 thousand and is included in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Non-cash compensation costs capitalized for the
development of internal use software related to restricted common stock for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $67 thousand and $66 thousand and is included in
Intangible assets, net on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Restricted stock activity during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows:
Number of
Shares
Outstanding at December 31, 2018
Granted
Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2019
Granted
Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2020

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining Life

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value

41,196,583

$

0.00001

3.000

$

0.04

-

$

-

0.000

$

-

1,729,370

$

0.00001

0.000

$

0.04

39,467,213

$

0.00001

2.000

$

0.04

-

$

-

0.000

$

-

315,480

$

0.00001

0.000

$

0.04

39,151,733

$

0.00001

1.000

$

0.04

Restricted stock vested and to be vested during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
is as follows:
For the year ended December 31,
2020
Restricted Stock Vested

Number of
Shares

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

0

$

29,714,906

$

9,436,827

$

Vested and Expected to vest

39,151,733

$

For the year ended December 31,
2019

Number of
Shares

Vested at December 31, 2020
Expected to vest

Restricted Stock Vested

0.00001

Weighted
Average
Remaining Life

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value

0.000

$

0.04

-

0.000

$

-

0.00001

1.000

$

0.04

0.00001

1.000

$

0.04

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining Life

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value

0

$

0.00001

0.000

$

0.04

Vested at December 31, 2019

20,208,688

$

-

0.000

$

-

Expected to vest

19,258,525

$

0.00001

2.000

$

0.04

Vested and Expected to vest

39,467,213

$

0.00001

2.000

$

0.04

As of December 31, 20209, there were approximately $0.4 million of unrecognized
compensation costs related to restricted stock granted to members of the founding team.
These costs are expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately
1 and 2 years as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. For the purposes
of determining stock-based compensation expense, the weighted average grant date fair value
per share of the stock options was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model,
which requires the use of various key assumptions. The fair value of each award to employees
is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The expected
life of the options represents the period of time options are expected to be outstanding and is
estimated considering vesting terms and employees’ historical exercise and post-vesting
employment termination behavior. The risk-free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield
curve in effect at the time of grant. Expected volatility is based on historical volatilities of
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public companies operating in the Company’s industry until such time the Company has
sufficient historical information. The weighted average assumptions used are as follows:

Expected Term
Volatility
Interest Rate
Fair Value

$

Low
4.00
48.45%
2.83%
0.04

$

High
4.00
48.45%
2.83%
0.04

$

Weighted
Average
4.00
48.45%
2.83%
0.04

NOTE 12 – EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
The Company currently has one active plan, the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”),
which was established in 2018. Under the Plan, incentive stock options and non-qualified
stock options for the purchase of 26,539,545 shares of Common Stock were authorized to be
granted to employees, officers, directors, consultants and others as of December 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019.
The exercise price of incentive and non-qualified stock options generally may not be less
than 100% of the fair value of the stock at the date of grant, as determined by the Company’s
Board of Directors. Options granted become exercisable as specified in the Plan over periods
not later than ten years after the grant date. The shares issued under the Plan are subject to a
right of first refusal by the Company. Forfeitures are recognized as they occur.
Non-cash stock compensation expense under the Plan for the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019 was $5.4 million and $0.6 million, respectively and is included in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. Non-cash compensation costs capitalized for the development of
internal use software under the Plan for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were
$817 thousand and $118 thousand and is included in Intangible assets, net on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.
STOCK OPTIONS - EMPLOYEES
Stock option activity under the Plan to employees for the year ended December 31, 2020 is
as follows:
Number of Shares

Outstanding at December 31, 2019

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining Life

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value

9,730,491

$

0.61

$

0.29

14,379,997

$

2.33

$

1.10

Exercised

1,274,024

$

0.56

$

0.27

Forfeited

2,971,451

$

1.42

$

0.61

8,490

$

0.94

$

0.44

19,856,523

$

1.54

$

0.72

Granted

Expired
Outstanding at December 31,
2020

6.06
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STOCK OPTIONS – EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)
Options Exercisable

4,390,624

$

1.17

8.43

$

0.54

Vesting activity under the Plan to employees during the year ended December 31, 2020 is as
follows:
Number of Shares

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Options vested during the period

3,973,547

$

1.21

Vested at December 31, 2020

4,390,624

$

1.17

Expected to vest

15,465,899

$

Vested and Expected to vest

19,856,523

$

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Life

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value
$

0.56

8.43

$

0.54

1.93

8.98

$

0.91

1.78

8.87

$

0.84

As of December 31, 2020, there was approximately $14.1 million of unrecognized
compensation costs related to outstanding stock options granted to employees. These costs
are expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 3.05 years.
In 2020, approximately $718 thousand was paid to the Company by employees to exercise
options for 1,274,024 shares.
For the purposes of determining stock-based compensation expense, the weighted average
grant date fair value per share of the stock options was estimated using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model, which requires the use of various key assumptions. The fair value of
each award to employees is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model. The expected life of the options represents the period of time options are
expected to be outstanding and is estimated considering vesting terms and employees’
historical exercise and post-vesting employment termination behavior. The risk-free rate is
based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. Expected volatility is
based on historical volatilities of public companies operating in the Company’s industry. The
weighted average assumptions used are as follows:
Year ended December 31, 2020
Expected Term
Volatility
Interest Rate
Fair Value

$

Low
4.96
45.47%
0.25%
0.19

$

High
6.48
57.78%
2.79%
1.24

$

Weighted
Average
5.94
48.03%
1.34%
0.95
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NOTE 12 – EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN (CONTINUED)
STOCK OPTIONS – EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)
Year ended December 31, 2019
Expected Term
Volatility
Interest Rate
Fair Value

$

Low
5.33
47.11%
1.38%
0.35

$

High
6.08
47.58%
2.34%
0.38

Weighted
Average
5.98
47.27%
1.78%
0.37

$

STOCK OPTIONS – NON-EMPLOYEES
Stock option activity under the Plan to non-employees is as follows:

Number of Shares

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining Life

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2019

1,197,788

$

0.51

$

0.23

Granted

1,170,022

$

0.90

$

0.40

Exercised

648,523

$

0.49

$

0.22

Forfeited

130,834

$

0.54

$

0.23

Expired

$

0.35

61,629

$

0.82

Outstanding at December 31,
2020

1,526,824

$

0.57

4.99

$

0.26

Options Exercisable

1,268,113

$

0.60

8.30

$

0.29

Vesting activity under the Plan to non-employees during the year ended December 31, 2020
is as follows:
Number of Shares
Options vested during the
period
Vested at December 31, 2020
Expected to vest
Vested and Expected to vest

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

704,741

$

0.74

1,268,113

$

0.60

258,711

$

1,526,824

$

Weighted
Average
Remaining Life

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value
$

0.33

8.30

$

0.29

1.41

8.78

$

0.69

0.71

8.37

$

0.34

As of December 31, 2020, there was approximately $0.2 million of unrecognized
compensation costs related to non-employee stock options. These costs are expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 1.40 years. Stock options for
non-employees are valued at the grant date. In 2020, approximately $319 thousand was paid
to the Company by non-employees to exercise options for 648,523 shares.
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NOTE 13 – PROVENANCE, DUTCH AUCTION, AND HASH DISTRIBUTIONS
On November 1, 2018, the Company transferred capitalized software with a net book value
of $1.8 million associated to the Provenance blockchain protocol to its affiliate PBI in
exchange for 71.7 billion units of Hash. The effect of this transaction has been eliminated in
consolidation. Additionally, PBI granted Hash to nodes (“Nodes”) who host, through a thirdparty cloud service provider, smart contracts for the Provenance blockchain. PBI has also
granted Hash to certain strategic investors and an employee to help support specific
objectives with the Provenance blockchain.
The Company has concluded that the Hash grants to Nodes, strategic investors and an
employee are share-based payment transactions based on the fair value of Hash issued on the
grant date. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, non-cash compensation
expense associated with the vested Hash grants to nodes was $5 thousand and $80 thousand,
respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, non-cash compensation
expense associated with the vested Hash grants to strategic investors was $904 thousand and
$17 thousand, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, non-cash
compensation expense associated with vested Hash grants to an employee was $2.8 million
and $0, respectively. Hash grants to nodes, strategic investors and an employee are included
in the Consolidated Statement of Shareholders Equity.
As the administrator of the Provenance Blockchain, PBI charges transaction fees, in fiat
currency, to asset originators to onboard financial assets onto the Provenance blockchain.
Figure Lending LLC was the primary entity during 2020 that was charged transaction fees
for onboarding financial assets onto the blockchain. Fees paid to PBI for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019 were $431 thousand and $179 thousand, respectively.
Transaction fees paid by Figure Lending LLC to PBI in the amount of $395 thousand have
been eliminated in consolidation.
On a daily basis, PBI conducts a dutch auction (“Auction”) on Provenance and purchases
Hash from Members, using the fiat currency that was collected in the form of transaction
fees. Hash procured from the Auction is distributed to various participants in the Provenance
ecosystem: 5% is distributed to Nodes as compensation for their services, 15% is retained by
PBI as compensation for its role as administrator of the Provenance blockchain, and 80% is
distributed to all Members of PBI on a pro-rata basis for participating in the Provenance
ecosystem.
As described in Note 2, PBI collected $431 thousand in transaction fees during the year
ending December 31, 2020, which was used to obtain 23.4 million Hash as part of the
Auction. PBI distributed 1.2 million Hash, the equivalent of $22 thousand, to Nodes for
services rendered. Distributions to the Nodes are recognized as stock-based compensation
expense in the consolidated statement of operations. 4.9 million Hash from the Auction were
retained by PBI for being the administrator of the Provenance blockchain. The remaining
17.3 million Hash were distributed to Members which is treated similarly to a stock dividend
from PBI.
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NOTE 14 – INCOME TAXES
The provision (benefit) for income taxes which is presented within general and
administrative expense consisted of the following for the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019 (in thousands):
For the year ended
Current:
Federal
State
Total current tax expense (benefit):
Deferred:
Federal
State
Total deferred tax expense (benefit):

December 31, 2020
$
$
$
$

December 31, 2019
26
26

$

-

$

23
23

$

-

$

TAX RATE RECONCILIATION
Income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was entirely
attributable to current state income taxes from continuing operations.
A reconciliation of the income taxes expected at the statutory federal income tax rate and
income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, is as follows
(in thousands):
For the year and period ended
Tax at federal statutory rate
State tax, net of federal benefit
Tax credits
Change in valuation allowance
Change in unrecognized tax benefits
Other
Total

December 31, 2020
$
(14,266)
(4,203)
19,485
(990)
$
26

December 31, 2019
$
(11,802)
(3,172)
(312)
15,203
94
12
$
23

SIGNIFICANT COMPONENTS OF DEFERRED TAXES
The types of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the Company's
deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 are as
follows:
As of December 31,
Net operating losses
Tax credits
Accrued compensation
Stock based compensation
Intangibles
Deferred rent
Other
Total deferred tax asset:

2020
$

$

2019
40,095
218
472
855
170
150
111
42,071

$

21,820
218
243
56
70
29
22,436

$
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NOTE 14 – INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)
SIGNIFICANT COMPONENTS OF DEFERRED TAXES (CONTINUED)
As of December 31,
Servicing asset
Intangibles
Other
Total deferred tax liability:
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets:

$
$
$

2020
(1,150)
(4)
(1,154)
(40,917)
-

2019
(937)
(63)
(4)
(1,004)

$
$
$

(21,432)
-

The Company continues to establish a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax
assets. The change in valuation allowance during December 31, 2020 was an increase of
$19.5 million. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the valuation allowance was $40.9 million
and $21.4 million, respectively. The Company records valuation allowances to reduce
deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. In making this
assessment, management analyzes future taxable income, reversing temporary differences
and ongoing tax planning strategies. Should a change in circumstances lead to a change in
judgement about the realizability of deferred tax assets in future years, the Company will
adjust related valuation allowances in the period that the change occurs, along with a
corresponding increase or change to income.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company has net operating losses for U.S. federal and state
tax purposes of approximately $149.0 million and $123.3 million, respectively. As of
December 31, 2019, the Company has net operating losses for U.S. federal and state tax
purposes of approximately $82.3 million and $61.7 million, respectively. Federal tax losses
will carryforward indefinitely. For state purposes, such losses would begin to expire in 2028.
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company has federal and state research tax credit
carryforwards of $174 thousand and $175 thousand, respectively. The federal credits have a
20 year carryforward period and the state credits may be carried forward indefinitely.
All of our federal and state losses/credits may be subject to change in ownership limitations
under the Internal Revenue Code Section 382/383, and similar state provisions.
The Company files United States federal and various state income tax returns (including
California). All tax years since inception are subject to examination by tax authorities. The
Company is currently not under examination by any federal or state jurisdiction.
The Company recognizes a tax benefit from an uncertain tax position when it is more likely
than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including resolutions of any
related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits. Income tax positions
must meet a more-likely-than-not recognition at the effective date to be recognized. As of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, the unrecognized tax benefits recorded were approximately
$99 thousand and $99, respectively. The unrecognized tax benefits are netted against the
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NOTE 14 – INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)
SIGNIFICANT COMPONENTS OF DEFERRED TAXES (CONTINUED)
respective deferred tax assets. The Company does not anticipate a significant change in the
unrecognized tax benefits within the next 12 months. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, no
interest or penalties have been accrued.
RECENT TAX LEGISLATION
On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act)
was signed into law. The Act provides relief to corporate tax payers by permitting a five year
carryback of 2018-2020 net operating losses (NOLs), removing the 80 percent limitation on
the carryback of 2018-2020 NOLs, increasing the 30 percent limitation on interest expense
deductibility to 50 percent of adjusted taxable income for 2019 and 2020, and accelerates
available refunds for minimum tax credit carryforwards, amongst other provisions.
The Company considered the implications and reported them as part of the income tax
provision as applicable for the year ended December 31, 2020.
NOTE 15 – RISKS
CONCENTRATION RISK
The Company maintains cash accounts with federally insured financial institutions. Cash
balances routinely exceed insurable amounts. The Company has not experienced any losses
on such cash accounts, nor does the Company expect to experience future losses in the near
term.
CREDIT RISK
Credit risk for the Company’s loans is minimized by performing credit checks and by
establishing maximum available loan amounts for all customers. The Company’s HELOC
and Mortgage loans are secured by first or second position liens on underlying customer
properties.
INTEREST RATE RISK
Interest rates charged to customers are dependent on credit score parameters maintained by
the Company.
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NOTE 16 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
COMMITMENTS
Operating Leases
The Company leases office space used in connection with their operations under various
operating leases, which contain escalation clauses. The Company’s operating leases relate to
its offices in San Francisco, CA; Reno, NV; Helena, MT; Bozeman, MT Salt Lake City,
UT; Philadelphia, PA and New York, NY.
Future minimum payments as of December 31, 2020 under operating lease agreements
having an initial or remaining non-cancelable lease term in excess of one year are as follows
(in thousands):
Years Ending December 31,
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total

$

$

Amount
2,220
2,180
2,064
2,037
1,356
34
9,891

Rent expense under these operating leases was $1.9 million and $1.0 million for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
CONTINGENCIES
Legal Proceedings
The Company may be subject to various legal actions in the normal course of business. It is
management's opinion, after legal counsel, that the resolution of such matters is either
covered by insurance or will not have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.
Loan Repurchase Obligations
The Company has agreed to repurchase loans if representations and warranties made with
respect to such loans are breached under certain circumstances. In the case of loan sales, the
Company has also agreed to repurchase or substitute loans for which a borrower fails to make
the first payment due under a loan. The Company believes such provisions are customary and
consistent with institutional loans sale market standards.
As a result of the loan repurchase obligations described above, the Company repurchased
$6.7 million and $2.8 million in loans during 2020 and 2019 respectively.
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NOTE 17 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Company has evaluated all subsequent events and transactions that occurred after
December 31, 2020, and through May 5, 2021, the date the consolidated financial statements
were available to be issued.
On February 23, 2021, FACA consummated initial public offering (“IPO”) of 28,750,000
units, which includes the full exercise by the underwriters of the over-allotment option to
purchase an additional 3,750,000 units. Each unit was priced at $10.00 per unit resulting in a
raise of $287.5 million. Simultaneously with the closing of the IPO, the FACA consummated
the sale of 5,166,667 warrants at a price of $1.50 per warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder
to purchase one share of common stock at a price of $11.50 per share, generating gross
proceeds of $7.8 million. Transaction costs of the IPO amounted to $16.3 million consisting
of $5.8 million of underwriting discount, $10.1 million of deferred underwriting discount and
$0.4 million of other offering costs. Net proceeds from the IPO totaled $279 million.
Fintech Acquisition remains the sponsor of FACA and the Company has maintained its 51%
ownership interest in Fintech Acquisition. As of the date the consolidated financial statements
were available to be issued, it is management’s conclusion that Fintech Acquisition and
FACA will continue to be consolidated.
No other events or transactions requiring recognition or disclosure in the consolidated
financial statements have been identified.
NOTE 18 – UNCERTAINTIES AND RISKS RELATED TO COVID-19
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of the COVID-19 virus
as a pandemic, which continues to spread throughout the United States. The Company has
been actively evaluating the impact of the COVID-19 virus as it relates to the Company’s
operations and future plans and has concluded that it does not expect it will have a material
impact on its financial condition including the value of its assets.
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Figure
Technologies &
subsidiaries

Provenance
Blockchain Inc.

Eliminations

Consolidated

As of December 31, 2020
Assets
Cash
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable
Interest receivable
Loans held for sale, at fair value
Loan servicing asset, at fair value
Prepaid expenses
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Investments
Other assets
Intercompany receivable
Total Assets
Liabilities and Equity
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Intercompany payable
Accrued expenses
Remittances due to loan buyers
Secured borrowings, net of issuance costs
Note payable, net of issuance costs
Deferred rent
Total Liabilities
Equity
Series A preferred stock
Series B preferred stock
Series C preferred stock
Series Seed preferred stock
Common stock
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Noncontrolling interest
Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

$

84,439
5,768
800
317
116,983
4,152
2,648
1,236
17,017
5,462
209
1,005

$

9,460
12
5,225
-

$

(5,412)
(1,005)

$

93,899
5,768
800
317
116,983
4,152
2,660
1,236
22,242
50
209
-

$

240,036

$

14,697

$

(6,417)

$

248,316

$

5,650
4,892
37,164
24,248
49,376
558
121,888

$

108
1,005
6,441
7,554

$

(1,005)
(1,005)

$

5,758
11,333
37,164
24,248
49,376
558
128,437

249,234
(131,088)
118,146
$

240,034

24,841
(17,696)
7,145
$

14,699

(10,457)
3,312
1,733
(5,412)
$

(6,417)

263,618
(145,472)
1,733
119,879
$

248,316
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Figure
Technologies &
subsidiaries

Provenance
Blockchain Inc.

Eliminations

Consolidated

As of December 31, 2019
Assets
Cash
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable
Interest receivable
Loans held for sale, at fair value
Loans held for investment, at fair value
Loan servicing asset, at fair value
Prepaid expenses
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Investments
Other assets
Intercompany receivable
Total Assets
Liabilities and Equity
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Intercompany payable
Accrued expenses
Remittances due to loan buyers
Secured borrowings, net of issuance costs
Note payable, net of issuance costs
Deferred rent
Total Liabilities
Equity
Series A preferred stock
Series B preferred stock
Series C preferred stock
Series Seed preferred stock
Common stock
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Noncontrolling interest
Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

$

134,761
689
2,348
293
98,144
767
3,506
3,593
1,034
8,944
11,146
534
2,028

$

12,508
36
3,618
-

$

(10,826)
(2,028)

$

147,269
689
2,348
293
98,144
767
3,506
3,629
1,034
12,562
320
534
-

$

267,787

$

16,162

$

(12,854)

$

271,095

$

6,431
3,239
15,496
46,236
21,839
264
93,505

$

47
2,028
12
2,087

$

(2,028)
(2,028)

$

6,478
3,251
15,496
46,236
21,839
264
93,564

247,388
(73,106)
174,282
$

267,787

21,666
(7,591)
14,075
$

16,162

(14,962)
886
3,250
(10,826)
$

(12,854)

254,092
(79,811)
3,250
177,531
$

271,095
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Figure
Technologies &
subsidiaries

Provenance
Blockchain Inc.

Eliminations

Consolidated

For the year ended December 31, 2020
Revenue
Origination fees
Servicing fees
Gain on sale of loans
Interest income
Fair value adjustment
Asset management fee revenue
Other revenue
Total Revenue
Expenses
General and administrative
Sales and marketing
Technology and product development
Operations and processing
Interest expense
Total Expenses
Operating loss
Income from equity method investment
Consolidated Net Loss
Less: loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Figure Technologies net loss

$

14,823
2,830
9,009
10,366
165
21
46
37,260

$

29,953
39,333
7,424
11,242
7,288
95,240
(57,980)
$

(57,980)

455
455

$

9,350
185
1,100
(73)
10,562
(10,107)
$

(10,107)

(395)
(395)

$

(395)
(395)
$

-

14,823
2,830
9,009
10,366
165
21
106
37,320
39,303
39,518
8,524
10,774
7,288
105,407
(68,087)
-

$

(68,087)

-

-

2,426

2,426

(57,980)

(10,107)

2,426

(65,661)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Figure Technologies Inc.
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Figure Technologies Inc. (the
“Company”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and
2018, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholder’s equity and
cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019 and for the period from January 10, 2018
(inception) to December 31, 2018, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinions.
1

Marcum

LLP

n

One Montgomery Street

n

Suite 1700

n

San Francisco, California 94104

n

Phone 415.432.6200

n

Fax 415.432.6201

n

marcumllp.com

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of Figure Technologies Inc. as of December 31, 2019 and
2018, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2019 and for the period from January 10, 2018 (inception) to December 31, 2018,
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Report on Supplementary Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements
taken as a whole. The consolidating balance sheets and consolidating statements of operations
on pages 37-40 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part
of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in
all material respects in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

San Francisco, CA
April 29, 2020

2

FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, unless otherwise denoted)

December 31,

2019

2018

Assets
Cash

$

Restricted cash
Accounts receivable
Interest receivable
Loans held for sale, at fair value
Loans held for investment, at fair value

147,269

$

16,411

689

681

2,348

316

293

13

98,144

15,510

767

1,013

Loan servicing asset, at fair value

3,506

287

Prepaid expenses

3,629

686

Property & equipment, net

1,034

695

12,562

4,657

Investments

320

298

Other assets

534

Intangible assets, net

Total assets

133

$

271,095

$

40,700

$

6,478

$

3,444

Liabilities and Equity
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses

3,251

1,206

Remittances due to loan buyers

15,496

92

Secured borrowings

46,236

1,013

264

241

Deferred rent
Note payable, net
Total liabilities
Equity
Series A convertible preferred stock, $0.00001 par value; 32,886,739 shares
authorized, issued and outstanding (aggregate liquidation preference of $41,791,000)
Series B convertible preferred stock, $0.00001 par value; 29,476,826 and 0 shares
authorized, issued and outstanding, respectively (aggregate liquidation preference of
$73,589,000)
Series C-1 convertible preferred stock, $0.00001 par value; 504,081 and 0 shares
authorized, issued and outstanding, respectively (aggregate liquidation preference of
$3,050,000)
Series C-2 convertible preferred stock, $0.00001 par value; 1,983,287 and 0 shares
authorized, issued and outstanding, respectively (aggregate liquidation preference of
$15,000,000)
Series C convertible preferred stock, $0.00001 par value; 13,221,916 and 0 shares
authorized, respectively, 11,238,629 and 0 shares issued and outstanding, respectively
(aggregate liquidation preference of $85,000,000)
Series Seed convertible preferred stock, $0.00001 par value; 16,103,128 shares
authorized, issued and outstanding (aggregate liquidation preference of $16,950,000)
Common stock, $0.00001 par value; 260,775,977 and 120,242,000 shares authorized,
respectively; 40,226,991 and 41,198,041 shares issued and outstanding, respectively

21,839

-

93,564

5,996

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Additional paid-in capital

254,092

59,181

Accumulated deficit

(79,811)

(24,477)

3,250

-

Noncontrolling interests
Total equity
Total liabilities and member's equity

177,531
$

271,095

34,704
$

40,700

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands)

For the year and period ended December 31,

2019

2018

Revenue
Origination fees

$

Servicing fees

21,007

$

861

719

3

12,676

359

Management fee revenue

46

104

Other revenue

30

Gain on sale of loans

Net interest income and fair value adjustment
Gross interest income

8,570

Interest expense
Fair value adjustment
Net interest income and fair value adjustment

146

(7,158)

-

3,798

(25)

5,210

121

39,688

1,448

General and administrative

22,117

11,085

Sales and marketing

61,570

9,677

5,175

4,344

Total Revenue
Expenses

Technology and product development

7,316

1,067

Total expenses

Operations and processing

96,178

26,173

Operating loss

(56,490)

(24,725)

270

248

(56,220)

(24,477)

(886)

-

Income from equity method investment
Consolidated net loss
Less: loss attributable to noncontrolling interests
Figure Technologies net loss

$

(55,334)

$

(24,477)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
.
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY
(In thousands, except share data)
Common Stock
Shares, Par
Value of
$0.00001
Balance – January 10, 2018 (inception)
Issuance of Series Seed convertible preferred
stock
Issuance of Series A convertible preferred stock
Stock compensation expense
Issuance of restricted common stock, net of shares
forfeited
Exercises of stock options
Hash grants to nodes
Net loss
Balance - 12/31/2018
Issuance of Series B convertible preferred stock
Issuance of Series C-1 convertible preferred stock

Preferred Stock
Shares, Par
Value of
$0.00001

Amount
-

$

Additional
Paid-in Capital

Amount
$

-

$

Accumulated
Deficit

-

$

Total Figure
Equity
-

$

Noncontrolling
Interest
-

$

-

Total Equity

-

-

$

-

-

-

16,103,128
32,886,739
-

-

16,898
41,618
656

-

16,898
41,618
656

-

16,898
41,618
656

41,196,583
1,458
-

-

-

-

9

-

9

-

9

41,198,041
-

-

48,989,867
29,476,826

-

59,181
73,415

(24,477)
(24,477)
-

(24,477)
34,704
73,415

-

(24,477)
34,704
73,415

-

-

504,081

-

3,050

-

3,050

-

3,050

-

-

1,983,287
11,238,629

-

15,000
84,866

-

15,000
84,866

-

15,000
84,866

(1,704,582)
733,532
-

-

-

-

298
1,088
(325)
16,262
1,391
(141)
7
-

(55,334)

298
1,088
(325)
16,262
1,391
(141)
7
(55,334)

12
422
3,556
183
(39)
2
(886)

298
1,100
97
19,818
1,574
(180)
9
(56,220)

-

92,192,690

-

Issuance of Series C-2 convertible preferred stock
Issuance of Series C convertible preferred stock
Issuance of restricted common stock, net of shares
forfeited
Exercises of stock options
Stock compensation
Hash grants
Hash private placement
Sale of interest in subsidiary
Hash Auction purchase
Hash distributions
Net loss
Balance - 12/31/2019

40,226,991

$

$

254,092

$

(79,811)

$

174,281

$

3,250

$

177,531

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

For the year and period ended December 31,

2019

2018

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Consolidated net loss

$

(56,220)

$

(24,477)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization

2,518

589

Change in fair value of loan servicing asset

(3,798)

(25)

Net fair value adjustment

(3,219)

(287)

(728,991)

(30,208)

10,236

269

Origination of loans held for sale
Principal payments on loans held for sale
Proceeds from loan sales

639,945

14,441

Share-based compensation expense

1,097

665

Equity in net income of investments

(22)

(248)

(2,045)

(303)

Net change in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Interest receivable

(280)

(13)

(2,943)

(686)

Other assets

(400)

(133)

Accounts payable

3,034

3,444

Accrued expenses

2,045

1,206

23

241

Prepaid expenses

Deferred rent
Amortized deferred financing costs
Remittances due to loan buyers
Net cash used in operating activities

209

-

15,405

92

(123,406)

(35,433)

(645)

(831)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of property and equipment
Increase in intangible assets
Loans held for investment
Acquisition of Cabezon Investment Group LLC

(10,138)

(5,010)

246

(1,013)

-

(100)

(10,537)

(50)
(7,004)

176,332
19,819
280
1,525

58,516
-

Proceeds from secured borrowings

551,908

1,013

Repayments of secured borrowings

(506,685)

-

337,012

-

(315,382)

-

Investment in Reflow Services LLC
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from Preferred Stock, net of issuance costs of $263 and $225, respectively
Proceeds from Hash issuance, net of issuance costs of $181
Proceeds from employee option exercises
Sale of investment in subsidiary

Proceeds from note payable
Principal payments on note payable

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Net cash provided by financing activities

264,809

59,529

Net increase in cash

130,866

17,092

17,092

-

Cash, beginning of period
Cash, end of period

147,958

$

$

17,092

Supplemental cash flow information
For the year and period ended December 31,
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes

2019

2018
7,007

-

-

-

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND THE PERIOD FROM
JANUARY 10, 2018 (INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 1 - NATURE OF OPERATIONS
Figure Technologies Inc. (the “Company”) is a privately held financial technology company,
founded in January 2018. Headquartered in San Francisco, California, the Company offers
consumer lending products that are originated, financed, serviced, sold and securitized
exclusively on blockchain.
The Company is comprised of five wholly owned subsidiaries. Figure Lending, Corp offers
a suite of lending products to consumers, including a Home Equity Line of Credit
(“HELOC”), Student Loan Refinance (“SLR”) and Mortgage solutions. Figure Property
Corp. is a provider of customized home sale and lease-back solutions for homeowners. Figure
Asset Management LLC is a wealth management company that provides investment
management services. Figure Securities Inc. is an investment company, offering consumers
growth-oriented investment solutions. Figure Fiduciary is a trust company with no active
operations as of December 31, 2019.
PROVENANCE AND HASH
The Company also held a 76% and 99% controlling interest in Provenance Blockchain Inc.,
(“PBI”) as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. PBI acts as the
administrator of Provenance, a decentralized distributed stakeholder blockchain that acts as
a ledger, registry and exchange across financial assets and markets. Provenance uses Hash,
its native token, as a medium of exchange for participants to transact on the blockchain
protocol. Hash is also digital equity, representing membership interests in Provenance. Any
individual or entity that holds Hash is a member of PBI (“Members”). Provenance has a fixed
token stock of 100 billion Hash. Hash comes with voting rights for the governance of the
administrator and is non-dilutable. PBI held 8% and 27% of the Hash token stock at
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
The consolidated financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”).
Certain amounts in the prior year consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s presentation. These reclassifications have no effect on the
previously reported net loss or change in members equity.
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND THE PERIOD FROM
JANUARY 10, 2018 (INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly owned
subsidiaries and PBI. Non-controlling interests are reported as a separate component of
consolidated equity from the equity attributable to the Company’s stockholders. All
significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
USE OF ESTIMATES
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates may change as new
information is obtained.
REVENUE RECOGNITION
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting
Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09 related to revenue recognition. This guidance introduces
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, and supersedes the revenue recognition requirements in ASC Topic 605, Revenue
Recognition. In 2016, the FASB issued final amendments clarifying implementation
guidance for principal versus agent considerations, identifying performance obligations,
assessing collectability, presenting sales taxes, measuring noncash consideration and certain
other transition matters. The clarification ASUs must be adopted concurrently with the
adoption of ASU 2014-09 (collectively, "ASC Topic 606"). The Company early adopted ASC
606 as of January 10, 2018 (Inception).
The Company’s primary sources of revenue are loan origination fees, gain on sale of loans
to third parties, servicing fees and interest related to the Company’s lending operations.
Origination fees are calculated as a percentage of the customer’s initial loan balance and are
recognized as revenue at a specified point in time, once a customer’s loan application has
been approved, a credit decision has been reached, and the loan has been funded and
processed. Gain on sales of loans are calculated as a percentage of the stated unpaid principal
balance for the loans being sold. Servicing fees and interest are generally recognized over the
life of a customer’s loan when services are performed or amounts become due per terms
outlined in a customer’s loan agreement. Revenue recognition from these sources was not
impacted by the adoption of ASC Topic 606 and remains within the scope ASC Topic 825
and ASC Topic 860.
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND THE PERIOD FROM
JANUARY 10, 2018 (INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
REVENUE RECOGNITION (CONTINUED)
The Company’s asset management operations generate revenue within the scope of ASC
Topic 606. Revenue from asset management operations are in the form of investment
management fees and performance fees. Investment management fees are calculated
quarterly as a percentage of the total assets under management and are recognized after
services have been performed. Performance fees are calculated annually as a percentage of
the total net return for a portfolio in excess of a specified benchmark. Revenue is recognized
when performance obligations under the terms of a contract are satisfied and promised
services have been performed. In identifying performance obligations, judgement is not
required as the performance fee is paid annually based on actual performance of the fund
against the benchmark. No provisions in the contract require repayment of any previously
collected management or performance fees. Costs associated to the revenues include salaries
and amortization of capitalized software and are recognized as during the period services are
performed.
PBI began earning revenue in the form of transaction fees paid by asset originators beginning
in 2019. As the administrator of the Provenance blockchain, PBI began charging entities a
fixed fee per loan to onboard financial assets onto the blockchain. Transaction fee revenue is
recognized after assets are onboarded onto the blockchain, when all performance obligations
under the terms of a contract are satisfied and promised services have been performed. In
identifying performance obligations, judgement is not required as the fee is paid only after
the loan has been onboarded to the blockchain. The blockchain acts as a ledger and registry
for financial assets. There are no provisions in contracts with customers that require
repayment for any loans removed from the blockchain. Costs associated to the revenues
include salaries, and amortization of capitalized software which are recognized during the
period as services are performed.
CASH
Cash includes deposits with federally insured financial institutions. The Company’s cash
balances routinely exceed insurable amounts.
RESTRICTED CASH
Restricted cash represents amounts held in a collateral account with a federally insured
financial institution related to an operating lease for the Company’s corporate headquarters
in San Francisco, California.
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND THE PERIOD FROM
JANUARY 10, 2018 (INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Accounts receivable are stated as amounts due from third parties, net of an allowance for
doubtful accounts. The Company determines the allowance for doubtful accounts by
considering several factors, including the length of time accounts receivable are past due,
previous loss history, and the specific party’s current ability to pay its obligations. The
Company did not record an allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2019 or
December 31, 2018 as it expects to collect on all accounts receivable.
LOANS HELD FOR SALE
Loans held for sale consist of HELOC, SLR and Mortgage loans originated by the Company
that it intends to sell. The HELOC loans are secured by first or junior position liens on
underlying customer properties. The Company carries the loans held for sale at fair value.
Any changes in fair value are included in results of operations as Net fair value adjustment.
Loan origination fees are included in net revenues and related costs such as title and recording
fees are recognized in operations and loan processing expenses when incurred. All activity
related to loans held for sale is included in operating activities on the consolidated statements
of cash flows.
The following tables present loans held for sale by product type and a reconciliation of the
principal balance outstanding to fair value for the year ended:
December 31, 2019 (in thousands)
Product
HELOC
SLR
Mortgage
Total

Principal
balance
$
93,124
1,265
$
94,389

Net fair value
adjustment
$
3,742
13
$
3,755

Principal
balance
$
15,485
$
15,485

Net fair value
adjustment
$
25
$
25

Fair value
$

$

96,866
1,278
98,144

December 31, 2018 (in thousands)
Product
HELOC
SLR
Mortgage
Total

Fair value
$

$

15,510
15,510
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND THE PERIOD FROM
JANUARY 10, 2018 (INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
LOAN SERVICING RIGHTS
The Company routinely sells loans that it originates with servicing rights retained. Loan
servicing includes various activities including account maintenance, collections, processing
payments from borrowers, and distributions to investors. In accordance with ASC 860,
Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets, a servicing asset is recognized when the benefits
of servicing are determined to be greater than adequate compensation for the servicing
activities performed by the Company. The fair value of the servicing assets is recognized at
the time of sale in determining the gain on sale of loans. The Company carries the servicing
rights at fair value. Any changes in fair value are included in results of operations as Net fair
value adjustment. No servicing asset or liability is recorded if the amounts earned represent
adequate compensation. Loans held for sale with underlying servicing rights retained had
total outstanding principal of $94.2 million and $14.3 million at December 31, 2019 and
2018, respectively.
SERVICING REVENUE
Servicing revenue consists of income from the Company’s third-party servicing portfolio,
which includes loans associated with arrangements in which the Company owns the servicing
rights. Contractual servicing fees related to arrangements in which the Company owns the
servicing rights are generally based upon a percentage of the unpaid principal balance of the
related collateral and are recorded when earned, which is generally upon collection of
payments from borrowers.
REMITTANCES DUE TO LOAN BUYERS
The Company is a servicer of loans sold to third parties and is responsible to remit the
collection of payments from borrowers to the third parties. The company recognizes a liability
for the amount to be remitted which includes principal and interest, less the Company’s
servicing fee at the time payments from borrowers are collected.
TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
The Company accounts for transfers of financial assets as sales when it has surrendered
control over the transferred assets. Control is generally considered to have been surrendered
when the transferred assets have been legally isolated from the Company, the transferee has
the right to pledge or exchange the assets without any significant constraints, and the
Company has not entered into a repurchase agreement, does not hold significant call options
and has not written significant put options on the transferred assets.
The Company recognizes a gain or loss on the sale of financial assets by comparing the net
sales proceeds (including the fair value of any servicing asset or liability and recourse
obligation recognized) to the carrying amount of the assets sold.
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND THE PERIOD FROM
JANUARY 10, 2018 (INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Transfers of financial assets that do not qualify for sale accounting are reported as secured
borrowings. Accordingly, the related assets remain on the Company’s consolidated balance
sheet and continue to be reported and accounted for as if the transfer had not occurred. Cash
proceeds from such transfers are reported as liabilities, with related interest expense
recognized over the life of the related assets.
INVESTMENTS
The Company holds a 22.5% member’s interest in Reflow Services LLC (“Reflow”). The
investment is accounted for in accordance with the equity method of accounting and is
included in investments in the consolidated balance sheet.
FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction with market participants. The carrying amounts of certain
of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash, accounts receivable and accounts
payable, are carried at cost, which approximate their fair value due to their short maturities.
The Company uses ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, which includes a three-tier fair value
hierarchy used to prioritize the inputs used in measuring fair value. The hierarchy gives the
highest priority to unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. A financial instrument’s level within
the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair
value measurement. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:
Level 1
Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2
Significant other observable inputs (e.g., quoted prices for similar items in active markets,
quoted prices for identical or similar items in markets that are not active, inputs other than
quoted prices that are observable such as interest rate and yield curves, and marketcorroborated inputs).
Level 3
Inputs that are unobservable in the market but reflective of the Company’s assumptions about
what market participants would use to price the asset or liability. The inputs are developed
based on the best information available in the circumstances, which might include the
Company’s own data. Valuation techniques include discounted cash flow models and similar
techniques.
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND THE PERIOD FROM
JANUARY 10, 2018 (INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
The accounting guidance concerning fair value allows the Company to elect to measure
financial instruments at fair value and report changes in fair value through results of
operations. This election can only be made at certain specified dates and is irrevocable once
made. When developing fair value measurements, the Company maximizes the use of
observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs.
LOANS HELD FOR SALE AND LOANS HELD FOR INVESTMENT
Loans held for sale, and loans held for investment for the year ended December 31, 2019 are
measured at estimated fair value using a discounted cash flow valuation methodology, more
specifically a residential mortgage cash flow model which incorporates inputs and
assumptions such as discount rates, default rates, scheduled principal and interest collections
for future cash flows, and voluntary prepayments. Default rates are calculated for the
assumption when a loan becomes and remains delinquent through to when a loan is disposed.
Characteristics of each loan is considered for default rates which include the borrowers credit
score, borrower’s previous bankruptcy history, current delinquency status, and lien status.
Voluntary prepay rates consider similar characteristics but also includes the interest rate
charged to the borrower. Voluntary prepay rates pertain to assessing payment in full and not
curtailments. For the period ended December 31, 2018, loans held for sale, and loans held for
investment were measured at estimated fair value using transaction data from the Company’s
loan sales that occurred after the period ended December 31, 2018.
The following table presents quantitative information about the significant unobservable
inputs used for the Company’s Level 3 fair value instruments for loans held for sale and loans
held for investment at December 31, 2019:
Discount Rate
Voluntary prepayment rate
Delinquency rate

Minimum
6.77%
18.04%
0.71%

Maximum
7.82%
19.81%
0.78%

Weighted average
7.29%
18.92%
0.74%

LOAN SERVICING ASSETS
Loan servicing assets are measured at estimated fair value using a discounted cash flow
valuation methodology, more specifically a residential mortgage cash flow model which
incorporates inputs and assumptions such as discount rates, default rates, scheduled principal
and interest collections, and voluntary prepayments. Default rates are calculated for the
assumption when a loan becomes and remains delinquent through to when a loan is disposed.
Characteristics of each loan is considered for default rates which include the borrowers credit
score, borrower’s previous bankruptcy history, current delinquency status, and lien status.
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND THE PERIOD FROM
JANUARY 10, 2018 (INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
LOAN SERVICING ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Voluntary prepay rates consider similar characteristics but also includes the interest rate
charged to the borrower. Voluntary prepay rates pertain to assessing payment in full and not
curtailments. Cash flows related to loan servicing assets in the valuation model represent the
difference between the contractual servicing fees charged to investors and an estimated
market servicing fee required by a third-party. Since contractual servicing fees are generally
based on the monthly unpaid principal balance of the underlying loans, the expected cash
flows in the model incorporate industry estimates of net losses and prepayments.
The following table presents quantitative information about the significant unobservable
inputs used for the Company’s Level 3 fair value instruments for servicing assets at December
31, 2019:
Discount Rate
Voluntary prepayment rate
Delinquency rate

Minimum
8.00%
18.76%
0.67%

Maximum
10.00%
20.63%
0.74%

Weighted average
9.00%
19.69%
0.71%

ITEMS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE ON A RECURRING BASIS
The following table summarizes the assets and liabilities in each level of the fair value
hierarchy (in thousands). This table excludes cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable,
as these financial instruments are highly liquid or short-term in nature and as a result, their
carrying amounts approximate fair value.
December 31, 2019
Assets
Loans held for sale
Loans held for investment
Loan servicing assets

Level 1
$
-

Level 2
$

-

$

Level 3
98,144
767
3,506

December 31, 2018
Assets
Loans held for sale
Loans held for investment
Loan servicing assets

Level 1
$
-

Level 2
$ 15,523
1,013
-

Level 3
$

287

As described in the section above “Loans held for sale and loans held for investment” in this
footnote, loans were measured as level 3 financial instruments as of December 31, 2019. As
of December 31, 2018, the Company’s loans were measured as level 2.
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND THE PERIOD FROM
JANUARY 10, 2018 (INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
ITEMS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE ON A RECURRING BASIS (CONTINUED)
The significant observable input as of December 31, 2018 warranting level 2 treatment was
transaction data from the Company’s loan sales that occurred after December 31, 2018,
through the date the prior year financial statements were available to be issued.
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization are computed
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:
Asset Category
Computer Equipment
Fixtures and Furniture
Leasehold Improvements

Estimated Useful Life
3 years
5 years
Lesser of asset life or life of lease

Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense when incurred and significant renewals and
betterments are capitalized. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and
related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or
loss is reflected in operations.
INTERNAL USE SOFTWARE
The Company capitalizes costs incurred in connection with developing internal-use software.
Costs are capitalized during the application development stage relating to the development
of, or substantial enhancements to, websites, applications and databases when the
development efforts are successfully completed, and it is probable that the project will be
completed, and the software will be used as intended. Costs incurred prior to meeting these
criteria, together with costs incurred for training and maintenance, are charged to expense as
incurred. Costs related to preliminary project activities and post implementation activities are
also charged to expense as incurred.
INDEFINITE-LIVED INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Indefinite-lived intangible assets are comprised of the value of the Company’s trademarks
and other intellectual property, for which applications are pending at December 31, 2019.
The Company will begin to amortize intangible assets related to trademarks and intellectual
property over an expected useful life when pending applications are approved.
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FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND THE PERIOD FROM
JANUARY 10, 2018 (INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
LONG-LIVED ASSETS AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH DEFINITE LIVES
Long-lived assets include property and equipment and intangible assets with definite lives.
Amortization of definite-lived intangible assets is recorded on the straight-line basis over
their estimated lives.
Long-lived assets are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If the carrying value of a
reporting unit is greater than its fair value, an impairment charge is recorded for the
difference.
In the fourth quarter of 2019 and 2018, the Company performed reviews of impairment
triggering events for long-lived assets and determined that triggering events had not
occurred. The Company did not record any impairment of long-lived assets in 2019 or 2018.
SALES AND MARKETING COSTS
Sales and marketing costs are expensed as incurred. Sales and marketing expense for the year
ended December 31, 2019 and the period from January 10, 2018 to December 31, 2018 were
$61.6 million and $9.7 million, respectively.
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
The Company accounts for qualifying business combinations under the acquisition method
of accounting in accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations, where the total purchase
price is allocated to the tangible and identified intangible assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based on their estimated fair values. The purchase price is allocated using the
information currently available, and may be adjusted, up to one-year from the acquisition
date, after obtaining more information regarding, among other things, asset valuations,
liabilities assumed and revisions to preliminary estimates.
LEASES
The Company analyzes leases at the inception of each agreement for classification as either
an operating or capital lease. Leases with stated future rent increases are recognized as rent
expense on a straight-line basis, with deferred rent established on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
INCOME TAXES
The Company uses the asset and liability method for accounting for income taxes. Under this
method deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between
the financial statement carrying amount and the tax bases of the assets and liabilities using
enacted tax rates that will be in effect in the years the differences are expected to reverse.
The Company must assess the likelihood that the resulting deferred tax assets will be realized.
A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than not that some or all deferred
tax assets will not be realized. Due to the lack of earnings history, the net deferred tax assets
have been fully offset by a valuation allowance.
The Company recognizes benefits of uncertain tax positions if it is more likely than not that
such positions will be sustained upon examination based solely on their technical merits, as
the largest amount of benefit that is more likely than not to be realized upon the ultimate
settlement. The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to the
underpayment of income taxes as a component of income tax or benefit.
STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
Stock-based awards granted to the Company’s employees are principally incentive stock
options (“ISOs”). ISOs are granted to employees for a fixed number of shares with an exercise
price equal to the fair value of the underlying shares at the date of grant. Each stock-based
award is subject to service-based vesting, where a specific period of continued employment
must pass before an award vests.
Stock-based awards granted to non-employees are principally non-qualified stock options
(“NSOs”). NSOs are granted to non-employees for a fixed number of shares with an exercise
price equal to the fair value of the underlying shares at the date of the grant. Each stock-based
award is subject to service-based vesting, where a specific period of service must pass before
an award vests.
PBI granted Hash to nodes (“Nodes”) who host, through a third-party cloud service provider,
smart contracts for the Provenance blockchain. PBI has also granted Hash to certain strategic
investors to help support specific objectives with the Provenance blockchain. Hash grants to
Nodes and strategic investors are considered stock-based award transactions with nonemployees based on the fair value of Hash issued on the grant date.
The Company recognizes as an expense, the non-cash compensation for all stock-based
awards. Forfeitures are recognized when they occur. The Company early adopted ASU 201807, which aligns the accounting treatment for share-based awards for employees and nonemployees, as of January 10, 2018 (Inception). Awards are measured at fair value on the
grant date and the value is expensed ratably over the vesting term. The fair value of each
stock option award is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
DEBT ISSUANCE COSTS
The Company records debt issuance costs related to line-of-credit agreements as a direct
deduction from the carrying amount of the related liability and amortizes the cost ratably of
the term of the agreement.
NOTE 3 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Company performs certain back office and support services, including accounts payable
and payroll administration services, for Reflow. The services are performed pursuant to terms
outlined in a shared services agreement between the entities. As of December 31, 2019, and
December 31, 2018, the Company has accounts receivable totaling $0.2 million and $0.3
million from Reflow, respectively. Income derived from the Company’s investment in
Reflow for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the period ended December 31, 2018 was
$270 thousand and $248 thousand, respectively. Income from the equity method investment
in Reflow is included in the consolidated statement of operations.

NOTE 4 - DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN
The Company has established a discretionary retirement plan under the provisions of Section
401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Employees are eligible to enroll in the plan upon the
date of hire. Under the defined contribution plan, participants may elect to defer a portion of
their salaries, subject to the statutory limitations. The Company’s contributions to the plan
are at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The Company did not make any contributions
to the plan during the year ended December 31, 2019 or the period ended December 31, 2018.
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NOTE 5 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):
Computer and Office Equipment
Furniture and Fixtures
Leasehold Improvements
Property and Equipment, Gross
Less: accumulated depreciation
Property and Equipment, Net

December 31, 2019
$
715
537
223
1,475
(441)
$
1,034

Computer and Office Equipment
Furniture and Fixtures
Leasehold Improvements
Property and Equipment, Gross
Less: accumulated depreciation
Property and Equipment, Net

December 31, 2018
$
440
283
107
830
(135)
$
695

Depreciation expense amounted to $0.3 million and $0.1 million for the year ended December
31, 2019 and period ended December 31, 2018, respectively.

NOTE 6 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The balance of intangible assets, net is as follows (in thousands):
2019
Intangible assets with indefinite lives
Intangible assets with definite lives, net
Total Intangible Assets, Net

$
$

165
12,397
12,562

2018
$
$

207
4,450
4,657

The balance of intangible assets with definite lives is as follows (in thousands):

Domain
Trademark
Internal use software
Balance at December 31, 2019

Domain
Internal use software
Balance at December 31, 2018

Weighted Average
Amortization Life
15 Years
10 Years
3 Years

Cost
$

$
Weighted Average
Amortization Life
15 Years
3 Years

220
234
14,480
14,934
Cost

$
$

175
4,603
4,778

Accumulated
Amortization
$
25
19
2,493
$
2,537

Carrying
Amount
$
195
215
11,987
$
12,397

Accumulated
Amortization
$
12
316
$
328

Carrying
Amount
$
163
4,287
$
4,450
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NOTE 6 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Amortization of intangible assets with definite lives is computed on the straight-line basis
and, future amortization is estimated to be as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31, 2020
Year Ending December 31, 2021
Year Ending December 31, 2022
Year Ending December 31, 2023
Year Ending December 31, 2024
Thereafter
Carrying Amount of Intangible Assets with Definite Lives at December 31, 2019

Amortization
Expense
$
4,692
4,465
2,729
255
38
218
$
12,397

For the year ended December 31, 2019 and period ended December 31, 2018, the Company
capitalized $9.8 million and $4.7 million, respectively of costs associated with the
development of internal-use software related to the Company’s lending platform. The
Company had internal-use software totaling $14.5 million and $4.3 million net of
accumulated amortization of $2.5 million and $0.4 million, as of December 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, respectively. The Company amortizes internal-use software using the
straight-line method over an estimated useful life of 3 years. Amortization expenses
amounted to $2.1 million and $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the
period ended December 31, 2018, respectively. Internal use software is included in intangible
assets, net in the consolidated balance sheet.
NOTE 7 - BUSINESS COMBINATION
On February 15, 2018, the Company purchased Cabezon Investment Group LLC, a related
party (“Cabezon”), for aggregate cash consideration of $0.1 million. The acquisition was
accounted for as a business combination in accordance with ASC 805 and the consideration
paid by the Company was allocated to Cabezon’s sole asset, custom portfolio tracking
software, which was developed internally and is included in intangible assets, net in the
consolidated balance sheet. The custom portfolio tracking software is being amortized over
an expected useful life of three years.
NOTE 8 - NOTE PAYABLE
In May 2019, the Company entered into a secured warehouse credit facility (the “facility”)
with a commercial bank as administrative agent and a national banking associate as collateral
trustee. The warehouse credit facility allows the Company to temporarily pledge loans that it
originates to the facility in exchange for cash. The trustee will advance an amount equal to
70 to 90% of the pledged loans unpaid principal balance through issuing a variable funding
note. The facility contains certain covenants. As of December 31, 2019, the Company was in
compliance with all applicable covenants under the agreement.
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NOTE 8 - NOTE PAYABLE (CONTINUED)
The revolving period to issue advances under the note is through May 1, 2021 (the “revolving
period”). The maximum note balance available to be issued through the facility is $1 billion
and has a maturity date of May 1, 2023. Variable funding notes bear interest at an annual
benchmark rate of LIBOR plus a spread of 5% which was 6.74% as of December 31, 2019.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company had $21.8 million of advances under the note
payable, net of issuance costs, outstanding under the warehouse facility with collateral
consisting of loans held for sale at fair value of $31.9 million.
Issuance costs associated with the facility were $715 thousand which is amortized as interest
expense over the revolving period. Interest expense associated with the issuance costs of the
facility for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $209 thousand and is included in “Interest
expense” in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Unamortized issuance costs of $506
thousand are included in “Note payable, net” in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet
as of December 31, 2019.

NOTE 9 - SECURED BORROWINGS
In September 2018, Figure entered into a loan transfer agreement with a private institutional
investment firm. The agreement did not qualify as a loan sale due to the continued
involvement from Figure which guaranteed the performance of the ultimate borrowers within
the transferred HELOC loans.
As of December 31, 2019, the secured borrowings associated with this arrangement were
$744 thousand and was secured by loans held for investment, at fair value of $767 thousand.
As of December 31, 2018, the secured borrowings associated with this arrangement were $1
million and was secured by loans held for investment, at fair value of $1 million.
In May 2019, Figure entered into a loan transfer agreement with a commercial bank. The
agreement did not qualify as a loan sale due to the continued involvement from Figure which
constrains the commercial bank from freely pledging or exchanging loans acquired from
Figure. As of December 31, 2019, the secured borrowings associated with this arrangement
was $45.5 million and was secured by loans held for sale, at fair value of $47.3 million.

22

FIGURE TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND THE PERIOD FROM
JANUARY 10, 2018 (INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 10 - CAPITAL STOCK
The total number of shares of stock that the Company is authorized to issue is 260,775,977.

COMMON STOCK
With respect to common stock, the Company is authorized to issue 166,600,000 shares of
Common Stock with a par value of $0.00001 per share. At December 31, 2019 and December
31, 2018, the Company had 40,226,991 and 41,198,041 shares of Common Stock issued and
outstanding, respectively.

CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK
There are six series of convertible preferred stock, each with a par value of $0.00001 per
share (collectively, the “Preferred Stock”):
1. The first Series of Preferred Stock is “Series Seed Preferred Stock” and consists of
16,103,128 shares authorized, issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018.
2. The second Series of Preferred Stock is “Series A Preferred Stock” and consists of
32,886,739 shares authorized, issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018.
3.

The third Series of Preferred Stock is “Series B Preferred Stock” and consists of
29,476,826 shares authorized, issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and 0
in 2018.

4. The fourth Series of Preferred Stock is “Series C-1 Preferred Stock” and consists of
504,081 shares authorized, issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and 0 in
2018.
5. The fifth Series of Preferred Stock is “Series C-2 Preferred Stock” and consists of
1,983,287 shares authorized, issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and 0 in
2018.
6. The sixth Series of Preferred Stock is “Series C Preferred Stock” and consists of
13,221,916 shares authorized. Shares issued and outstanding was 11,238,629 as of
December 31, 2019 and 0 in 2018.
In 2018, the Company raised $16.9 million, net of issuance costs of $52 thousand, through
the issuance of Simple Agreement for Future Equity Notes (“SAFE Notes”) which were
converted into the Series Seed Preferred Stock concurrently with the issuance of the Series
A Preferred Stock. The issuance of the Series A Preferred Stock raised $41.6 million, net of
issuance costs of $173 thousand, in 2018. In May 2019, the Company raised $73.4 million,
net of issuance costs of $129 thousand through the issuance of the Series B Preferred Stock.
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NOTE 10 - CAPITAL STOCK (CONTINUED)

CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK (CONTINUED)
The Company raised $3.1 million through the issuance of additional SAFE Notes which were
converted into the Series C-1 Preferred Stock concurrently with the issuance of the Series C2 Preferred Stock and the Series C Preferred Stock which raised $15 million and $85 million
respectively, in November 2019. Issuance costs associated to the issuance of Series C
Preferred Stock was $134 thousand. The rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions for
the holders of the Preferred Stock are as follows:

DIVIDENDS
The holders of preferred stock are entitled to receive dividends, when and if declared by the
Company’s Board of Directors, out of any funds or assets of the Company legally available.
The holders of preferred stock are entitled to receive dividends, prior and in preference to
dividends declared on common stock, at the rate of: (1) $0.08421 per share per annum for
Series Seed Preferred Stock; (2) $0.10166 per share per annum for the Series A Preferred
Stock; (3) $0.19972 per share per annum for the Series B Preferred Stock; (4) $0.48404 per
share per annum for the Series C-1 Preferred Stock; (5) $0.60506 per share per annum for the
Series C-2 Preferred Stock; (6) $0.60506 per share per annum for the Series C Preferred
Stock. Dividends are non-cumulative and will be paid pro rata, on an equal priority, pari
passu basis. After payment of preferred stock dividends, any additional dividends will be paid
ratably among holders of common stock and preferred stock on an as converted to Common
Stock basis. As of December 31, 2019, and December 31, 2018, no dividends have been
declared.

CONVERSION
Each share of preferred stock is convertible to Common Stock, at the option of the holder, at
any time after the date of issuance at a rate of: (1) $1.05259 per share per annum for Series
Seed Preferred Stock; (2) $1.27076 per share per annum for the Series A Preferred Stock;
(3) $2.4965 per share per annum for the Series B Preferred Stock; (4) $6.05056 per share per
annum for the Series C-1 Preferred Stock; (5) $7.5632 per share per annum for the Series C2 Preferred Stock; (6) $7.5632 per share per annum for the Series C Preferred Stock.
Each share of preferred stock will automatically convert into shares of Common Stock, at
the then effective conversion rate, upon the earlier of: (i) a qualifying initial public offering
with aggregate gross proceeds exceeding $50 million or, (ii) upon the receipt by the Company
of written consent of the holders of a majority of the then outstanding shares of preferred
stock, voting as a single class, on an as-converted basis.
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NOTE 10 - CAPITAL STOCK (CONTINUED)

VOTING
The holder of each share of Preferred Stock is entitled to voting rights equal to the number
of shares of common stock into which each share of preferred stock could be converted. The
holders of each share of common stock is entitled to voting rights equal to 1 vote for each
share of common stock.
So long as any shares of Series Seed Preferred Stock remain outstanding, the holders of the
Series Seed Preferred Stock, voting as a separate class, are entitled to elect one member to
the Board of Directors (the “Series Seed Director”). So long as any shares of Series A
Preferred Stock remain outstanding, the holders of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to
elect one member to the Board of Directors (the “Series A Director”). So long as any shares
of Series B Preferred Stock remain outstanding, the holders of Series B Preferred Stock are
entitled to elect one member to the Board of Directors (the “Series B Director”). So long as
any shares of Series C-1 Preferred Stock or Series C Preferred Stock remain outstanding, the
holders of Series C-1 Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock are entitled to elect one
member to the Board of Directors (the “Series C Director”). The holders of Common Stock,
voting as a separate class, are entitled to elect five members to the Board of Directors (the
“Common Directors”). The holders of Preferred Stock and Common Stock, on an asconverted to basis, are entitled to elect any remaining members to the Board of Directors.

LIQUIDATION
In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, either voluntary
or involuntary, the holders of preferred stock are entitled to receive, prior to and in preference
over holders of common stock, an amount equal to the original issuance price—(1) $1.05259
per share for Series Seed Preferred Stock; (2) $1.27076 per share for the Series A Preferred
Stock; (3) $2.4965 per share for the Series B Preferred Stock; (4) $6.05056 per share for the
Series C-1 Preferred Stock; (5) $7.5632 per share for the Series C-2 Preferred Stock; (6)
$7.5632 per share for the Series C Preferred Stock —as adjusted for dividends, stock splits,
combinations, recapitalizations, or the like. If the Company’s legally available assets are
insufficient to satisfy the preferred stock liquidation preference, the funds will be distributed
ratably among the Preferred Stock stockholders in proportion to their full liquidation
preference. Following the above payments, all remaining legally available assets of the
Company, if any, are distributable to the holders of common stock, on an as-converted basis.

PROTECTION PROVISIONS
As long as 12 million shares of Preferred Stock remains outstanding, the vote of the holders
of at least the majority of the outstanding shares of Preferred Stock (voting together on an asconverted to Common Stock basis) are necessary for consummation of certain transactions,
including but not limited to: creating any senior or pari passu security to the Preferred Stock;
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NOTE 10 - CAPITAL STOCK (CONTINUED)

PROTECTION PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)
amending any provision of the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws that would alter the
privileges, preferences or voting rights granted to preferred stock; declaring or paying any
distribution with respect to preferred stock or common stock; changing the authorized
number of members on the Board of Directors, or entering into any transaction deemed to be
a liquidation or dissolution of the Company; authorizing a new class or series of equity
security have rights with respect to payment upon liquidation senior to any series of the
Preferred Stock; or conduct any initial coin offering or token offering in which the Company
does not retain a majority of the proceeds or tokens following such offering.

NOTE 11 - RESTRICTED COMMON STOCK
In January 2018, the Company sold 41,272,556 shares of restricted common stock to
members of its founding team, with a par value of $.00001 per share, for total consideration
of $4 hundred. Restricted stock purchase agreements in place with the employees specify a
fixed number of shares, are subject to service-based vesting, and provide the Company with
a first right of refusal and repurchase option for unvested shares in the event an employee
ceases to be a service provider for the Company.
Non-cash stock compensation expense related to restricted common stock for the year ended
December 31, 2019 and the period ended December 31, 2018 was $332 thousand and $341
thousand and is included on Consolidated Statements of Operations. Non-cash compensation
costs capitalized for the development of internal use software related to restricted common
stock for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the period ended December 31, 2018 was
$66 thousand and $70 thousand and is included in Intangible assets, net on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.
Restricted stock activity during the year ended December 31, 2019 and the period ended
December 31, 2018 is as follows:
Number of
Shares
Outstanding at January 10, 2018
(Inception)
Granted
Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2018
Granted
Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2019

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining Life

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value

-

$

-

0.000

$

-

41,272,556

$

0.00001

3.000

$

0.04

75,973

$

0.00001

0.000

$

0.04

41,196,583

$

0.00001

3.000

$

0.04

-

$

-

0.000

$

-

1,729,370

$

0.00001

0.000

$

0.04

39,467,213

$

0.00001

2.000

$

0.04
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NOTE 11 - RESTRICTED COMMON STOCK (CONTINUED)
Restricted stock vested and to be vested during the year ended December 31, 2019, and the
period ended December 31, 2018, is as follows:
For the year ended December 31,
2019

Number of
Shares

Restricted Stock Vested

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

0

$

Vested at December 31, 2019

20,208,688

$

Expected to vest

19,258,525

$

Vested and Expected to vest

39,467,213

$

For the period ended December 31,
2018

Number of
Shares

Weighted
Average
Remaining Life

0.00001

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value

0.000

$

0.04

-

0.000

$

-

0.00001

2.000

$

0.04

0.00001

2.000

$

0.04

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining Life

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value

Restricted Stock Vested

0

$

0.00001

0.000

$

0.04

Vested at December 31, 2018

0

$

-

0.000

$

-

Expected to vest

41,196,583

$

0.00001

3.000

$

0.04

Vested and Expected to vest

41,196,583

$

0.00001

3.000

$

0.04

As of December 31, 2019, and December 31, 2018, there was approximately $0.7 million
and $1.2 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to restricted stock granted to
members of the founding team, respectively. These costs are expected to be recognized over
a weighted-average period of approximately 2 and 3 years as of December 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, respectively. For the purposes of determining stock-based compensation
expense, the weighted average grant date fair value per share of the stock options was
estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which requires the use of various
key assumptions. The fair value of each award to employees is estimated on the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The expected life of the options represents
the period of time options are expected to be outstanding and is estimated considering vesting
terms and employees’ historical exercise and post-vesting employment termination behavior.
The risk-free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.
Expected volatility is based on historical volatilities of public companies operating in the
Company’s industry until such time the Company has sufficient historical information. The
weighted average assumptions used are as follows:

Expected Term
Volatility
Interest Rate
Fair Value

$

Low
4.00
48.45%
2.83%
0.04

$

High
4.00
48.45%
2.83%
0.04

$

Weighted
Average
4.00
48.45%
2.83%
0.04
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NOTE 12 - EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
The Company currently has one active plan, the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”),
which was established in 2018. Under the Plan, incentive stock options and non-qualified
stock options for the purchase of 26,539,545 and 29,979,921 shares of Common Stock were
authorized to be granted to employees, officers, directors, consultants and others as of
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.
The exercise price of incentive and non-qualified stock options generally may not be less
than 100% of the fair value of the stock at the date of grant, as determined by the Company’s
Board of Directors. Options granted become exercisable as specified in the Plan over periods
not later than ten years after the grant date. The shares issued under the Plan are subject to a
right of first refusal by the Company. Forfeitures are recognized as they occur.
Non-cash stock compensation expense under the Plan for the year ended December 31, 2019
and the period ended December 31, 2018 was $579 thousand and $193 thousand, respectively
and is included on Consolidated Statements of Operations. Non-cash compensation costs
capitalized for the development of internal use software under the Plan for the year ended
December 31, 2019 and the period ended December 31, 2018 was $118 thousand and $53
thousand and is included in Intangible assets, net on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
STOCK OPTIONS - EMPLOYEES
Stock option activity under the Plan to employees for the year ended December 31, 2019 is
as follows:
Number of Shares

Outstanding at December 31, 2018

5,819,550

Granted

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
$

Weighted
Average
Remaining Life

0.39

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value
$

0.19

6,589,677

$

0.78

$

0.39

Exercised

733,532

$

0.39

$

0.19

Forfeited

1,849,109

$

0.59

$

0.28

$

-

Expired

96,095

$

0.39

Outstanding at December 31,
2019

9,730,491

$

0.61

9.09

$

0.29

Options Exercisable

1,513,783

$

0.41

8.45

$

0.20
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NOTE 12 - EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN (CONTINUED)
STOCK OPTIONS – EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)
Vesting activity under the Plan to employees during the year ended December 31, 2019 is as
follows:
Number of Shares

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Life

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value

Options vested during the period

2,343,410

$

0.40

$

0.20

Vested at December 31, 2019

1,513,783

$

0.41

8.45

$

0.19

Expected to vest

8,216,708

$

0.65

9.21

$

0.31

Vested and Expected to vest

9,730,491

$

0.61

9.09

$

0.29

As of December 31, 2019, there was approximately $2.3 million of unrecognized
compensation costs related to outstanding stock options granted to employees. These costs
are expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 3.07 years.
In 2019, approximately $286 thousand was paid to the company by employees to exercise
options for 733,532 shares.
For the purposes of determining stock-based compensation expense, the weighted average
grant date fair value per share of the stock options was estimated using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model, which requires the use of various key assumptions. The fair value of
each award to employees is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model. The expected life of the options represents the period of time options are
expected to be outstanding and is estimated considering vesting terms and employees’
historical exercise and post-vesting employment termination behavior. The risk-free rate is
based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. Expected volatility is
based on historical volatilities of public companies operating in the Company’s industry. The
weighted average assumptions used are as follows:
Year Ended December 31, 2019
Expected Term
Volatility
Interest Rate
Fair Value

$

Low
5.33
47.11%
1.38%
0.35

$

Low
5.88
47.01%
2.79%
0.19

Year Ended December 31, 2018
Expected Term
Volatility
Interest Rate
Fair Value

$

High
6.08
47.58%
2.34%
0.38

$

High
6.08
47.98%
3.01%
0.19

$

Weighted
Average
5.98
47.27%
1.78%
0.37

$

Weighted
Average
5.99
47.58%
2.82%
0.19
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NOTE 12 - EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN (CONTINUED)
STOCK OPTIONS – NON-EMPLOYEES
Stock option activity under the Plan to non-employees is as follows:

Number of Shares

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining Life

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2018

881,955

$

0.39

$

0.18

Granted

345,000

$

0.79

$

0.36

Exercised

-

$

-

$

-

Forfeited

29,167

$

0.39

$

0.19

-

$

-

$

-

1,197,788

$

0.51

8.78

$

0.23

893,411

$

0.45

8.61

$

0.20

Expired
Outstanding at December 31,
2019
Options Exercisable

Vesting activity under the Plan to non-employees during the year ended December 31, 2019
is as follows:
Number of Shares

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Options vested during the
period

598,344

$

0.47

Vested at December 31, 2019

887,951

$

0.45

Expected to vest

309,837

$

1,197,788

$

Vested and Expected to vest

Weighted
Average
Remaining Life

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value

$

0.22

8.61

$

0.20

0.68

9.26

$

0.31

0.51

8.78

$

0.23

As of December 31, 2019, there was approximately $0.1 million of unrecognized
compensation costs related to non-employee stock options. These costs are expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 1.11 years. Stock options for
non-employees are valued at the grant date.
NOTE 13 - PROVENANCE, DUTCH AUCTION, AND HASH DISTRIBUTIONS
On November 1, 2018, the Company transferred capitalized software with a net book value
of $1.8 million associated to the Provenance blockchain protocol to its affiliate PBI in
exchange for 71.7 billion units of Hash. The effect of this transaction has been eliminated in
consolidation. Additionally, PBI granted Hash to nodes (“Nodes”) who host, through a thirdparty cloud service provider, smart contracts for the Provenance blockchain. PBI has also
granted Hash to certain strategic investors to help support specific objectives with the
Provenance blockchain.
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NOTE 13 - PROVENANCE, DUTCH AUCTION, AND HASH DISTRIBUTIONS (CONTINUED)
July 2019, PBI completed a private placement of Hash raising $19.8 million of proceeds net
of issuance costs of $181 thousand, selling approximately 13.3% of the Hash token stock.
During the year ended December 31, 2019 the Company sold 1 billion Hash in exchange for
$1.5 million.
The Company has concluded that the Hash grants to Nodes and strategic investors are sharebased payment transactions with non-employees based on the fair value of Hash issued on
the grant date. For the year ended December 31, 2019 and the period ended December 31,
2018 non-cash compensation expense associated with the vested Hash grants to nodes was
$80 thousand and $9 thousand, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2019 and the
period ended December 31, 2018 non-cash compensation expense associated with the vested
Hash grants to strategic investors was $17 thousand and $0, respectively. Hash grants to
nodes and strategic investors are included in the Consolidated Statement of Shareholders
Equity.
As the administrator of the Provenance Blockchain, PBI charges transaction fees, in fiat
currency, to asset originators to onboard financial assets onto the Provenance blockchain.
Figure Lending LLC was the only entity during 2019 that was charged transaction fees for
onboarding financial assets onto the blockchain. Fees paid to PBI for the year ended
December 31, 2019 and the period ended December 31, 2018 were $179 thousand and $0,
respectively. Transaction fees paid by Figure Lending LLC to PBI have been eliminated in
consolidation.
On a daily basis, PBI conducts a dutch auction (“Auction”) on Provenance and purchases
Hash from Members, using the fiat currency that was collected in the form of transaction
fees.
Hash procured from the Auction is distributed to various participants in the Provenance
ecosystem: 5% is distributed to Nodes as compensation for their services, 15% is retained by
PBI as compensation for its role as administrator of the Provenance blockchain, and 80% is
distributed to all Members of PBI on a pro-rata basis for participating in the Provenance
ecosystem.
As described in Note 3, PBI collected $179 thousand in transaction fees during the year
ending December 31, 2019, which was used to obtain 11.1 million Hash as part of the
Auction. PBI distributed 0.6 million Hash, the equivalent of $9 thousand, to Nodes for
services rendered. Distributions to the Nodes are recognized as stock-based compensation
expense in the consolidated statement of operations. 3.7 million Hash from the Auction were
retained by PBI for being the administrator of the Provenance blockchain. The remaining 6.9
million Hash were distributed to Members which is treated similarly to a stock dividend from
PBI.
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NOTE 14 - INCOME TAXES
The provision (benefit) for income taxes which is presented within general and administrative
expense consisted of the following for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the period
ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands):
For the Year and Period Ended
Current:
Federal
State
Total Current:
Deferred:
Federal
State
Total provision (benefit) for income taxes
Less change in valuation allowance
Total

December 31, 2019
$

$

December 31, 2018
0
23
23

(16,925)
(4,507)
(21,432)
21,432
23

$

0
5
5
(4,955)
(1,274)
(6,229)
6,229
5

$

TAX RATE RECONCILIATION
Income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the period ended December
31, 2018 was entirely attributable to current state income taxes from continuing operations.
A reconciliation of the income taxes expected at the statutory federal income tax rate and
income tax expense (benefit) for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the period ended
December 31, 2018, is as follows (in thousands):
For the Year and Period Ended
Tax at federal statutory rate
State tax, net of federal benefit
Tax credits
Change in valuation allowance
Change in unrecognized tax benefits
Other
Total

December 31, 2019
$
(11,802)
(3,172)
(312)
15,203
94
12
$
23

December 31, 2018
$
(5,143)
(1,269)
6,229
188
$
5
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NOTE 14 - INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)
SIGNIFICANT COMPONENTS OF DEFERRED TAXES
The types of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the Company's
deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:
As of December 31,
Net operating losses
Tax credits
Accrued compensation
Stock based compensation
Deferred rent
Other
Total deferred tax asset:
Servicing asset
Intangibles
Other
Total deferred tax liability:
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets:

2019
$

2018
21,820
218
243
56
70
29
22,436

$

5,994
205
63
37
6,299

(937)
(63)
(4)
(1,004)

(70)
(70)

(21,432)
-

(6,229)
-

The Company continues to establish a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax
assets. The change in valuation allowance during December 31, 2019 was an increase of
$15.2 million. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the valuation allowance was $21.4 million
and $6.2 million, respectively. The valuation allowance was determined in accordance with
ASC 740, which requires an assessment of both positive and negative evidence when
determining if it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets are recoverable. The
Company analyzed the evidence and determined that it was not more likely than not that net
deferred tax assets would be recoverable, particularly as a result of a cumulative loss and
insufficient ability to forecast future taxable income.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company has net operating losses for U.S. federal and state
tax purposes of approximately $82.3 million and $61.7 million, respectively. As of December
31, 2018, the Company has net operating losses for U.S. federal and state tax purposes of
approximately $22.7 million and $16.3 million, respectively. Federal tax losses will
carryforward indefinitely. For state purposes, such losses would begin to expire in 2028.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company has federal and state research tax credit
carryforwards of $174 thousand and $175 thousand, respectively. The federal credits have a
20 year carryforward period and the state credits may be carried forward indefinitely.
All of our federal and state losses/credits may be subject to change in ownership limitations
under the Internal Revenue Code Section 382/383, and similar state provisions.
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NOTE 14 - INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)
SIGNIFICANT COMPONENTS OF DEFERRED TAXES (CONTINUED)
The Company files United States federal and various state income tax returns (including
California). All tax years since inception are subject to examination by tax authorities. The
Company is currently not under examination by any federal or state jurisdiction.
The Company recognizes a tax benefit from an uncertain tax position when it is more likely
than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including resolutions of any
related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits. Income tax positions
must meet a more-likely-than-not recognition at the effective date to be recognized. As of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, the unrecognized tax benefits recorded were approximately
$99 thousand and $0, respectively. The unrecognized tax benefits are netted against the
respective deferred tax assets. The Company does not anticipate a significant change in the
unrecognized tax benefits within the next 12 months. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, no
interest or penalties have been accrued.
RECENT TAX LEGISLATION
On March 27, 2020, President Trump signed the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic
Security Act (CARES Act) into law. The Act provides relief to corporate tax payers by
permitting a five year carryback of 2018-2020 net operating losses (NOLs), removing the 80
percent limitation on the carryback of 2018-2020 NOLs, increasing the 30 percent limitation
on interest expense deductibility to 50 percent of adjusted taxable income for 2019 and 2020,
and accelerates available refunds for minimum tax credit carryforwards, amongst other
provisions.
The Company considered the implications and reported them as part of the income tax
provision as applicable for the year ended December 31, 2019.
In December 2017, the US government enacted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "Act"), which
significantly revises the ongoing U.S. corporate income tax law by lowering the U.S. federal
corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%, implementing a territorial tax system, and setting
limitation on deductibility of certain costs (e.g., interest expense and executive
compensation), among other things.
The Company considered the implications and reported them as part of the income tax
provision as applicable for the period ended December 31, 2018.
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NOTE 15 - RISKS
CONCENTRATION RISK
The Company maintains cash accounts with federally insured financial institutions. Cash
balances routinely exceed insurable amounts. The Company has not experienced any losses
on such cash accounts, nor does the Company expect to experience future losses in the near
term.
Credit risk for the Company’s loans is minimized by performing credit checks and by
establishing maximum available loan amounts for all customers. The Company’s HELOC
loans are secured by first or second position liens on underlying customer properties.
INTEREST RATE RISK
Interest rates charged to customers are dependent on credit score parameters maintained by
the Company.
NOTE 16 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
COMMITMENTS
Operating Leases
The Company leases office space used in connection with their operations under various
operating leases, which contain escalation clauses. The Company’s operating leases relate to
its offices in San Francisco, CA; Reno, NV; Helena, MT; Bozeman, MT and Salt Lake City,
UT.
Future minimum payments as of December 31, 2019 under operating lease agreements
having an initial or remaining non-cancelable lease term in excess of one year are as follows
(in thousands):
Years Ending December 31,
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total

$

$

Amount
1,235
1,346
1,307
1,257
1,282
1,165
7,592

Rent expense under these operating leases was $1.0 million and $0.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2019 and the period ended December 31, 2019.
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NOTE 16 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED)
CONTINGENCIES
The Company may be subject to various legal actions in the normal course of business. It is
management's opinion that the resolution of such matters is either covered by insurance or
will not have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.
NOTE 17 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a novel coronavirus
(COVID-19) as a pandemic which continues to spread throughout the United States. As of
the date the financial statements were available to be issued, there was uncertainty around the
expected duration of this pandemic. The impact to the Company’s financial position and
results of operations cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.
The Company has evaluated all subsequent events and transactions that occurred after
December 31, 2019, and through April 29, 2020, the date the consolidated financial
statements were available to be issued. No other events or transactions requiring recognition
or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements have been identified.
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Figure
Technologies &
subsidiaries

Provenance
Blockchain Inc.

Eliminations

Consolidated

As of December 31, 2019
Assets
Cash
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable
Interest receivable
Loans held for sale, at fair value
Loans held for investment, at fair value
Loan servicing asset, at fair value
Prepaid expenses
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Investments
Other assets
Intercompany receivable
Total Assets
Liabilities and Equity
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Intercompany payable
Accrued expenses
Remittances due to loan buyers
Secured borrowings
Note payable
Deferred rent
Total Liabilities
Equity
Series A preferred stock
Series B preferred stock
Series C preferred stock
Series Seed preferred stock
Common stock
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Net Income (Loss)
Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

$

134,761
689
2,348
293
98,144
767
3,506
3,593
1,034
8,944
11,146
534
2,028

$

12,508
36
3,618
-

$

(10,826)
(2,028)

$

147,269
689
2,348
293
98,144
767
3,506
3,629
1,034
12,562
320
534
-

$

267,787

$

16,162

$

(12,854)

$

271,095

$

6,431
3,239
15,496
46,236
21,839
264
93,505

$

47
2,028
12
2,087

$

(2,028)
(2,028)

$

6,478
3,251
15,496
46,236
21,839
264
93,564

247,388
(22,904)
(50,202)
174,282
$

267,787

21,665
(1,571)
(6,019)
14,075
$

16,162

(10,826)
(10,826)
$

(12,854)

258,227
(24,475)
(56,221)
177,531
$

271,095

See independent auditor's report
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Figure
Technologies &
subsidiaries

Provenance
Blockchain Inc.

Eliminations

Consolidated

As of December 31, 2018
Assets
Cash
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable
Interest receivable
Loans held for sale, at fair value
Loans held for investment, at fair value
Loan servicing asset, at fair value
Prepaid expenses
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Investments
Other assets
Intercompany receivable
Total Assets
Liabilities and Equity
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Intercompany payable
Accrued expenses
Remittances due to loan buyers
Secured borrowings
Deferred rent
Total Liabilities
Equity
Series A preferred stock
Series Seed preferred stock
Common stock
Additional paid-in capital
Net Income (Loss)
Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

$

16,411
681
316
13
15,510
1,013
287
686
695
2,921
2,143
133
1,453

$

1,736
-

$

(1,845)
(1,453)

$

16,411
681
316
13
15,510
1,013
287
686
695
4,657
298
133
-

$

42,262

$

1,736

$

(3,298)

$

40,700

$

3,444
1,205
92
1,013
241
5,995

$

1,453
1
1,454

$

(1,453)
(1,453)

$

3,444
1,206
92
1,013
241
5,996

59,181
(22,906)
36,275
$

42,270

1,845
(1,571)
274
$

1,728

(1,845)
(1,845)
$

(3,298)

59,181
(24,477)
34,704
$

40,700

See independent auditor's report
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Figure
Technologies &
subsidiaries

Provenance
Blockchain Inc.

Eliminations

Consolidated

For the year ended December 31, 2019
Revenue
Origination fees
Servicing fees
Gain on sale of loans
Net interest income and fair value adjustments
Gross interest income
Interest expense
Fair value adjustment
Total Net interest income and fair value adjustments
Management fee revenue
Other revenue
Total Revenue
Expenses
General and administrative
Sales and marketing
Technology and product development
Operations and processing
Total Expenses
Operating loss
Income from equity method investment
Consolidated net loss

$

$

21,007
719
12,676

$

-

$

-

$

21,007
719
12,676

8,570
(7,158)
3,798
5,210
46
30
39,688

179
179

(179)
(179)

8,570
(7,158)
3,798
5,210
46
30
39,688

17,919
60,614
4,218
7,408
90,159
(50,471)
270

4,199
956
957
86
6,198
(6,019)

(179)
(179)
-

22,118
61,570
5,175
7,315
96,178
(56,490)
270

(50,201)

$

(6,019)

$

-

$

(56,220)

See independent auditor's report
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Figure Technologies &
Subsidiaries

Provenance
Blockchain Inc.

Eliminations

Consolidated

For the period ended December 31, 2018
Revenue
Origination fees
Servicing fees
Gain on sale of loans
Net interest income and fair value adjustments
Gross interest income
Fair value adjustment
Total Net interest income and fair value adjustments
Management fee revenue
Total Revenue
Expenses
General and administrative
Sales and marketing
Technology and product development
Operations and processing
Total Expenses
Operating loss
Income from equity method investment
Total Net Income (Loss)

$

$

861
3
359

$

-

$

-

$

861
3
359

146
(25)
121
104
1,448

-

-

146
(25)
121
104
1,448

10,114
9,586
3,835
1,067
24,602
(23,154)
248

971
91
509
1,571
(1,571)

-

11,085
9,677
4,344
1,067
26,173
(24,725)
248

(22,906)

$

(1,571)

$

-

$

(24,477)

See independent auditor's report
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